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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Xinda
Investment Holdings Limited (the “Company”) together with its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”), | hereby present the annual report of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Reporting Period”)
to all shareholders (the “Shareholders”).

In 2024, the global economy recovered slowly, but the momentum of
growth was still insufficient. The economy of the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”) is making steady progress and moving towards high-quality growth.
After simultaneous increases in both price and volume over the past few
years, China’s solar industry experienced extreme highs and lows in 2024.
On the one hand, there was a surge in installed capacity. In 2024, China’s
new installed capacity of solar power reached a new peak of 277.57
gigawatts (GW), an increase of 28.3% over the same period last year. The
cumulative installed capacity exceeded 880GW. The installed capacity in
the past two to three years has exceeded the total installed capacity in the
past ten years. On the other hand, the ever-increasing installed capacity
has put pressure on the power grid, and the power generation capacity of
many power plants has been restricted. At the same time, the participation
of power plants in market-based power trading has also led to unstable
electricity prices, affecting their revenue, and continuously suppressing the
profits of enterprises.

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded a revenue of
RMB114,231,000 (same period in 2023: RMB114,030,000), basically
unchanged from the same period of last year. The loss attributable to
owners of the Company was RMB24,418,000 (same period in 2023: loss
attributable to owners of the Company was RMB18,179,000). The loss
increased compared with the same period of last year, mainly due to (among
other things) the fact that the recovery of the state subsidy for renewable
energy generation (the “State Subsidy”) for a solar power plant of the
Group was not optimistic. For the sake of prudence, the management
made a total impairment provision of approximately RMB54,024,000 for
the State Subsidy receivables and power plant assets relating to the power
plant during the Reporting Period.
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Energy transformation and carbon neutrality goals remain core issues
in China’s energy development. As an important component of clean
energy, solar power generation will continue to benefit from policy support
and technological progress. In 2025, China’s solar power industry will
undergo an important transition from scale expansion to high-quality
development. Growth of the industry is expected to slow down, and
technological innovation will remain the core driving force. In response
to the consumption problem that hinders the development of the solar
power generation industry, the PRC has successively issued a series of
regulations and policies in 2024 and early 2025 to tackle solar power
generation consumption difficulties by accelerating the construction of new
energy power grid projects and optimizing the grid connection process. At
the same time, the new energy on-grid power is required to fully enter the
electricity market to utilize market transactions to form on-grid tariffs, with
the aim of promoting the long-term, healthy and stable development of the
solar power generation industry.

We will closely monitor the trends of relevant national policies and their
implementation, as well as their impact on the Group’s solar power plants,
and make timely response and adjustment measures to ensure the stable
and healthy development of the Group’s related businesses, improve the
level of asset operation, and create good returns for Shareholders.

Lastly, on behalf of the Board, | hereby extend my sincere gratitude to all
Shareholders, investors, customers, suppliers and business associates for
their continued support. | would also like to thank all employees for their
tireless efforts and contribution in 2024.

Wei Qiang
Chairman

27 March 2025
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The Group is principally engaged in smart energy business with focus
on the possession and operation of solar power plants and public
infrastructure construction business in relation to the Baoding Donghu PPP
project, with gradual expansion and diversification to other clean energy
businesses.

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded a revenue of
RMB114,231,000 (same period of 2023: RMB114,030,000), basically on
a par with the same period of last year. Loss attributable to owners of the
Company was RMB24,418,000 (same period of 2023: loss attributable
to owners of the Company of RMB18,179,000). The increase in loss was
mainly attributable to (among others): The recovery of the State Subsidy for
a solar power plant of the Group is not very optimistic, with the principle
of prudence, the management made an impairment provision of totally
approximately RMB54,024,000 for the accounts receivable related to the
State Subsidy and the assets of the power plant during the Reporting
Period.

Smart Energy Business

The Group’s smart energy business, positioned as comprehensive energy
services for the user side, mainly serves to meet the demands from
customers in industrial, commercial and residential sectors as well as public
institutions. The Group provides its customers with a full range of smart
energy comprehensive utilisation services based on various energy sources
including electricity, heat and gas by leveraging on its smart energy cloud
platform, to help customers improve their energy utilisation efficiency and
reduce energy consumption cost, whereby building a diversified, clean and
low-carbon energy supply system.

The Group works to realise the above business objectives by integrating
its energy systems with intemnet technology. On one hand, the Group
acquires premium energy assets and projects by expanding its offline
business in comprehensive energy supply such as electricity, heat
and gas, and generates stable operation and investment returns from
operating and managing such assets. On the other hand, the Group
uploads the real-time data of electricity, heat and gas consumption of
its industrial and commercial enterprises and residential users to the
cloud platform, integrates and analyses such big data, and taps into the
energy consumption potential of customers, so as to provide them with
other industrial chain services, including multi-energy complementation of
electricity, heat and gas, smart operation and maintenance, energy trade,
and energy efficiency analysis.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group’s smart energy business mainly
represented the possession and operation of solar power plants, including
the possession and operation of 11 existing ground and commercial
distributed solar power plants with an installed capacity of approximately
64 megawatts (MW), and the possession and operation of 18 MW
household solar power plants. During the Reporting Period, the total power
generation capacity of the above solar power plants was approximately
100,858 MWh (same period of 2023: 104,800 MWh), and the total power
generation revenue was approximately RMB61,899,000 (same period of
2023: RMB69,261,000), the decrease in the power generation revenue
was mainly caused by the reduction in solar power generation due to
the influence of sunlight and power rationing. In addition, the Group also
provides operation and maintenance services for some household solar
power plants, and charges operation and maintenance service fees; holds
and operates some clean heating projects in Shandong Province and
Shanxi province, and charges heating service fees.

During the Reporting Period, the smart energy business contributed
approximately RMB85,506,000 (same period of 2023: RMB95,283,000) to
the Group’s revenue, representing a decrease of approximately 10.26% as
compared to the same period of last year, which was primarily attributable
to the decrease in revenue from solar power generation business. Loss for
the Reporting Period amounted to approximately RMB37,704,000 (same
period of 2023: loss of approximately RMB348,000). Such substantially
increase in the loss was primarily attributable to: an impairment provision
of approximately totally RMB54,024,000 was made for the accounts
receivable and the assets of a solar power plant during the Reporting
Period.

Public Infrastructure Construction Business

The public infrastructure construction business refers to the construction
and related preliminary investment and post-construction, operation and
management of public infrastructure under the Baoding Donghu Project
in Baoding City of Hebei Province. During the Reporting Period, the
public infrastructure construction business contributed approximately
RMB28,725,000 (same period of 2023: RMB18,747,000) to the Group’s
revenue. Loss for the Reporting Period amounted to approximately
RMB279,000 (same period of 2023: RMB15,727,000). The increase in
revenue was primarily attributable to the increased investment during the
Reporting Period. The reduction in loss was mainly due to the increase in
revenue.
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In January 2025, the National Energy Administration issued the “Administrative
Measures for the Development and Construction of Distributed Solar Power
Generation”. In February 2025, the National Development and Reform
Commission and the National Energy Administration jointly issued the
“Notice on Deepening the Market-Oriented Reform of New Energy Grid—
Connected Electricity Prices to Promote the High-Quality Development of
New Energy”. The above-mentioned two policies have a significant impact
on the grid-connected mode of distributed solar power plants and the
grid-connected electricity prices of new energy (including wind power and
solar power). These policies aim to promote the healthy, stable, and long-
term development of the solar power generation industry. However, as the
electricity price will be determined through a market-oriented competitive
bidding method, the revenue of newly-built solar power plants will face
great uncertainty, which will directly affect the profits and cash flows of
such enterprises.

The above policies have a relatively great impact on newly built solar power
plants. However, due to factors such as the power curtailment losses
caused by the grid’s power consumption limitations and the increase
in the number of transactions and transaction volume in the market-
oriented electricity trading, the impact on existing solar power plants,
especially large-scale ground power plants, will also become increasingly
significant. We will closely monitor the impact of industry policies and their
implementation on the solar power plants of the Group, flexibly adjust
our operation strategies, and ensure the stable operation and healthy
development of the Group.

Revenue and Gross Profit

The Group’s revenue and gross profit for the Reporting Period amounted
to RMB114,231,000 (same period of 2023: RMB114,030,000) and
RMB30,652,000 (same period of 2023: RMB24,854,000), respectively. The
gross profit margin was 26.83% (same period of 2023: 21.80%).

The revenue was basically on a par with that of the same period last year.
The gross profit margin has increased as compared with the same period
of last year, which was primarily attributable to the increase in gross profit
of the public infrastructure construction business.
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Selling and Distribution Expenses

The Group incurred selling and distribution expenses of RMB176,000
during the Reporting Period (same period of 2023: RMB219,000),
representing a decrease of 19.63% as compared to last year, which
was primarily attributable to a significant reduction in related sales and
distribution expenses caused by a reduction in the sales of household solar
power systems business.

Administrative Expenses

The Group incurred administrative expenses of RMB16,877,000 during the
Reporting Period (same period of 2023: RMB20,937,000), representing
a decrease of 19.39% as compared to last year, which was primarily
attributable to the decrease in related expenses as a result of overall
operational cost control.

Impairment Losses on Non-Financial Assets

During the Reporting Period, the Group made an impairment losses of
approximately RMB33,322,000 (the same period of 2023: impairment
losses of approximately RMB58,794,000) on non-financial assets, which
was primarily attributable to: an impairment provision of approximately
RMB30,474,000 was made by the Group for the assets of a solar power
plant whose recovery of State Subsidy was not optimistic during the
Reporting Period.

(Impairment Losses)/Reversal of Impairment
Losses on Financial Assets

During the Reporting Period, the Group made an impairment losses on
financial assets of RMB18,653,000 (same period of 2023: reversal of
impairment losses of RMB5,012,000), which was primarily attributable
to an impairment provision of approximately RMB21,434,000 was made
by the Group for the accounts receivable related to the State Subsidy of
a solar power plant whose recovery of State Subsidy was not optimistic
during the Reporting Period.

Finance Expenses — Net

Net finance expenses amounted to RMB5,553,000 for the Reporting Period (same
period of 2023: RMB6,580,000), representing a decrease of 15.60% as
compared to last year. Such decrease was primarily attributable to the
gradual reduction of the principal of the loans for solar power plants year by
year and the decline in the loan interest rate.
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Income Tax Credit

Income tax credit amounted to RMB1,383,000 for the Reporting Period (same
period of 2023: RMB3,958,000), representing a decrease in the credit of
65.06% as compared to last year, which was primarily attributable to the
corporate income tax has decreased compared with previous years due
to the corporate income tax refund of some companies, and part of the
deferred income tax liabilities have been reversed due to the impairment of
fixed assets during the Reporting Period.

Share of Net Profit of Associates Accounted for
Using the Equity Method

The Group recognised no net profit for the associate accounted for
using the equity method for the Reporting Period (same period of 2023:
RMB30,520,000), which was primarily attributable to the Group’s profit
recognised in an associate due to recovery of certain receivables which
were credit impaired in prior years during the last period, while there was
no such thing in the Reporting Period.

Cash position

As at 31 December 2024, bank balances and cash amounted to
approximately RMB221,468,000 (31 December 2023: RMB227,743,000),
of which approximately RMB177,934,000 (as at 31 December 2023: Nil)
was time deposits with original maturity over three months, approximately
RMB1,885,000 (31 December 2023: RMB38,000) was restricted bank
balances (mainly used for the expenses incurred under the Baoding
Donghu Project). Such decrease in bank balances and cash was primarily
attributable to the repayment of bank loan.

Total current assets and current ratio

As at 31 December 2024, total current assets and current ratio (total
current assets/total current liabilities) were approximately RMB665,114,000
(31 December 2023: RMB672,255,000) and 5.47 (31 December 2023: 6.53),
respectively. The decrease in total current assets was primarily attributable
to the decrease in bank balances and cash and trade receivables, and the
decrease in current ratio was the result of decrease in current assets.
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External borrowings and pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had external borrowings of
RMB133,600,000 (31 December 2023: RMB160,500,000), of which
RMB133,600,000 was secured by certain machinery at solar power
plants with a carrying amount of RMB209,228,000 and the collection
rights of future receivables of certain subsidiaries (31 December 2023:
RMB160,500,000 was secured by certain machinery at solar power plants
with a carrying amount of RMB227,927,000 and the collection rights of
future receivables of certain subsidiaries).

Gearing Ratio

The table below sets forth the calculation of gearing ratio of the Group as
at the dates indicated:
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31 December 2024 31 December 2023

—EME —E-=%

+=A=+-H +-B=+—H

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETR AREFTT

Bank loans RITER 133,600 160,500
Lease liabilities HEaE 12,799 13,253
Amounts due to related parties & < R B - 2,914
Less: Cash and cash equivalents 5JEX ‘R/E &fﬁé—rfﬁ )l (41,649) (227,705)
Time deposits with original maturity over three months PR ERB =R AN LN TEERER (177,934) —
Restricted cash B HIR S (1,885) (38)
Net (cash) (Re)F8E (75,069) (51,076)
Total equity EmEE 807,993 851,413
Total capital (Net (cash) plus total equity) BEXR(CRE)FHEMESLT) 732,924 800,337
Gearing ratio (Net debt/total capital) AfEL 538/ BEN) N/A N/A
FEA i A

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s net debt was negative, which was
primarily attributable to the repayment of loans and the recovery of some
receivables during the Reporting Period.

The proportion of long-term and short-term debts was 53.33% and
46.67%, respectively (as at 31 December 2023: 63.90% and 36.10%), of
which the borrowings of RMB133,600,000 in respect of solar power plants
were gradually repaid by the proceeds from electricity sales. Therefore, the
Group was not exposed to any significant insolvency risk.
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Interest Rate Risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from external borrowings.
During the Reporting Period,
represent bank borrowings for solar power plants, bear interests at rates
ranging from 4.94% to 5.18% per annum (same period of 2023: 5.04%
to 5.28% per annum). The interest rates applicable to borrowings of solar
power plants were charged at the lending rate of the People’s Bank of
China for the same period plus 10% to 15%, with risk derived from the
changes in China’s policy on interest rate, but the Group expects the
impact of the interest rate risk on the Group’s consolidated profit or loss to
be insignificant.

the external borrowings, which mainly

Exchange Rate Risk

As the Group’s principal activities are carried out in the PRC, the Group’s
transactions are mainly denominated in Renminbi, which is not freely
convertible into foreign currencies. All foreign exchange transactions
involving Renminbi must take place through the People’s Bank of China
or other institutions authorised to buy and sell foreign exchanges. The
exchange rates adopted for foreign exchange transactions are the rates
of exchange quoted by the People’s Bank of China that are determined
largely by supply and demand.

The Group currently does not have a policy on foreign currency risk as it
had minimal transactions denominated in foreign currencies during the
Reporting Period, and the impact of foreign currency risk on the Group’s
operation is minimal.

Investment Commitments

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no investment commitments
(81 December 2023: RMB101,600,000, which were mainly the Group’s
obligations of capital contribution to its associated company Longyao (Beijing)
Clean Energy Technology Company Limited (£ #2 (1t ;)& 2 a2 R B & &
R 2 7)) (“Longyao Beijing”). As there was no business, Longyao Beijing
was deregistered on 5 January 2024, and such commitment of capital
contribution had been lapsed.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities (31 December 2023: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THRFWERS

MATERIAL ACQUISITION, INVESTMENT
AND DISPOSAL

Material Acquisition and Investment

The Group had no material acquisition and investment during the Reporting
Period.

Material Disposal

The Group had no material disposal during the Reporting Period.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

The Group had 43 employees as at 31 December 2024 (31 December
2023: 67 employees), the decrease in the number of employees was
primarily due to the significant reduction in investment in the Baoding
Donghu project in recent years, which led to the downsizing of the
workforce. Total staff costs, including Directors' emoluments was
RMB12,802,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024. Employees
are remunerated according to the nature of their positions, individual
qualification, performance, work experience and market trends, and
subject to periodic reviews based on their performance. Apart from basic
remuneration and discretionary bonus, the Group also provides mandatory
provident fund scheme to employees in Hong Kong and statutory social
welfare contribution to employees in t he PRC, adhering to the local laws
and regulations.
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Executive Directors

Mr. Wei Qiang, aged 42, joined the Company as an executive Director, the
chief executive officer of the Company and a member of the Remuneration
Committee on 11 November 2015. On 29 June 2017, Mr. Wei Qiang was
appointed as the chairman of the Board and chairman of the Nomination
Committee of the Board. Mr. Wei Qiang has around 17 years of work
and management experiences in the clean energy industry and had been
awarded the title of Hebei Innovation and Entrepreneurship Team Leader
and Entrepreneurship Management Talent by the People’s Government
of Hebei Province. Mr. Wei Qiang has also been serving as a director of a
rural bank initiated by Chengdu Rural Commercial Bank since 2013. From
2003 to 2006, Mr. Wei Qiang studied at the University of Auckland in New
Zealand majoring in Finance and from 2007 to 2009, studied business
administration and information strategies at Tsinghua University. Mr. Wei
Qiang is the son of Mr. Wei Shaojun, the ultimate controlling Shareholder of
the Company.

Ms. Zou Yanhong, aged 46, joined the Company as an executive Director
on 1 December 2024. She also serves as the Company Secretary,
authorized representative, and capital operation director of the Company,
and also serves as director in multiple overseas subsidiaries™ of the Group.
Ms. Zou had joined the Group in the early of 2015, and mainly responsible
for matters such as investment and mergers and acquisitions, compliance
management, and corporate governance of the Group. Before joining
the Group, Ms. Zou worked as legal director and senior legal manager in
several large real estate groups and investment companies. From July 2005
to July 2011, Ms. Zou held positions such as legal affairs supervisor and
legal affairs manager at Hopson Development Holdings Limited (a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“the Stock Exchange”, stock code: 0754). From July 2011 to June 2013,
Ms. Zou served as a senior legal affairs manager at Sun Rock Investment
Corporation. From June 2013 to the beginning of 2015, she served as
a senior legal affairs manager at Longjitaihe Group Co., Ltd. She has
approximately 19 years of experience in corporate legal affairs, compliance
management, investment and mergers and acquisitions, and corporate
governance. Ms. Zou graduated from the Law School of the University of
International Business and Economics with Juris Master in July 2005. Ms.
Zou possesses Chinese Legal Professional Qualification Certificate.

Note: (1) such subsidiaries including Long Ji Tai He Group Holding Limited, Long Ji
Tai He Investment Holding Limited, Abble Investment Limited, Highness

Investment Limited, Longe International Investment Limited.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Han Qinchun, aged 66, joined the Company as an independent non-
executive Director, a member of the Audit Committee and a member of
the Nomination Committee in February 2015. Dr. Han had resigned as the
member of the Nomination Committee, and was appointed as the chairman
of the Remuneration Committee on 28 June 2016. Dr. Han is currently the
president of Hong Kong International Financial Assets Market Limited. Dr.
Han obtained a Doctorate degree in philosophy in urban economics and
management from The University of Hong Kong in 1998. He also obtained
a bachelor’s degree from Xi’an University of Architecture and Technology
in 1982. He has rich experience in the PRC property sector, financial
investment, equity capital market and listed companies’ management. He
had worked in securities and investment in Bank of China International
Holdings Limited, Agricultural Bank of China Securities Limited (now known
as Agricultural Bank of China International Holdings Limited) and Everbright
Securities Company (Hong Kong) Limited. He served as the vice-chairman
and co-president and executive director of Hong Long Holdings Limited
(now known as Suncity Group Holdings Limited), a listed company on the
main Board of The Stock Exchange for three years. Over the past three
years, he served as an independent non-executive director for the following
Stock Exchange listed company, namely Lingbao Gold Company Ltd., (stock
code: 3330). He currently serves as an independent non-executive director
for the following Stock Exchange listed companies: Guangdong — Hong
Kong Greater Bay Area Holdings Limited (stock code:1396), Sunfonda
Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 01771) and Country Garden Holdings
Company Limited (stock code: 02007).

Mr. Wong, Yik Chung John, aged 58, joined the Company as an
independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the Audit Committee,
a member of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee
on 16 October 2015. Mr. Wong is a qualified accountant and has over 35
years of experience in auditing and corporate finance work, with extensive
exposure to the business enterprises in the PRC. He is the founder of
Vantage Group and TMF China, which provide professional outsourcing
solutions to companies investing in the PRC and targeting at international
customers. Mr. Wong graduated from the University of Melbourne. He
is a fellow member of each of the Australian Society of Certified Public
Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
He also obtained a PRC Certificate of Independent Directorship in 2002.
Over the past three years, he served as an independent non-executive
director for the following Stock Exchange listed companies, namely Perfect
Optronics Limited (stock code: 8311), Beijing Capital Land Ltd. (stock
code: 2868) , EcoGreen International Group Limited (stock code: 2341)
and Jinke Smart Services Group Co., Ltd. (stock code: 09666).
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Mr. Feng Zhidong, aged 51, joined the Company as an independent non-
executive Director, a member of the Audit Committee and a member of
the Nomination Committee on 7 October 2022. He obtained a Bachelor’s
Degree in International Accounting from the Renmin University of China in
the PRC in July 1995 and a Master’s Degree in Business Administration
from the South China University of Technology in the PRC in February
2004. Mr. Feng has also completed a Mergers and Acquisitions Executive
Program from the Business School of Sun Yat-sen University in the PRC in
March 2015 and a Global Entrepreneur Leadership Program from the PBC
School of Finance at the Tsinghua University in the PRC in July 2019. In
addition, Mr. Feng has obtained a Certificate of Specialty and Technology
(Intermediate Level) in Accounting in the PRC granted by the Ministry of
Finance of the PRC. Mr. Feng has more than 24 years of experience in
financial management, capital operations and managing investor relations.
Since June 2016, Mr. Feng is the chairman of the board and a director of
Guangzhou Yueting Network Technology Co., Ltd.* (&N 135 48 48 &
F AR A 7)), which is principally engaged in internet parking services.
Moreover, since August 2018, he is the chairman of the board and a
director of Guangzhou Yueting Capital Management Co., Ltd.* (& M 1 {Z
& ARE® AR QA which is principally engaged in parking management
and corporate management service. He currently serves as an independent
non-executive director of Xingye Wulian Service Group Co., Ltd. (listed on
the main board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 9916), K. H. Group
Holdings Limited (listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 1557) and an independent director Guangdong Dongfang Precision
Science & Technology Co., Ltd (listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange,
stock code: 002611.52).
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At the date of this report, the senior management of the Group comprises
the executive Directors above, namely Mr. Wei Qiang, Ms. Zou Yanhong,
and Ms. Zhao Hua. The biographies of Ms. Zhao Hua are set out below:

Ms. Zhao Hua, aged 39, joined the Company as the executive vice
president in January 2020. She is mainly assisting the chief executive
officer of the Company to take full charge of the daily operation and
management of the Group. Ms. Zhao was an executive Director of the
Company from 26 February 2015 to 11 November 2015. She has about
12 years of management experience in clean energy and commercial
operation. From July 2014 to July 2016, she served as the executive
vice president of Hedao International Commercial and Trading Co., Ltd.,
which is principally engaged in commercial center leasing, market service,
warehousing service, import and export trade and mall management
etc., where she was responsible for the business segment of commercial
operation. In 2013, she served as the executive vice president and
secretary of the board of directors of Lightway Green Energy Technology
Co., Ltd., which was principally engaged in the production and sales of
photovoltaic modules and the installation of solar power stations, where
she was responsible for financial and human resources management. Ms
Zhao graduated from Central University of Finance and Economics in 2010,
with a major in administrative management and obtained a master’s degree
in management. She graduated from Beijing International Studies University
in 2007, with a major in international politics and obtained a Bachelor of
Laws degree. Ms. Zhao is the wife of Mr. Wei Qiang, the executive Director
and the chief executive officer of the Company.

Details of the interests of the Directors in the Company are disclosed
in the section headed “INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
DIRECTORS AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS” under the “Report of the Directors”.
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The Directors are pleased to present their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Reporting Period.

The principal activities of the Group are smart energy business, public
infrastructure construction and the related preliminary investment and post-
construction operation management business, with gradual expansion and
diversification to other clean energy business.

An analysis of the performance of the Group for the Reporting Period
by segments is set out in note 6 to the audited consolidated financial
statements. The principal activities and other particulars of the Company’s
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 21 to the audited consolidated
financial statements.

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in the “Consolidated
Statement of Profit or Loss” on pages 73 of this annual report.

A summary of the consolidated results and assets, liabilities and equity of
the Group for the last five financial years and the financial key performance
indicators of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out on page 168
of this annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

The business review for the Reporting Period and an indication of likely
future development in the business of the Company are set out in the
sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion
and Analysis” of this annual report. Our risk management system and a
description of the principal risks and uncertainties that the Company may
be facing are provided in the “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual
report. The finance risks are mainly described in the relevant content of
the “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements”.
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The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the ZEZ@UW IMAEZERBEE—_T-_NF+ A=+
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil). —BLEFERIRARE(ZE_=F &)

In order to ascertain the entitlements to attend and vote at the forthcoming AEBEFEER T -_RAEHA-+=H(EH
annual general meeting to be held on Friday, 23 May 2025 (the “Meeting”), F)BITHEERFEBF RS (H( gHERRKE
the transfer books and register of members of the Company will be closed FIRZWMER AR BN _ZEZ-_HFRA -
from Tuesday, 20 May 2025 to Friday, 23 May 2025, both days inclusive, +H(EH )2 _-_HAFHRA-_+=H(EH
during which period no share transfers can be registered. In order to qualify ) HE (REEEMAB) T IEHERMBL ERL
for attending the Meeting, all transfers accompanied by the relevant share  F4& - AFAEREE RS TARMDBES X4
certificates must be lodged with the Hong Kong branch share registrarand ERHABKREER _E_AFHA+NLB(EH

transfer office of the Company, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, —) TF B =+2 2R E AR G HEFBKRH
Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 @F &0 E S EEEFELER AR (it AF
p.m. on Monday, 19 May 2025. BEREIGCRERSRPOI7IE) -

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the ARNEBNAREHRBENYE MELREZH
Group during the Reporting Period are set out in note 15 to the audited B EHR A FREBRGE ST ERRM E15-
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Details of interest-bearing borrowings of the Group as at 31 December ZISE ER T _WE+_R=+—BHHEE
2024 are set out in note 32 to the audited consolidated financial statements ~EFIEH AR FREBZIG AP ERRM 32 -
in this annual report.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no equity-linked agreements were R ANFE R FF 5B & o) - WA E BIRS - A&
entered into by the Group, or existed during the Reporting Period. AT 2 BT (] iR Z 88 175 5% -

Details of the movements in the Company’s issued share capital during AR AR AR EHBO BT AL B F1BH
the Reporting Period are set out in note 31(a) to the audited consolidated ~ MR AFEREEZXIG A M B HRERME31(a)
financial statements in this annual report.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”) or the
Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised)
of the Cayman Islands where the Company was incorporated, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares of the Company (the “Shares”) on
a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, neither the Company nor any
of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities. During the Reporting Period and as at 31 December 2024,
the Company did not hold any treasury shares.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the Reporting
Period are set out in note 31(b) to the audited consolidated financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
respectively in this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2024, the aggregate amount of reserves available for
distribution to equity Shareholders was RMB1,200,646,000 (31 December
2023: RMB1,175,933,000).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Group did not make any charitable donations during the Reporting
Period (2023: Nil).

Report of Directors
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The Group is principally engaged in the smart energy and public
infrastructure construction businesses. The smart energy business, which
mainly the operation of solar power plants, is an environmentally friendly
business. With the focus on the smart energy business, the Group strives
to develop clean energy sources and is committed to protecting the
environment and mitigating the impact of its operations on the environment.
The Group’s public infrastructure construction business represents the
Baoding Donghu PPP project. The project is to develop a new functional
urban area in Baoding city highlighted with ecological culture. The project
comprises a lake district with an area of 660 mu, park and green space
with an area of 250,000 square metres, Guan Hanging theater and
museum with an area of approximately 70,000 square metres and urban
protective green belt with an area of 310,000 square metres. The project
connects to public and infrastructural facilities such as the municipal road
of 4.68 square kilometres, educational facilities for primary and secondary
schools, and public stations. It will improve the urban function of Baoding
city, enrich the cultural asset of the city, and enrich the cultural life of the
citizens while bringing benefits to the environment.

In the course of developing its smart energy and public infrastructure
construction businesses, the Group is mainly subject to the supervision
and restriction under the following environmental laws and regulations:
the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Environmental Protection,
the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control of
Water Pollution, the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention
and Control of Atmospheric Pollution, the Law of the People’s Republic of
China on Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste,
the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Appraising of Environment
Impacts and the Regulations on the Administration of Environmental
Protection of Construction Projects. The Group has paid consistent
attention to complying with the laws and regulations on environmental
protection. Throughout the Reporting Period, the Group has complied with
the relevant laws and regulations on environmental protection that have a
material impact on the Group.

We also recognise the importance of maintaining mutually beneficial
relationships with stakeholders, including our Shareholders and investors,
government organs, employees, customers, suppliers and local
communities. Their support is vital to the Group’s sustainable development.
We pay close attention to the needs of all our stakeholders, offer solutions
to address their needs and continuously interact with them in ways that are
conducive to the sustainable growth of the Company, the industry and the
community.
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For details of the Group’s environmental, social and governance report (the “ESG
Report”) for 2024, please refer to the 2024 ESG Report of the Company
issued at the same time of this report.

The Group operates its businesses mainly in Mainland China. The
development and operation of the Group’s smart energy and public
infrastructure construction businesses in the PRC are mainly regulated by
the local laws and regulations on renewable energy, electricity supply and
construction projects, as well as various policies and industry guidelines
issued by such local governments. There was no incident of non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that had or would have a
significant impact on the Company during the Reporting Period. For details,
please refer to the 2024 ESG Report of the Company issued at the same
time of this report.

Connected Transaction

The Group didn't carried out any connected transaction (other than
connected transactions that were fully exempted under Chapter 14A of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”) during the Reporting Period.

Continuing Connected Transactions

The Group carried out the following continuing connected transactions (other
than continuing connected transactions that are fully exempted under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules) during the Reporting Period:

(1) First Master Agreement and Second Master
Agreement in relation to the supply of electricity
First Master Agreement
On 10 July 2017, Gao Bei Dian City Guangshuo New Energy Group
Co.,Ltd. (“Guangshuo”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into a master agreement (“First Master
Agreement”) with Longjitaine Property Co., Ltd. (“Longjitaihe
Property”) in respect of the continuing connected transactions
between members of the Group and Longjitaihe Property and its
subsidiaries.
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Pursuant to the terms of the First Master Agreement, members of the
Group will lease roof top and related storage and operation spaces
from Longjitaihe Property and its subsidiaries for the installation of the
solar power plant facilities of the Group, and upon the solar power
plants get connected to the grid, supply electricity to Longjitaihe
Property and its subsidiaries.

In respect of the supply of electricity by Guangshuo to Longjitaine
Property, the fees will be based on the unit price per kWh as
published by the Provincial Price Bureau of which the power station
projects are located at (which is subject to adjustment from time
to time), with a discount of no more than 20% being offered in
comprehensive consideration of the free rental of roof top and the
electricity usage of the landlord, etc. The transactions under such
electricity purchase agreement are conducted in the usual and
ordinary course of business of the Group on normal commercial
terms, and under equivalent conditions, the terms and consideration
are similar to those offered to independent third party customers.

The First Master Agreement has a term of 20 years for the leases and
a term of 25 years for the supply of electricity. The annual caps under
the First Master Agreement in respect of the supply of electricity to
Longjitaihe Property during the term of the agreement will not exceed
RMB10,000,000.

Longjitaihe Property is a company controlled and owned by Mr.
Wei Shaojun, the controlling Shareholder of the Company. The
transactions contemplated under the First Master Agreement
constituted continuing connected transactions for the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Second Master Agreement

On 10 July 2017, Guangshuo entered into another master
agreement (the “Second Master Agreement”) with Longjitaihe
Group Limited (“Longjitaihe Group Limited”) (formerly known as
“Longjitaihe Industrial Co., Limited”) and Lightway Green Energy
Technology Co., Ltd. (“Lightway Green Energy”), in respect of the
continuing connected transactions between members of the Group
and Longjitaihe Group Limited, Lightway Green Energy and their
subsidiaries.

Pursuant to the terms of the Second Master Agreement, members
of the Group will lease roof top and related storage and operation
spaces from Longjitaihe Group Limited and Lightway Green
Energy and their subsidiaries for the installation of the solar power
plant facilities of the Group, and upon the solar power plants get
connected to the grid, supply electricity to Longjitaihe Group Limited
and Lightway Green Energy and their subsidiaries.
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In respect of the supply of electricity by Guangshuo, the fees will be
based on the unit price per kWh as published by the Provincial Price
Bureau of which the power station projects are located at (which
is subject to adjustment from time to time), with a discount of no
more than 20% being offered in comprehensive consideration of
the free rental of roof top and the electricity usage of the landlord,
etc. The transactions under such electricity purchase agreement are
conducted in the usual and ordinary course of business of the Group
on normal commercial terms, and under equivalent conditions, the
terms and consideration are similar to those offered to independent
third party customers.

The Second Master Agreement has a term of 20 years for the leases
and a term of 25 years for the supply of electricity. The annual caps
under the Second Master Agreement in respect of the supply of
electricity to Longjitaihe Group Limited and Lightway Green Energy
during the term of the agreement will not exceed RMB8,000,000.

Longjitaihe Group Limited and Lightway Green Energy are
companies controlled and owned by Mr. Wei Shaojun, the controlling
Shareholder of the Company. The transactions contemplated under
the Second Master Agreement constituted continuing connected
transactions for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 27 April 2017, 9 June 2017, 10 July 2017 and the circular
dated 22 May 2017.

The transaction amounts under the First Master Agreement and the
Second Master Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2024
were approximately RMB2,808,000 and RMB4,562,000 respectively.

In October 2018, Guangshuo completed the acquisition from Baoding
Lightway Green Energy Technology Co., Ltd. (“Baoding Lightway”,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Lightway Green Energy) a 10.2 MW
distributed solar power plant located at the Lightway Industrial
Park, Hebei Province, the PRC. Upon completion, Guangshuo
supplied electricity to Baoding Lightway, and Baoding Lightway has
undertaken that its annual minimum electricity consumption is not
less than 10 million degrees per year (except the normal physical
decline of 0.7% per year), otherwise Baoding Lightway should pay
the difference to Guang Shuo. During the Reporting Period, Baoding
Lightway has fulfilled the above mentioned minimum electricity
consumption commitment through itself or through the third parties.
The transaction amount of electricity sold by Guangshuo to Baoding
Lightway is included in the Second Master Agreement.

SABAHENENNS - BRABIAEU
BEEMEMEMERMEMNETRRE
NERARE(ITEHHFE) YREEEZE
REHEERRETIAEESFB/AERE
HETZR20%0TH - ZBEHHEETH
RGDAEER-—BREBEXRBBESD
BMEREEGRET BERSKET
HEFEREBEER®RTBIE=-"TEPE
GEESI

E_NEBEOEEHRRRB20F ME
HEHR A5 -NIHEBMA - F -4
BEETHAEERMEE N RZERE
BREERENNFELRETEEBARE
8,000,0007T °

BEERMEBRXBECHERRBAR
B R R B EIERERAN AT -
BIELTRIE4AZ  F_HEHEE
THRETHXZERAR AN FERE
R

FEBELHARA B A-T—tF
mMA-+tH —Z—+tF ALK
E—tFLATHEHNRAER=ZFE—tFHA
AZ+ZH®BK -

BEZZ-_NMF+-_A=+—HLFE"
BENBHBRE_NEHZONXFEHE
o R4 B AR 2808000 & AR
4,562,000 7T °

RZZB-NF+ A REZKEERE X
REBBERMXBERARIREXSR]

b AT EE 2102k B2 M AR &
Buhe BHE - KEHRAREXARSE
VTREXAAEAZESFZRBERATETER
1,0008 &/ F (B & F0.7%H IEF ¥R
ZRBIN)  BRIREXABEREZEITH M
HREEITHE - RAREHE REKX B
ERBEESHBBE=-FRIT &K
AEEzEFE HBERRETLEAEESR
EZRGESHEECEEEE_HBRBET -

BERERRERAT FH2024 2D



Implications under the Listing Rules

As the annual caps in respect of the continuing connected
transactions under the First Master Agreement and the Second
Master Agreement on an aggregate bases are expected to be
more than 0.1% but less than 5%, the First Master Agreement
and the Second Master Agreement are subject to the reporting,
announcement and annual review requirements and exempted from
the independent Shareholders’ requirement under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
continuing connected transactions set out above and have confirmed
that the continuing connected transactions were entered into (i) in
the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (i) on normal
commercial terms or better; and (i) according to the agreements
governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditor has issued their unqualified letter
containing the auditor’s findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions above-mentioned in accordance
with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

Save for the continuing connected transactions disclosed above, the
Board is of the view that those material related party transactions
disclosed in note 37 to the audited consolidated financial statements
as contained in this annual report do not constitute “connected
transactions” or “continuing connected transactions”, as the
case may be, that are subject to the reporting, announcement or
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. The Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in
respect of the above connected transactions.
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Sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for approximately
65% (2023: 60%) of the total sales for the Reporting Period and sales to
the largest customer included therein amounted to 25% (2023: 21%) of
the total sales for the Reporting Period. Purchases from the Group’s five
largest suppliers accounted for approximately 83% (2023: 82%) of the
total purchase for the Reporting Period and purchase from the Group’s
largest supplier included therein amounted to 47% (2023: 47%) of the total
purchase for the Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or any of their close
associates or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued Shares (excluding
treasury shares)) had any interest in the Group’s five largest customers or
suppliers.

The Group understands that employees are valuable assets. The Group
provides competitive remuneration package to attract and motivate the
employees. The Group regularly reviews the remuneration package of
employees and makes necessary adjustments to conform to the market
standard.

The Group also understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with its suppliers and customers to fulfil its immediate and
long- term goals. To maintain its brand competitiveness and dominant
status, the Group aims at delivering constantly high standards of quality
in the products and service to its customers. During the Reporting Period,
there was no material and significant dispute between the Group and its
suppliers and/or customers.
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Report of Directors

EFEERE

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period and currently are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wei Qiang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Zou Yanhong (Appointed with effect on 1 December 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. Han Qinchun
Mr. Wong, Yik Chung John
Mr. Feng Zhidong

In accordance with article 108(a) of the Articles of Association, at the
forthcoming Meeting to be held, Mr. Wei Qiang and Mr. Wong, Yik Chung
John will retire from office as Directors, and being eligible, have offered
themselves for re-election as Directors. Pursuant to the article 112 of the
Articles of Association, Ms. Zou Yanhong will retire from office as a Director
at the forthcoming Meeting, and being eligible, has offered herself for re-
election.

At the forthcoming Meeting, ordinary resolutions will be proposed to re-
elect Mr. Wei Qiang, Mr. Wong, Yik Chung John and Ms. Zou Yanhong as
Directors.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND OTHER
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors and other senior management are
disclosed in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this
annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received a written confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Directors in respect of his independence in
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board considers
that all independent non-executive Directors are being considered to be
independent by reference to the factors stated in the Listing Rules.
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No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming Meeting has
a service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

Other than the service contracts of the Directors, the Company has not
entered into any contract with any individual, firm or body corporate to
manage or administer the whole or any substantial part of any business of
the Company during the Reporting Period.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors are set out in note 39 to the
audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

The remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) of the
Company is set up for reviewing the Group’s emolument policy and
structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior management
of the Group, having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market practices. The remunerations of the
Directors are determined with reference to the economic situation, the
market condition, the responsibilities and duties assumed by each Director
as well as their individual performance.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors, and five highest paid individuals
during the Reporting Period are set out in notes 39 and 8 to the audited
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Details of the retirement and employee benefits scheme of the Company
are set out in note 8 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this
annual report.
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Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes to information
in respect of Directors after the interim report for the six-month ending 30
June 2024 are set out below:

1. In September 2024, Mr. Feng Zhidong was appointed as
an independent director of Guangdong Dongfang Precision
Technologies Co., Ltd., a company incorporated in PRC and its
shares are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
002611.52).

2. With effect from 1 January 2025, Mr. Wei Qiang’s annual salary was
adjusted from RMB1.6 million to HK $2.8 million.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this annual report, there was
no change to information which is required to be disclosed and has been
disclosed by Directors pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule
13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed in note 37 to the audited consolidated financial
statements and in the section headed “Connected Transactions and
Continuing Connected Transactions” in this annual report, neither
Director nor entity connected with the Directors had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance to the business of the Group subsisting at any time during
the Reporting Period or at the end of the year to which the Company, its
holding company, or any of its subsidiaries was a party.

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the
Reporting Period was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to
any arrangement that would enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate, and none of the Directors or any of their spouses or
children under the age of 18 were granted any right to subscribe for the
equity or debt securities of the Company or any other body corporate or
had exercised any such right.
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Save as disclosed below, as at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors
or any of their respective associates had engaged in or had any interest
in any business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group.

Pursuant to Rule 8.10(2) of the Listing Rules, the following current
Director’s associate held share interests and/or directorships in companies
engaged in businesses which compete or likely to compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group:

Mr. Wei Shaojun (the controling Shareholder of the Company and
the father of Mr. Wei Qiang) holds share interests and directorships in
Longjitaihe Group Limited (together with its subsidiary, the “Longjitaihe
Group”), Longjitaihe Group engages in businesses of public infrastructure
construction business. As smart energy business constitutes the Group’s
principal business activities, the Group currently has no plan to further
expand public infrastructure construction business after the Baoding
Donghu Project is complete. On this basis, it does not exist any material
competition between the businesses of the Group and those of the
Longjitaihe Group.

Each of the Directors is aware of his fiduciary duties as a Director of the
Company which require, among other things, that he acts for the benefit
and in the best interests of the Company and avoids any conflicts between
his duties as a Director and his personal interest.

As the Board is independent of the boards of the aforesaid companies and
maintains three independent non-executive Directors, the Group operates
its businesses independently of, and at arm’s length from, the businesses
of the aforesaid companies.

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) on 22 November 2011.

1. Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain
the eligible persons, to provide additional incentive to them and to
promote the success of the business of the Group.
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2. Participants 2. BHE

The Board is authorised, at their absolute discretion and subject to
the terms of the Share Option Scheme, to grant options to subscribe
the Shares to, inter alia, any employees (full-time and part-time),
directors, consultants, advisors, distributors, contractors, suppliers,
agents, customers, business partners or service providers of the
Group.

Total number of Shares available for issue
under the Share Option Scheme

The maximum number of Shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Share Option Scheme shall not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the number of the issued Shares of the Company as
at the Listing Date. On 12 June 2018, the Company had refreshed
the scheme mandate limit of the Share Option Scheme to 10% of the
aggregate number of the Shares of the Company in issue as at that
date, i.e. a total of 137,842,200 Shares, representing 9.28% of the
number of the Shares (excluding treasury shares) of the Company in
issue as at the date of this report.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of options granted to any grantee (including both exercised and
outstanding options) under the Share Option Scheme, in any
12-month period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the
Shares in issue.

Period within which the Shares must be taken
up under an option

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board may
determine which shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant
subject to the provisions of early termination thereof.

Minimum period for which an option must be
held before it can be exercised

The Board may in its absolute discretion set a minimum period for
which an option must be held and performance targets that must be
achieved before an option can be exercised.
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Time of acceptance and the amount payable
on acceptance of the option

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within seven days (inclusive
of the day) on which such offer was made. The amount payable by
the grantee of an option to the Company on acceptance of the offer
for the grant of an option is HK$1.00.

Basis of determining the subscription price

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be a price solely
determined by the Board and notified to a participant and shall not
be lower than the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of
grant of the option; (i) the average of the closing prices of the Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the 5
business days immediately preceding the date of grant of the option;
and (i) the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant of the
option.

Life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme became unconditional on the Listing Date
and shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years commencing
on 22 November 2011. On 21 November 2021, the Share Option
Scheme had been expired.

The Company has not adopted any new share option scheme during
the Reporting Period after expiration of the previous Share Option
Scheme.
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As at 31 December 2024, details of the movement of the share options
under the Share Option Scheme are as follows:

Closing
price
preceding
dateof  Exercise
grant price
Name and category of (HKS per  (HKS per
participants Date of grant Exercise period share) Share)
BHAHA
HYHE k@
SHERERER BHAH fTEHE (BRER) (BRER)
Directors
EF
Dr. Han Qinchun 26 January 2018 26 January 2018 to 25 January 2028 1.711 2132
HREBL “E-\5-A-t~A ZE-N\FE-A-t+iAHZE
—Z-)\¥-ACthA
Mr. Wong, Yik Chung John 26 January 2018 26 January 2018 to 25 January 2028 1.711 2.132
BEAKE “F-\E-AZ+xH ZE-NF-A-ftREBEZE
R )\E-AZTRE
Total
it
Notes:
1. Pursuant to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, adjustments are required for

the exercise price and the number of Shares available for subscription under the
outstanding share options as a result of the Company’s rights issue, with effect
from 22 March 2018. The exercise price of the share options granted on 26
January 2018 was adjusted to HK$1.7796 per Share. For details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 21 March 2018.

2. As at 31 December 2024, the weighted average exercise price of options
outstanding is HK$1.8 (2023: HK$1.8)

As the Share Option Scheme had been expired on 21 November 2021,
the number of share options available for grant under the Share Option
Scheme was all nil as of 1 January 2024 and as of 31 December 2024.

The number of Shares that may be issued in respect of the options granted
under the Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31 December
2024 divided by the weighted average number of the Shares in issue of
the Company (excluding treasury shares) for the year ended 31 December
2024 is 0.048%.

During the Reporting Period, no expense arose from share-based payment
transactions previously recognised as part of employee benefit expense (2023:
Nil).
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
DIRECTORS AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE

IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors
or chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)) which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including any interests which they are taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein, or were required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out
in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange, were as follows:

() Interest in the Shares and underlying Shares
of Company
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Number of Shares/
underlying Shares

Approximate
Percentage of

Name of Director Capacity/Nature of Interest held shareholding
ERe IR RER A

EEHR B EEME HERDEE Bo

Mr. Wei Qiang Beneficiary of a discretionary trust” 970,534,633 (L) 65.37%

Pom skt —EREETHZHEAY

Dr. Han Qinchun Beneficial owner” 359,400 (L) 0.02%

BERAWL Bxla AP

Mr. Wong, Yik Chung John Beneficial owner? 359,400 (L) 0.02%
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Notes: o aE -

1. King River Developments Limited is deemed to be respectively interested in 1. King River Developments Limited 1 15 /&35 i@ &
534,462,121 Shares and 436,072,512 Shares (totally 970,534,633 Shares) A Lightway Power Holdings Limited } Harvest
through its control over Lightway Power Holdings Limited and Harvest Oak Holdings Limited # 1% &I 4 + i1 5 5 %
Oak Holdings Limited, and Zedra Trust Company (Singapore) Limited (as a 534,462,121 % I 17 & 436,072,512 8% f% 17 (&
trustee of a discretionary trust) is deemed to be interested in 970,534,633 51970,534,633 % I 17 ) % A #E 25 + K Zedra
Shares through its control over King River Developments Limited. The details Trust Company (Singapore) Limited (— A& 15
of which are set out as follows: FEREM X A) H R B IE B HE RKing River

Developments  Limited & % Il # 72 970,534,633
BB EEER BHEFBENT
Direct Number of
Name of controlled corporation Name of controlling shareholder % control interest Shares
SEFEEERRE ERBREE ERBESL BHiEER KRB &R
King River Developments Limited Zedra Trust Company (Singapore) Limited 100.00 N 970,534,633 (L)
=
Lightway Power Holdings Limited King River Developments Limited 100.00 Y 534,462,121 (L)
=
Harvest Oak Holdings Limited King River Developments Limited 100.00 Y 486,072,512 (L)
P
Mr. Wei Qiang is deemed to be interested in 970,534,633 Shares as a BRit(FRAZBBEAZ RN ERAR
beneficiary of the discretionary trust. 970,534,633 B4 i% 19 R #E B A 25 o
2. Dr. Han Qinchun is interested in 359,400 share options of the Company. 2. 8% 7= F 18 1+ 1 859,400 % AN 2 &) 88 I 1 R
B

3. Mr. Wong, Yik Chung John is interested in 359,400 share options of the 3. & # B 5 4 1 359,400 % A 2 &) BE AR #E R
Company. B

4, The letter “L” denotes the long position in Shares. 4, FEILIRTRBROZIFE -

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors
or chief executive of the Company had any interests or short position in the
Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
would be required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, or which would be
required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein, or otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
THE SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
AND OTHER PERSONS IN SHARES AND

£
A
)54

UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, so far as is known to the Directors, the following
persons (not being a Director or chief executive of the Company as
disclosed above) had interests or short positions in Shares or underlying
Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock
Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
or, which were recorded in the register to be kept by the Company under

section 336 of the SFO:
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() Long Position in the Shares and underlying (i)

Shares

RERORBEEROGHER

Number of Shares/
underlying Shares

Approximate
percentage of

Name of Substantial Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest held shareholding
iER® RERH

FTERRER 5 REtE HERGEE Bak

Mr. Wei Shaojun Founder of a discretionary trust” 970,534,633 (L) 65.37%

RLERLE —EBEETOHKIIAY

Zedra Trust Company (Singapore) Limited  Trustee'” 970,534,633 (L) 65.37%
ZREA

King River Developments Limited Interest of controlled corporation'” 970,534,633 (L) 65.37%
ZEelEE "

Lightway Power Holdings Limited Beneficial owner” 534,462,121 (L) 36.00%
BEwma A

Harvest Oak Holdings Limited Beneficial owner'"! 436,072,512 (L) 29.37%
BExEEAAY

Notes: Bt 5

1. King River Developments Limited is deemed to be respectively interested in 1. King River Developments Limited # 1% /35 i@ £

534,462,121 Shares and 436,072,512 Shares (totally970,534,633 Shares)
through its control over Lightway Power Holdings Limited and Harvest
Oak Holdings Limited, and Zedra Trust Company (Singapore) Limited (as a
trustee of a discretionary trust ) is deemed to be interested in 970,534,633
Shares through its control over King River Developments Limited, and Mr.
Wei Shaojun is deemed to be interested in 970,534,633 Shares as a founder

of the discretionary trust.

2. The letter “L” denotes the long position in Shares.

A Lightway Power Holdings Limited & Harvest
Oak Holdings Limited 87 ¥ &l # « M 9 5l 7
534,462,121 % I% 17 2 436,072,512 1% i% 13 (&
51970,534,633 % I 17 ) H % A #E 2= + K Zedra
Trust Company (Singapore) Limited (— 1B &5
FERMZEA) K ASIBEMRKIng River
Developments  Limited #9221l # 72 970,534,633
Bl FREERED MRIBEEEMERB
BE15 FEA AL A) #4% & 72 970,534,633 % ik 15
hEARER -
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Company had
not been notified by any persons (other than Directors or chief executive
of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the Shares or
underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provision of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which would be
required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein.

During the Reporting Period, the Company was not involved in any litigation
or arbitration of material importance and no litigation or claim of material
importance is known to the Directors to be pending or threatened against
the Company.

The Company’s Articles of Association provide that each Director or
other officer of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the
assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he or she may
sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his or her office
or otherwise in relation thereto. In addition, the Company has arranged
appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance in respect of relevant
legal actions against the Directors.

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”), comprising
the three independent non-executive Directors, has reviewed the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
together with the management and the external auditor of the Company.
The Audit Committee is of the opinion that such statements have complied
with the applicable accounting standards, and the disclosures required
by the Stock Exchange and other relevant legal requirements, and that
adequate disclosures have been made.

Principal information on the corporate governance practices adopted by
the Company is set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report” of this annual report.
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Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total issued
share capital, being the prescribed minimum percentage of public float
approved by the Stock Exchange and permitted under the Listing Rules,
are held by the public at all times during the Reporting Period and as of the
date of this annual report.

The consolidated financial statements for the Reporting Period prepared
in accordance with IFRS were audited by BDO Limited (“BDO”) who shall
retire and, being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment at the forthcoming
Meeting of the Company.

Except as disclosed in the annual report, the Group did not have any
significant post-period events after 31 December 2024 and up to the date
of this report.

By order of the Board

Wei Qiang
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hebei Province, the PRC, 27 March 2025
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The Board is pleased to present this corporate governance report in this
annual report for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Board recognises the importance of good corporate governance in
the management structure and internal control procedures of the Group
for the purpose of ensuring that all business activities of the Group and the
decision-making process are properly regulated and are in full compliance
with the applicable laws and regulations, and to safeguard the interests of
Shareholders and to enhance corporate value. During the Reporting Period,
the Company has applied the principles of the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code”) contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The Company’s
corporate governance principles emphasize the importance of a high-quality
Board, effective internal control, and accountability to Shareholders, which
enhances the value of the Company for Shareholders and also ensures
the sustainable development of the Group. The Company has adopted the
code provisions of the CG Code as its corporate governance code.

The Company has complied with the code provisions of the CG Code
during the Reporting Period, except for code provision C.2.1and C.5.1.

According to code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. Mr. Wei Qiang, an executive Director, is the chief
executive officer of the Company and the chairman of the Board. The
Board is of the opinion that vesting the roles of both the chairman and the
chief executive officer in the same person could improve the Company’s
effectiveness and efficiency in reaching its business goals. The Board also
believes that this arrangement will not be detrimental to the balance of
power and authority between the chairman and the chief executive officer,
while a higher ratio of independent non-executive Directors will enable the
Board to make unbiased judgments more effectively and provide sufficient
supervision to protect the interests of the Company and the Shareholders.

According to code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code, the board meeting
should be held at least four times a year at approximately quarterly interval.
During the Reporting Period, two Board meetings were held to approve the
interim financial performance and annual financial performance of the Group
which should be decided by the Board, and discussed the overall operation
and strategy of the Group. The Company also sought the approval of the
Directors on relevant matters by circulating a written resolution to replace
the Board meeting. In addition, the Directors had frequent communication
with the management of the Company during the year to discuss the overall
operation and strategy of the Group, and actively exchanged their views on
the performance of the Group. As such, the Directors are considered to be
provided in a timely manner with appropriate information to make informed
decisions and perform their duties and responsibilities.
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The Company will continue to review and enhance its corporate
governance practices to ensure compliance with the CG Code. Set
out below is detailed discussion of the corporate governance practices
adopted and observed by the Company for the Reporting Period.

The Board has established the Group’s purpose, values and strategies and
ensured that they are aligned with the Group’s culture. All Directors must
act with integrity, lead by example, emphasize and promote a corporate
culture of lawful, ethical and responsible business conduct. The Board
closely monitored the implementation of corporate governance practice,
risk management and internal control systems to ensure the corporate
value and the Company'’s culture are aligned.

Composition of the Board of Directors

The Board currently consists of five Directors with a combination of two
executive Directors and three independent non- executive Directors. During
the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, the composition of
the Board is as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Wei Qiang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Zou Yanhong (Appointed with effect on 1 December 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors
Dr. Han Qinchun

Mr. Wong, Yik Chung John

Mr. Feng Zhidong

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the section headed “Directors
and Senior Management” of this annual report. Mr. Wei Qiang, the
executive Director and chief executive officer of the Company, is the son of
Mr. Wei Shaojun, the controlling Shareholder of the Company, except that,
the Directors do not have any other relationships with any Directors, senior
management or substantial or controlling Shareholders of the Company.

All Directors have carried out duties in good faith and in compliance with
applicable laws and regulations, and have acted in the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to indemnify the
Group’s Directors for their liabilities arising out of corporate activities. The
insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.
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Functions of the Board

The overall management of the Company’s business is vested in the
Board, which assumes the responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company and the Directors are collectively responsible for promoting
the long term success of the Group by directing and supervising the
Company’s affairs and overseeing the achievement of strategic plans to
enhance Shareholders’ value. The Directors are aware of their duties to
act in good faith and expected to make decisions objectively in the best

interests of the Company.

The principal functions of the Board are to:

(i) convene general meetings and report the Board’s work at general

meetings;

(i) implement the resolutions passed by the Shareholders in general

meetings;

(i) consider and approve strategies, financial objectives, annual budget,

investment proposals of the Group;

(iv)  approve and authorise material transactions, including acquisition,
investment, disposal of assets (in particular those that may involve

conflict of interests);

(v)  formulate the proposals for profit distributions;

(vi)  assume the responsibilities of corporate governance of the Group;

(vi)  establish and review the Group’s risk management and internal

control systems through the Audit Committee; and

(viii) exercise other powers, functions and duties conferred by the

Shareholders in general meetings.

The senior management is delegated with the authority and responsibilities
by the Board for the day-to-day management and operations of the
Group. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant
transactions entered into by the management. The Board meets regularly
to review the financial and operating performance of the Company, and
considers and approves the overall strategies and policies of the Company.

All Directors have separate access to the management and are provided
with full and timely information about the conduct of the business and
operation of the Group. A monthly report containing significant events and

latest development of the Group was provided to all Directors.

During the Reporting Period, the Board has regularly reviewed the
contributions from the Directors and confirmed that they have spent

sufficient time performing their responsibilities.
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The Board has implemented different ways to ensure independent views
and input are available to the Board (the “Mechanism”). The Board will
conduct annual review on the implementation and effectiveness of the
Mechanism and the results will be presented to the Board which will
collectively discuss the results and the action plan for improvement, if
appropriate.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the Mechanism and the results were
satisfactory.

The chairman leads the Board in the determination of strategies and in
the achievement of objectives and ensures that all Directors are properly
briefed on issues arising at the Board meetings and receive adequate,
complete and reliable information. The chief executive officer is delegated
with the authority and responsible for running the Company’s business,
implementing the Company’s strategies in achieving business objectives.
Both the Chairman and the chief executive officer positions are currently
held by Mr. Wei Qiang. The Board believes that the current governance
structure, with a combined chairman and chief executive officer and
more than one-third of the Board is independent non-executive Directors,
could improve the Company’s effectiveness and efficiency in reaching its
business goals and its in the best interest of the Company at the present
stage.

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix C3 of the
Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions. After making specific enquiry, all of the Directors who held
their office during the Reporting Period have confirmed that they had
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code throughout
the Reporting Period.

The Company has also adopted its own code of conduct regarding
employees’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the
standard set out in the Model Code for the compliance by its relevant
employees who are likely to be in possession of inside information of the
Company in respect of their dealings in the Company’s securities.
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The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions such as developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and code of conduct applicable to
employees and Directors, reviewing and monitoring training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management and the
Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, as well as reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

The Board has reviewed corporate governance practices of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2024 and this corporate governance
report. It will continue to review, monitor and improve the policies and
practices of the Company for the purpose of ensuring the compliance of
the CG Code and maintaining a high standard of corporate governance.

In compliance with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed three independent non-executive Directors.
The Board considers that all independent non-executive Directors have
appropriate and sufficient industry, professional qualifications, or accounting
or related financial management expertise to carry out their duties so as
to protect the interests of Shareholders. Under Rule 3.10A of the Listing
Rules, listed issuers are required to appoint independent non-executive
directors representing at least one-third of the Board. The Company has
three independent non-executive Directors currently representing more
than one-third of the Board and therefore, the Company has complied with
Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules.

Prior to their respective appointment, each of the independent non-
executive Directors has submitted a written statement to the Stock
Exchange confirming their independence and has undertaken to inform the
Stock Exchange as soon as practicable if there is any subsequent change
of circumstances which may affect their independence. The Company has
also received a written confirmation from each of the independent non-
executive Directors in respect of their independence in accordance with Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Board considers that all independent non-
executive Directors are being considered to be independent by reference
to the factors stated in the Listing Rules.
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Dr. Han Qinchun (“Dr. Han”) has served as an independent non-executive
Director since 26 February 2015, and his term of office has exceeded
nine years. In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association,
Dr. Han retired by rotation at the Company’s annual general meeting of
Shareholders in 2024 (“the 2024 AGM*) held on 31 May 2024. Dr. Han has
rich experience of working experience in the fields of finance, investment,
real estate, and the management of listed companies. Coupled with
his thorough understanding of the Company’s business operations, he
has been providing objective insights and independent guidance to the
Company for many years. The Company’s Nomination Committee and the
Board believe that Dr. Han’s long-term service will not affect his ability to
make independent judgments. They are convinced that Dr. Han possesses
the character, integrity, and experience necessary to continue to perform
the duties of an independent non-executive director, and consider Dr. Han
to be an independent person. At the 2024 AGM, an ordinary resolution was
passed to approve the reappointment of Dr. Han as an independent non-
executive Director.

Mr. Wong, Yik Chung John (“Mr. Wong”) has served as an independent
non-executive Director since 16 October 2015, and his term of office
has exceeded nine years. In accordance with the Company’s Articles
of Association, Mr. Wong will retire by rotation at the Company’s
Meeting which to be held on 23 May 2025. Mr. Wong holds professional
qualifications in accounting and financial management and has over 35
years of experience in auditing and corporate finance work. Coupled with
his thorough understanding of the Company’s business operations, he
has been providing objective insights and independent guidance to the
Company for many years. The Company’s Nomination Committee and
the Board believe that Mr. Wong’s long-term service will not affect his
ability to make independent judgments. They are convinced that Mr. Wong
possesses the character, integrity, and experience necessary to continue to
perform the duties of an independent non-executive Director, and consider
Mr. Wong to be an independent person. The re-election of Mr. Wong
should be approved by Shareholders in the form of a separate resolution at
the forthcoming Meeting.

During the Reporting Period, Mr. Wei Qiang, the chairman of the Board,
held a meeting with the independent non-executive Directors without the
presence of other Directors.
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All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.
Independent non-executive Directors are invited to serve on the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee
of the Company.

As regards the CG code provision requiring directors to disclose
the number and nature of the offices held in public companies and
organisations and other significant commitments as well as their identity
and the time involved to the issuer, Directors have agreed to disclose their
commitments to the Company in a timely manner.

Each of the Directors (including non-executive Directors) has been
appointed for a specific term of three years, subject to the provisions on
Directors’ retirement as set out in the Articles of Association and none of
the Directors has a service contract which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation). All Directors appointed by the Board shall hold office only
until the next general meeting of the Company (in the case of filing a casual
vacancy) or until the next annual general meeting of the Company (in the
case of an addition to the Board), and every Director, including those
appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years.

Pursuant to the article 108(a) of the Articles of Association, at each annual
general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being, or, if their
number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to
but not less than one-third, shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years. Pursuant to the article 112 of the Articles of
Association, the term of office of any director appointed to fill a temporary
vacancy can only continue until the first general meeting of the Company
after his appointment, and can only be reappointed after re-election by the
shareholders of the Company.

Pursuant to the article 108(a) of the Articles of Association, Mr. Wei Qiang
and Mr. Wong, Yik Chung John will retire from office as Directors at the
forthcoming Meeting, and being eligible, have offered themselves for re-
election. Pursuant to the article 112 of the Articles of Association, Ms. Zou
Yanhong will retire from office as a Director at the forthcoming Meeting,
and being eligible, has offered herself for re-election. The procedures and
process of appointment, re-election and removal of Directors are set out in
the Articles of Association.
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Nomination Policy

The Board had adopted a nomination policy on 1 January 2019 which
posted on the website of the Company for public review.

Selection criteria:

The factors listed below would be used as reference by the Nomination
Committee in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate:

(1) The Company’s development strategy needs;
(2)  Reputation for integrity;

(8)  Achievements and experiences in the Company’s major business;

(4)  Time devotion and the representation of relevant beneficial parties;

(5)  Diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender, age
(has to be aged 18 or older), cultural and educational background,
professional experiences, skills, knowledge and management
experiences;

(6)  Directorship in other public companies and corporate governance
structures of those companies, etc; and

(7)  Independence (for independent non-executive Director).
These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive and

decisive. The Nomination Committee has the discretion to nominate any
person, as it considers appropriate.
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Nomination Procedures:

The procedure of appointing and re-appointing a Director is summarised as
follows:

— nomination and invitation of suitable candidates by any member of
the Nomination Committee or the Board;

— evaluation of the candidate based on all selection criteria as set out
in the nomination policy;

—  performing due diligence in respect of each candidate and making
recommendation for the Board’s consideration and approval,

- in case of nomination of an independent non-executive Director,
assessing the candidate’s independence under the relevant code
provisions of the CG Code and the Listing Rules;

— in the context of re-appointment of retiring Directors, reviewing
the candidate’s overall contribution and performance and making
recommendations to the Board and/or the shareholders for
consideration in connection with his/her re-election at general
meetings; and

— convening a meeting of the Board to consider the appointment or re-
appointment of the candidate as a Director.

The Nomination Committee should regularly monitor and review formal
procedures for the Nomination Policy to ensure that the nomination policy
is tailored to the needs of the Company and reflects current regulatory
requirement and good governance practices.
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(1) Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 22 November 2011.
The Audit Committee currently comprises three members, namely
Mr. Wong, Yik Chung John (Chairman), Dr. Han Qinchun and Mr.
Feng Zhidong, all of the members are independent non-executive
Directors. The Audit Committee shall meet at least twice a year
with the Company’s external auditors regarding the review of the
Company’s financial report and accounts.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are mainly to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and removal of
auditor, review the financial statements, reports and accounts, and
review and monitor the financial reporting system, risk management
and internal control systems and review the effectiveness of the
internal audit function. The Audit Committee has reviewed the
Group’s consolidated financial statements for the Reporting Period.

The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee adopted by
the Board are in line with the provisions of the CG Code and are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee has held two
meetings and mainly fulfilled the following responsibilities:

— reviewed the audited annual results for the year ended 31
December 2023, discussed the annual results with external
auditors (in the absence of the management of the Company),
and formed the opinion that the relevant financial statements
have been prepared in accordance with the applicable
accounting standards and regulation, and that adequate
disclosures have been made;

— reviewed the unaudited interim results for the six months
ended 30 June 2024, and formed the opinion that the relevant
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
the applicable accounting standards and regulation, and that
adequate disclosures have been made;

— reviewed the effectiveness of risk management and the internal
control systems and the internal audit function of the Group;
and

— provide recommendations on the scope of work and
appointment of external auditor.
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Auditor’s Remuneration

During the Reporting Period, the remuneration paid or payable to the
Company’s independent auditor, BDO, in respect of its audit and
non-audit services were as follows:

Type of Services

BREESE

Audit services % R 75
Non-audit services (Note) IERZBR S (Bt 5F)
Total a5t

Note: This non-audit service is about the review service for the interim performance
of the Group.

The statement of the Company’s independent auditor regarding their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of
the Group for the Reporting Period is set out in the section headed
“Independent Auditor’s Report” in this annual report.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 22 November
2011. The Remuneration Committee comprises three members,
namely Dr. Han Qinchun (Chairman), Mr. Wei Qiang and Mr. Wong,
Yik Chung John,
executive Directors and one of the members is an executive Director.

the majority of which are independent non-

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include reviewing
the terms of the remuneration packages of the Directors, making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
the Directors and senior management, assessing performance of
executive Directors, approving the terms of executive Directors’
service contracts, and reviewing and approving matters related to
share schemes.

The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once every year to
discuss remuneration related matters. No Director is allowed to be
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.

The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
adopted by the Board are in line with the provisions of the CG Code
and are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.
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During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee held
one meeting, adopted a written resolution, and mainly fulfiled the
following responsibilities:

—  reviewed the remuneration policies of the Group for 2023 and
suggested the remuneration package for executive Directors
and the senior management personnel for 2024;

— made recommendation to the Board on the remuneration of
the newly appointed executive Director; and

—  assessed the performance of the executive Director.

For the Reporting Period, the remuneration of the five highest paid
individuals of the Group, including those Directors as disclosed
in note 39 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this
annual report, was within the following bands:
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 22 November 2011.
The Nomination Committee comprises three members, namely Mr.
Wei Qiang (Chairman), Mr. Wong, Yik Chung John and Mr. Feng
Zhidong, the majority of which are independent non-executive
Directors and one of the members is an executive Director.

The primary duty of the Nomination Committee is to make
recommendations to the Board regarding candidates to fill vacancies on
the Board and senior management and to ensure that the candidates to
be nominated as Directors are experienced, high calibre individuals.

The Nomination Committee shall meet at least once every year for
reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board, assessing
the independence of the independent non-executive Directors
and other related matters. In reviewing and recommending the
appointment of new Directors, the Nomination Committee would
seek to identify the competencies required to enable the Board to
fuffill its responsibilities. The resume or documents of the nominee or
candidate will be given to the Nomination Committee for consideration.

(3)
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The written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee adopted EEZOMRMANIREZESEEBRERE

by the Board are in line with the provisions of the CG Code and are HELEE AT MX WA R AR A

available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. KRB R PrA L BB

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee has held RARE AR ?‘m% ZEGRITT—RXRE

one meeting, adopted a written resolution, and mainly fulfiled the HOBBT - AREEARRE YEXERETT

following responsibilities: P B -

—  reviewed the structure, composition of the Board and the — RBINEZENERE AREESFSS
Board diversity policy; AL BUER

—  made recommendations regarding the re-election of retiring — E‘f RZE_MNEFREBFRE L=
Directors at the 2024 annual general meeting; BRAEFIREEH

—  seeked and nominated the newly appointed female executive — VEITREFRZEZAUERITE
Director; and ES 4

—  assessed the independence of all the independent non- — HEBEBMIIERITEEMNEILIE -

executive Directors.

Board Diversity Policy EEELUILBUR
The Board had adopted the Diversity Policy on 1 January 2019 whichis ZZ€C R -_Z—hLhE—A—BHENZ TR

H

° ZIILE kﬁﬂ%}zﬁﬁ AR A RER] -

posted on the website of the Company for public review.

When selecting the candidates for the Board, the Nomination Committee H“EHMEEEZ@HFEANT IR  REZZE €
will proceed from a range of diversity perspectives, including but not HEEZT/LEEHEE  BREETENMER - F
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional #% « Xt B EH S BE KRB K A E%%&
experiences, skills, knowledge and management experiences. The BEBHE E’Z&§$ﬂl BEABERERE
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected E’M&%”&E HenrEseRENER ﬁ'ﬁﬂim o
candidates will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the Diversity Policy in a timely IRZZE @B EWIBEHT AL TR NERA
manner to ensure that the Diversity Policy is effective. Z AL R R B R

For the implementation of the board diversity policy, the following HEHEEEZ LR EMS AT A ER
measurable objectives have been adopted: EEWEM

(@ in terms of professional background, the executive Directors have (a) WEBEEHSREF HITEFH BIEE e

more than ten years of experience in the clean energy industry R AHREESFTABEAHEBTFEUNLD
and Compliance management respectively. The occupational TR 3’% VIEMITESENIEY =
backgrounds and professional skills of the independent non- EEREAEEESHM BRE 27
executive Directors cover professional accountants, investment and EREFA EMETEREBB-_TF
financing and corporate management and have more than 20 years DA EM TIE& B

of experience in their industry;
(b) in terms of a regional perspective, the background of the Directors (b)) WMERHKE EETHSHEFEBNFE K

covers Hong Kong and Mainland China with different cultural BE-wRATREXEES:
backgrounds;
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(c)  Interms of gender, the Board members are composed of non single
gender, the gender has been diversified; and

(d) at least 1/3 of the Board members are independent non-executive
Directors.

The Nomination Committee believes that the current composition of the
Board is balanced and diversified with the high-calibre members from
different cultural backgrounds, gender, ages and possessing professional
expertise of various industries, which indicates that the Diversity Policy has
been well implemented.

The Board includes one female Director, and the Board will strive to retain
at least one female representative within the Board, and seize opportunities
to gradually increase the proportion of female members when suitable
candidates are identified. As at 31 December 2024, the employees (including
senior management) of the Group, the percentages of male employees and
female employees are 67.4% and 32.6% (the same period of 2023: 73%
and 27%), respectively. Considering the characteristics of the Company’s
industry, the Board considers that the Group’s workforce (including senior
management) is diverse in terms of gender. Further details for the diversity,
including the gender diversity, in the workforce during the Reporting Period
are set forth in the 2024 ESG Report of the Company which issued at the
same time of this report.

Practices and Conduct of Meetings

According to the CG Code, the board meeting should be held at least
four times a year at approximately quarterly interval. During the Reporting
Period, two Board meetings were held. The Company also sought the
approval of the Directors on relevant matters by circulating a written
resolution to replace the Board meeting. In addition, the Directors had
frequent communication with the management of the Company during the
year to discuss the overall operation and strategy of the Group, and actively
exchanged their views on the performance of the Group. As such, the
Directors are considered to be provided in a timely manner with appropriate
information to make informed decisions and perform their duties and
responsibilities.

The Directors can attend meetings in person or by means of such
telephone, electronic or other communication facilities so as to permit
all persons participating in the meeting to communicate with each other
simultaneously and instantaneously, and participation in such meeting shall
constitute presence in person at such meetings in accordance with Article
133 of the Articles of Association.
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The Board and Committees’ meeting schedule and the agenda of each
meeting are made available to Directors in advance. Notices of regular
Board meetings were served to all Directors at least 14 days before the
meetings. For all other Board and Committees’ meetings, reasonable
notices were given. Papers for Board meetings or Committees’ meetings
together with all relevant information are sent to all Directors or Committee
members at least three days before each meeting to enable them to make
informed decisions with adequate data.

All Directors will also be provided with sufficient resources to perform their
duties, and upon reasonable request, the Directors will be able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expense. All minutes of Board meetings will be recorded in
sufficient detail, including matters considered and decisions reached by the

Board.

Meetings held and Attendance

The Board held two Board meetings during the Reporting Period. The
composition of the Board and the Committees, the attendance records

of the Directors at the Board meetings, committees meetings and general
meetings during the Reporting Period are set out below:

Board
Name of Directors meeting
Exg
BEspns &3
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Wei Qiang Bos LA
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) (FEFTHBAEE) 2/2
Ms. Zou Yanhong PROLL
(Appointed with effect on (R=ZF=ZmF+=H
1 December 2024) —AEZ(FIERL) N/A T i A
Independent Non-executive Directors VEHITES
Dr. Han Qinchun BREEL 2/2
Mr. Wong, Yik Chung John BRALE 2/2
Mr. Feng Zhidong HEREE 2/2
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Upon their appointments, Directors are advised on the legal and other
duties and obligations they have as directors of a listed company. Each
newly appointed Director receives a comprehensive induction package
designed to enhance his/her knowledge and understanding of the Group’s
culture and operations. Discussion sessions with key management
personnel are also held. During the Reporting Period, Ms. Zou Yanhong,
the newly appointed executive Director, before her appointment became
effective, pursuant to rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules: (1) on 26 November
2024, she had obtained a legal opinion from Haiwen & Partners LLP, a firm
of solicitors qualified to advise on Hong Kong law, as regards all applicable
requirements under the Listing Rules that are applicable to her as a
director of a listed issuer and the possible consequences of making a false
declaration or giving false information to The Stock Exchange; and (2) she
had acknowledged that she understood her responsibilities as a director of
a listed company.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, we have arranged trainings
which were presented by professional firms to the Directors. Through the
course of their directorship, the company secretary of the Company also
from time to time updated and provided written training material relating to
the roles, functions and duties of a director and all the aforesaid Directors
studied such materials. All Directors are also encouraged to attend relevant
training courses at the Company’s expense.

We have maintained record of the continuous professional development
participated by the Directors. During the year ended 31 December 2024,
the current Directors received the following training with an emphasis on
the role, functions and responsibilities of directors of listed companies
through attending training sessions and reading materials:

Name of Directors

EEnE

Mr. Wei Qiang Bogk
Ms. Zou Yanhong BIwAT £+
Dr. Han Qinchun BREELT
Mr. Wong, Yik Chung John =EBKLE
Mr. Feng Zhidong BERTE
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AA R EE o
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EXERLETARESNAC B LBED
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Reading
materials/
regulatory Attending
updates/ training
monthly reports sessions
REMR
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The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Policy”) which can be  AAQF B RAIKEBR ([ZBE]) - ZBE AR
downloaded from the Company’s website. Subject to applicable laws, A2 RMEUA T3 - FEBAEE - ROIREROR
regulations and the Articles of Association, and depending on the financial R T~ @ R FAEBMNHHERBIUARZHEREE
performance of the Group and factors including but not limited to the (BEREEFTERANEENEEXRE BHERER
Group’s annual performance, cash flow performance, future financing IR KRAKFE TR - EAE AT H « K EHE
needs, major capital expenditures, business operating model, industrial I TTEERBE M AR TENERERE X
development trends, the Company’s development stage and strategic BB BIZIFN) EFT QA RE T RFERE
planning etc., the Board may propose and/or declare dividends during a %K/ SRS - MAEBE —HBEENIMAE
financial year, and any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to an  Hif% B 1§ = A B L iR B R ATIR -

ordinary resolution of the Shareholders.

The Board will review the Policy on a regular basis to ensure that the Policy ZEZ2# TR ZEHE  UWBRZBEERFTAE
is in line with market practice and supports the Company’s continuous T35 18l - I BE 32 35 AR D B 80 45 48 35 R B AE
development strategy.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the Group’'s ZZ=S@WAHBEASTRIFELTHRA - FBEEH
financial statements for each financial period, which give a true and fair  $622Z R AIEHIMFER T LERN S EL
view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and cash flows #REAEB S HBBNPTBHRE UEERQ
in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Listing Rules, the AR MRMAEBHNEBMRIALEE LIRS R
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and E - AR GHAERELRTMNERANFEELE
applicable accounting standard. The Company deploys appropriate and %R B - EHFEAREHE N T HEREE =
sufficient resources to prepare audited accounts. In preparing the financial &2 EBA BN S BET S/ — B ER -
statements for the Reporting Period, the Board has selected suitable {EHBER AL AEBENHE LG WiREFE
accounting policies and applied them consistently, made judgments and &EEEEGRUPERR - EEBEEM—U4
estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared the financial 2B &K NWFEHSH - LLRERNE B E E DL K #
statements on a going concern basis. The Directors are responsible for % R AR E & H A& BARD o b A AQ A
taking all reasonable and necessary steps to safeguard the assets of the A M EZEZE€2BRERMEAPAQRFNXRE R
Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities. In addition, K AT E &I E R »

the Company provides all members of the Board with monthly updates on

the Company’s performance, position and prospects.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events Z B T MERJEEHAEEFELENENE

or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to 4 &AM W E B S BN AT & X T 88 A
continue as a going concern. E
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Risk Management Structure

The Board is responsible for establishing and maintaining appropriate
and effective risk management and internal control system, and regularly
assessing and continuously supervising its effectiveness to safeguard
the overall interests of the Group and its Shareholders, and to foster the
sustainable development of the Group. However, the risk management and
internal control system formulated by the Group aims to manage, instead of
eliminate, all risks exposed to the Group. Such system cannot completely
eliminate inherent limitations such as unpredictable risks and events
beyond control (e.g. natural disasters, fraud and judgment errors), and
can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Group established an Enterprise Risk Management (the “ERM”)
framework to implement effective risk management. Our risk management
structure is simple and clear, with a defined scope of duties.

Board of Directors

As a body in charge of the Group’s risk management and internal control
system, the Board is responsible for the setting up of clear ERM framework
and risk management policies, aiming to assess and evaluate the business
strategies of the Group and its degree of risk tolerance. With the support of
the Audit Committee, whose authority has been delegated by the Board,
the Board constantly monitors the risk management and internal control
system of the Group, as well as conducts review as to its effectiveness at
least once year.

Audit Committee

As the highest body, second only to the Board, being responsible for
the risk management and internal control system, the Audit Committee
provides advice and support in respect of all risk matters, including on-
going monitoring of the implementation of risk management procedures,
reviewing the Group’s list of major risk exposures, reviewing and approving
the internal control review plans and results.

Management

The management of the Group is responsible for identifying and
continuously monitoring strategic, operational, financial, reporting and
compliance risks associated with the daily operations of the Group. The
management reports to the Board and the Audit Committee on relevant
risks and their changes. The management also designs, formulates and
implements various internal control measures to mitigate the risks, and
rectify internal control deficiencies they identified in a timely manner.
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Internal Audit Department and External Team

The Company has an internal audit department, which carried out the
analysis and independent appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems and directly
reported the review results to the Audit Committee. The auditor of the
Company is also able to communicate to the Audit Committee directly any
internal control issues they noticed during their audit process.

Risk Management Procedures

The Group has established the ERM framework so as to effectively manage
all kinds of risks exposed to the Group. The ERM framework defined
the procedures for identifying, assessing, responding to and monitoring
risks and their changes. Through regular discussions with each operating
function, the Group strengthened the understanding of risk management
so that all employees will understand and report the risks timely which
enhanced the Group’s ability to identify and manage risks.

In the course of risk identification, the management liaises with each
operating function, collects significant risk factors that affect the Group from
the bottom to the top, in various aspects including strategies, operational
and financial matters, reporting and compliances. After establishing risk
assessment scope, the management will assess the potential impact and
possibilities of the risks and prioritise the risks, and make appropriate
internal control measures are then developed to mitigate the risks identified
and monitor the changes of risks in an on-going manner.

Risk Management System

The Group’s risk management system is guided by the three lines of
defence:

The first line of defence — Maintain an effective internal
control system (operational level)

The Group has set up a Risk Management Executive Team, comprising
functional centres, various business departments and all staff. In the course
of their daily operations, the functional centres, business segments and
individuals execute the risk management strategies of the Group, gather
risks in a timely manner based on the changes in the business and give
the Risk Management Leading Team feedback on the risks. The Risk
Management Leading Team revises and optimizes the risk management
system to confine risk management of the Group to the first line of defence.
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The major strategies of risk management of the Group include: establish
clear internal control policies and procedures (including procedures
for addressing serious internal control deficiencies),
responsibilities, authorities and accountabilities of each key position;
establish code of conduct, convey to all employee the Group’s
requirements on integrity and ethic; establish whistle blowing mechanism,
encourage employees to report incidents of misconduct or fraud; establish
appropriate level of information technology assess rights, avoid leakage
of price sensitive information; and establish inside information disclosure
policy, including reporting channels and responsible person of disclosure,
unified response to external enquiries and obtain advice from professional
financial advisors or the Stock Exchange, if necessary.

clearly define the

The second line of defence — On-going risk monitoring (risk
management level)

The Group has set up a Risk Management Leading Team, comprising the
president, the vice-president and the directors of different centres. The Risk
Management Leading Team based on risk management framework and
risk management policies established by the Board designs, implements
and supervises the risk management system to identify, communicate and
assess the significant risks for the Group, and liaise with each operating
function and collect significant risk information that affects the Group from
the bottom to the top and continually monitors changes in risks.

The Group has established a risk register to record the risks identified, the
management will regularly assess the potential impact and possibilities of
each major risk and formulate relevant internal control measures.

The third line of defence — Annual review (Board level)
The Board and the Audit Committee under the Board, which make up
the third line of defence, are responsible for assessing and determining
the nature and level of risks the Group is wiling to take in achieving its
strategic objectives, ensuring that the Group establishes and maintains
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems,
and supervising the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems on an ongoing basis.

During the Reporting Period, the internal audit department of the Company
has completed the analysis and independent appraisal of the adequacy
and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems for the Reporting Period and has reported the review results to the
Audit Committee.
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Through the Audit Committee and the internal audit team, the Board has ZEBEEBEZZE LA ANBBEZEG EFgE Y
conducted an annual review on the effectiveness of risk managementand A&SEBEHE-—T-_NF+_-_A=+—HBIFE
internal control systems of the Group for the year ended 31 December BV E G & I8 & A S 44| E N B WL ETEE
2024. The Board has considered the adequacy of resources, staff Hiz-EFC@ERTAREE L NIPELREF
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the B E&ZEE S NI FZ - B % 1E R AL
accounting, internal audit, financial reporting functions as well as those 3R - HE€ R EARKRBINERMBENER BT
relating to the issuer's ESG performance and reporting when reviewing risk ~ EBEN&H U N ETHMESIHNEBEIRE LS
management and internal control procedures. AEERSE M-

Based on the results of the internal control review for the year ended 31 REHZ T -_MNMF+ - A=+—HIFEH
December 2024 and the assessment of the Audit Committee thereon, no R EXEHNEENERZTE e HERNT
significant deficiency in risk management and internal controls systems are  f& * RERREREE M ANHDETRZEFTEE KR
noted. The Board therefore is satisfied that appropriate and effective risk & - Eitt EEF@EMHE ST _MFE+ - A
management and internal control systems have been maintained for the =+—BIIFE#BFEELERORAKBREE N

year ended 31 December 2024.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Risks and uncertainties involved in the business operations of the Group
may affect the Group’s financial conditions or growth prospects. In dealing
with these risk factors and uncertainties, the Group focuses on the control
of risks and uncertainties with the aim of understanding and addressing
the concerns of stakeholders. Such factors are by no means exhaustive or
comprehensive, and there may be other risks in addition to those shown
below which are not known to the Group or which may not be material now

but could turn out to be material in the future.

The key risks and uncertainties affecting the Group for 2024 are

summarized below.

Industry and Policy Risk
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The Group’s smart energy business and public infrastructure construction AEBME B BESUL A AEEREB IR
business are all located in the PRC. Performance of the Company’s R HEIER - B BT H 52 ﬁé TREIE - 7
principal businesses will also be significantly affected by the government’s B ~ F1Z H) 7 8 MR & BT & o + 89 48 2
policy in respect of clean energy, the extent of subsidy and adjustments, KW HEEZSHEEAMPFERR AN T L E
as well as the planning and storage progress of local land by the Baoding 7 XRIR - AL B REEER HE ZE & B R
Government. If the Group fails to grasp and judge macroeconomic and RBEMEE  RFFAREERE mJps
national policy changes, and adjust its operational strategies in time, the ANEBMSEEBMERKBAZTHEIRR -
achievement of the Group’s business performance and business objectives

may be affected.

Countermeasures: JE S5 s

. the management continued to focus on the overall economic and EREEREHITERBCEREERRE
industrial policy changes and conducted analysis, research and B HREBERKERDS BNBREREER
prediction of macro-economic conditions, government policies and KETON - PMERANER AREBEITER

industrial policies and timely adjust business development strategies BREIRHAREBEREE -

according to the industry and policy changes.
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Capital Risk

The Group cannot guarantee that it can recover its trade and other
receivables and the external investment funds of the Group in time and in
full. The Group’s profit and cash flow may therefore be significantly and
adversely affected.

Countermeasures:

° strengthened the overall management of funds, specified the
standards for each cost and expense item and strengthened budget
management during the daily operational management process; and

° established the collection mechanism of receivables to follow up
the recovery progress of trade and other receivables and external
investment funds in a timely manner, and, when necessary, took
measures such as litigation and preservation to recover the funds.

Intensifying Market Competition Risk

Under the development background of the new era of energy
transformation and energy security construction, more and more
enterprises enter the new energy industry to participate in the business
layout, and the market competition is becoming increasingly fierce, which
may have a certain impact on the Group’s market share and profitability,
and further affect the business performance of the Group.

Countermeasure:

° Continue to pay attention to the industry development momentum
and development trends, timely adjust our business development
strategy.

Risk Arising From An Extreme Climate

Typhoon, hail and flood disasters caused by heavy rainfall may lead to
damage to components, increase the risk of operation and maintenance
and inspection, and cause safety accidents in serious cases to endanger
the safety of employees or surrounding communities. Abnormal rainy
weather affects the electricity generation, and then affects the sales amount
of electricity and revenue from power generation. At the same time, the
extreme high temperature weather and temperature rise significantly,
which is prone to fire and also increases the risk of heat stroke for outdoor
workers.
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Countermeasures:

° Establish an emergency management mechanism and formulate
emergency plans for possible emergencies caused by typhoon,
hail and flood disasters, organize targeted safety inspection and
reinforcement measures focusing on wind prevention and flood
control;

° Accurately evaluate and calculate insurance types based on years of
accidental operation and maintenance failure data, purchase relevant
insurance for power plants, and transfer risks and damages that may
be caused by extreme weather;

° Conduct 24-hour real-time monitoring through the centralized
operation and maintenance platform, effectively identify the abnormal
conditions, improve operation and maintenance efficiency, and
reduce the impact of abnormal rainy weather on power generation;
and

° Implement high temperature operation specification requirements
in high temperature weather, ensure the health of employees by
adjusting operation arrangements, controlling outdoor operation
hours, ensuring adequate rest and distributing heat cooling items
and health care products.

The Company has established an inside information policy which contains
the guidelines to the Directors, officers and all relevant employees (likely
possessing the unpublished inside information) of the Group to ensure that
the inside information of the Group is to be disseminated to public in equal
and timely manner in accordance with the applicable laws and regulation.

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining a corporate
culture of openness, probity and accountability. Apart from setting up “Anti-
Fraud, Anti-Corruption and Anti-Bribery Policy”, a “Whistleblowing Policy” is
also in place to create a system for the employees and business partners to
report to the Audit Committee and the Board about possible improprieties
relating to the Group. The identity of whistleblowers will be treated with the
strictest confidence.
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Ms. Zou Yanhong (“Ms. Zou”) is the company secretary of the Company.
Ms. Zou is an executive Director and the director of securities affairs
department of the Company, and is also responsible for advising the Board
on corporate governance matters and ensuring that the Board policy and
procedures, and the applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, Ms. Zou has undertaken not less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training respectively in compliance
with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

The Company endeavours to develop and maintain continuing relationships
and effective communications with its Shareholders and investors. In an
effort to facilitate and enhance the relationships and communication, the
Company has established a shareholders communication policy. The Board
has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of such policy during
the Reporting Period and considered that it is sufficient and effective.

The Company has established the following channels for maintaining an
on-going dialogue with its Shareholders:

i) the annual general meeting provides a forum for the Shareholders
of the Company to raise comments and exchange views with the
Board. The Directors are available at the annual general meetings of
the Company to address Shareholders’ queries;

(ii) interim and annual results are announced as early as possible, to
keep the Shareholders of the Company informed of the Group’s
performance and operations;

(i) Periodic announcements are made through the Stock Exchange and
published on the website of the Stock Exchange www.hkexnews.hk
and the website of the Company www.xindaholdings.com (before 28
March 2025, the website was www.longitech.hk);

(iv)  the Company maintains a website, where updated key information/
news of the Group is available for public access; and

(v)  Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns
with sufficient contact details to the Board by post at Room 1231,
12/F., China Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wan Chai, Hong
Kong for the attention of the Company Secretary or by email at
investor@longitech.hk.
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To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution is
proposed for each issue at Shareholder meetings, including the election of
individual directors.

At any general meetings, a resolution put to vote of the meeting shall be
decided by way of a poll except where a show of hands is allowed under
the Listing Rules and the results of voting by poll will be declared at the
meeting and published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company respectively pursuant to the Listing Rules. At the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 31 May 2024, all resolutions, including the
approval of the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company
and the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023, were passed by poll
by the Shareholders.

Convening of extraordinary general meeting and
putting forward proposals

Shareholders may put forward proposals for consideration at a general
meeting according to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws
of Hong Kong) and the Articles of Association of the Company. According
to Article 64 of the Articles of Association of the Company, extraordinary
general meetings shall also be convened on the requisition of one or more
Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than
one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting
at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board
or the company secretary of the Company for the purpose of requiring an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction
of any business specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held
within 2 months after the deposit of such requisition.

As regards proposing a person for election as a director, Article 113 of the
Articles of Association of the Company stipulates that no person, other than
a retiring Director, shall, unless recommended by the Board for election,
be eligible for election to the office of Director at any general meeting,
unless notice in writing of the intention to propose that person for election
as a Director and notice in writing by that person of his willingness to be
elected shall have been lodged at the Head Office or at the Registration
Office. The period for lodgment of the notices required under the Articles
of Association will commence no earlier than the day after the despatch
of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and end
no later than seven days prior to the date of such general meeting and the
minimum length of the period during which such notices to the Company
may be given will be at least seven days. The procedures for Shareholders
to propose a person for election as a director are available on the website
of the Company.

During the Reporting Period, there are no any changes to the Articles of
Association of the Company.
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Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

BEE © +852 2218 8288
+852 2815 2239

BH:

25t Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong

FEBTHEER11158
Tk ZF2548

www.bdo.com.hk

To the Shareholders of Xinda Investment Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Xinda Investment
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”)
set out on pages 73 to 167, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2024 and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting
Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (‘IFRS
Accounting Standards”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the “Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants’ “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, FHEFETERBERFANEEHE R A4
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial AHEGABBHRENBEAZRAEENETHE &
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the LEBERARMEBEA BEGAVBHRELEA
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, = BB EITEIEN - BT € ¥ 5t EEIEH
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate EEMER o

opinion on these matters.

Impairment losses on trade receivables ESZEWRENREEE

F2MRA M B mARME27 -

p=[l13

Refer to Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2024, the gross carrying amount of trade receivables RZ-ZZ - F+=-_A=+—H B ZEKRKE
amounted to approximately RMB472,896,000, with loss allowance #)8RH 4 E 4 A A R #472,896,0007T © E &2
amounting to approximately RMB252,466,000. RSB B X B A R #252,466,000 7T °

The Group assesses expected credit loss allowances (‘ECL”) of trade &5BEIRFEEHEWAZNIERBER MO ZIE
receivables based on credit risk exposure and expected credit loss rates. HAE BB AR FIALBEHEMBR((FEHERIE
The Group assesses the expected credit losses on a forward-looking basis. %)) » B BRI IE B E T (EHEHEHE
When measuring expected credit losses, the Group considers historical k- £t EFBEEFAEXK - SE£EEZEFESL
loss rates, current market conditions and reasonable and supportable 1EA R ZRIHBMR A EATAMNAEREAEAX
forwarding-looking information that is available, including economic #HFMMAEET  BELERR  ZELEEE
condition, macroeconomic information, industry risks and changes in  ®t - {TERER L EE AR ELSE -

debtors’ conditions.

Assessment on the impairment losses on trade receivables are performed # & 5 EWHRIEHAEAEENTH I HEEE
by the management. In carrying out impairment assessment of trade H e~ EFEHAEHIBRER NETEZ S EWFHIA
receivables under the ECL model, significant management judgement was JHEF G - EEECEL & X HE A B FE 48
used to determine the underlying estimates. B o
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Impairment losses on trade receivables (Continued)

Our response
Our audit procedures included:

o Ascertaining our understanding on the policy and operating
effectiveness on internal controls which oversee credit control, debt
collection and estimate of expected credit loss;

° Assessing on a sample basis, whether items in the trade receivables
aging report were classified within the appropriate aging bracket by
comparing individual items in the report with relevant sales invoices;

o Assessing the appropriateness of the key input data, on a sample
basis, used by management to develop the historical loss rates and
assessing the sufficiency, reliability and relevance of that data;

o Involving an auditor’s expert to assist us in evaluating and assessing
the appropriateness of the assessment methodologies and the
reasonableness of the key assumptions and estimations used in the
assessment; and

o Discussing with management about the recoverability status of
material overdue balances and assess whether provision is required.

Impairment losses on other financial assets
measured at amortised cost

Refer to Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2024, the gross carrying amount of other financial
assets measured at amortised cost amounted to approximately
RMB24,030,000, with loss allowance amounting to approximately
RMB24,030,000.

The Group took into account reasonable and substantiated historical
data such as principal and interest payment schedule, ageing, repayment
history, financial information of the counterparties, and available forward-
looking information to determine whether the credit risk has significantly
increased since initial recognition and to estimate expected credit losses.
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Impairment losses on other financial assets
measured at amortised cost (Continued)

Assessment on the impairment losses on other financial assets measured
at amortised cost are performed by the management. In carrying out
impairment assessment of other financial assets measured at amortised
cost under the ECL model, significant management judgement was used
to determine the underlying estimates.

Our response
Our audit procedures included:

o Ascertaining our understanding on relevant controls in place on
granting loans to third parties and on management’s assessment
on the recoverability of other financial assets measured at amortised
cost;

° Checking the aging analysis, on a sample basis, against repayment
terms set out on loan agreements of the loan receivables, on a
sample basis, to the source documents, including bank statements;

o Assessing the appropriateness of the key input data, on a sample
basis, used by management to develop the historical loss rates and
assessing the sufficiency, reliability and relevance of that data;

o Involving an auditor’s expert to assist us in evaluating and assessing
the appropriateness of the assessment methodologies and the
reasonableness of the key assumptions and estimations used in the
assessment; and

° Evaluating the historical accuracy of the management’s assessment
of impairment for loan receivables, on a sample basis, by examining
the actual write-offs, the reversal of previous recorded allowance
and new allowances recorded in the current year in respect of loan
receivables at the end of the previous financial year.
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The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
IFRS Accounting Standards and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging
their responsibility in this regard.
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Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’'s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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o conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

o evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on
the group financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the work performed for the purposes of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits
of such communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants
Lam Tsz Ka

Practising Certificate no. PO6838

Hong Kong, 27 March 2025
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Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit
Selling and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses

Impairment losses on non-financial assets
(Impairment losses)/reversal of impairment

losses on financial assets
Other income
Other gains — net

Operating loss

Finance income
Finance expenses

Finance expenses — net

Share of net profit of associates accounted

for using the equity method

Loss before income tax

Income tax credit

Loss for the year

Loss for the year is attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Loss per share for loss attributable to
owners of the Company (RMB):

Basic

Diluted

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ=—Z —NF+=—HA=+—HILFE

2024 2023

—E-mE —F-=F

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

B 7 ARE T ARET T

g = 6(a) 114,231 114,030

55 A A 7 (83,579) (89,176)

EX 30,652 24,854

HERDHEAX (176) (219

THEX (16,877) (20,937)

IeMEEMRERIE 7 (33,322 (58,794)
TREENCRERE),

BB 1B O 9 (18,653) 5,012
E g A 10 107 131
H it I 255 58 11 1,511 1,654
BEEHE (36,758) (48,299)
B E WA 12 3,823 3,304
AR 12 (9,376) (9,884)
BMERAZ FRE 12 (5,553) (6,580)
HRAEREAERENRE

NSRRI 22 — 30,520
BRETS B ATE 8 (42,311) (24,359)
Fris i % 13 1,383 3,958
FREE (40,928) (20,401)
UTEGMRFRERS:

KARHEE A (24,418) (18,179)
FEEE = (16,510) (2,222)

(40,928) (20,401)
AR EEANELEEFEN

BREB(AR®E):

EHK 14 (0.0164) (0.0122)
B 14 (0.0164) (0.0122)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE T —WF+ A =+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-NE =4
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETT

Loss for the year FREE (40,928) (20,401)
Other comprehensive income Hit2mE K=

Item that may be reclassified subsequently to  FE1Z AJBEE T » B = 8z H)E H

profit or loss
Exchange differences on translation of REGINEBTBERRMEED
financial statements of foreign operations PEH =58 (2,492) 5,516

Other comprehensive income for the year, FREMEEWE @ LHNRHTIE
net of tax (2,492) 5,516

Total comprehensive income fortheyear FRZHEWEEEE (43,420) (14,885)

Total comprehensive income fortheyear L TEGFRZHEINIEAE

attributable to:
Owners of the Company ZN/NISIE F SN (26,910) (12,663)
Non-controlling interests FE 12 AR = (16,510) (2,222)

(43,420) (14,885)
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Assets

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Right-of-use assets

Intangible assets

Investment properties

Deferred tax assets

Investments accounted for using
the equity method

Deposits

Other non-current assets

Total non-current assets

Current assets

Inventories

Contract assets

Trade and other receivables

Other financial assets measured at
amortised cost

Restricted cash

Time deposits with original maturity
over three months

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

Total assets

Equity and liabilities
Share capital
Reserves
Accumulated losses

Equity attributable to owners of
the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total equity

BE

FRBEE

EN N
EREEE

BVEE

BEME
RN IR E E
RAEZEARNKRE

BrE
HMERBEE

FRBEERE

REBEE

T8

BREE

B 5 K W kIR
RBHER AT ERNE M
ERMEE
XRHRE
REHREBEB=EAN
E B 17
ReLReFEY

RBEERE
EEHRHE

EERkAE

P A

1

Rt

RARER AEGES

FERER

EEARE

As at 31 December 2024 W—Z—MF&+—-H=+—H

Notes

B &£

15
16
17
18
19

22
27
25

26
20
27

24
28

29
30

2024
—EF-_mEF
RMB’000
ARBTR

284,692
12,566
64,861

5,194
3,593

23,570
9,058

403,534

2,954
171,215
269,477

1,885

177,934
41,649

665,114

1,068,648

12,255
1,151,125
(342,185)

821,195
(13,202)

807,993

BERERRERAT £52024 (D

2023
e
RMB’000
AREET T

341,541
14,121
67,441

5,355
3,245

23,570
9,063

464,336

4,864
184,360
255,288

38

227,705

672,255

1,136,591

12,255
1,152,005
(316,155)

848,105
3,308

851,413



2024 2023

—EMME T

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

B 7 ARE T ARET T
Liabilities a8&
Non-current liabilities FFRBaE
Borrowings BE 32 90,600 133,600
Lease liabilities HERE 16 11,913 10,485
Deferred government grants i JE BRAS 7 B 1,745 1,852
Deferred tax liabilities FEERTBEE 19 15,015 15,783
Contract liabilities AHasE 20 19,732 20,451
Total non-current liabilities FRBEEETE 139,005 182,171
Current liabilities ReaE
Trade and other payables B 5 REMENRIE 33 58,070 52,705
Contract liabilities AEHaE 20 7,944 8,902
Current tax liabilities BEER TE B (& 11,750 11,732
Borrowings BEE 32 43,000 26,900
Lease liabilities HEAE 16 886 2,768
Total current liabilities REBAEAE 121,650 103,007
Total liabilities EEHE 260,655 285,178
Total equity and liabilities EEREBEHAE 1,068,648 1,136,591

The financial statements on pages 73 to 167 were approved by the Board 738 EZF167BEFEHERER ST - EFE=
AZt+tH&ESgifE THTINESKE

A

22

of Directors on 27 March 2025 and were signed on its behalf

Wei Qiang Zou Yanhong
Y AT
Director Director
= Bz
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z - —WMFE+_—_A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RARERAER
Share-based Non-
Share Share  Statutory compensation Exchange Other  Accumulated controlling
capital  premium  reserve reserve  reserve  reserve losses Total interests Total equity
MR X A4
RE&  BROEE EERf aAMEE ERHE HtHE  RHER mi FEREE  AER
RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETR AR¥TR AR%Tn AR%TR AR¥TR ARETR AR% TR AR¥TR ARETR
At 1 January 2023 WZBZ=5-F—-H 12,255 1,090,355 42,483 360 7478 4,187 (296,350) 860,768 5530 866,298
Comprehensiveincome 2 Wiz
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - - (18,179)  (18,179) (2222 (20401)
Other comprehensive income  E 1 2 A1t 5 - - - - 5516 - - 5516 - 5516
Total comprehensive income 2 T W 3 # 5 - - - - 5516 - (18179)  (12,669) (2222 (14,885)
Appropriation to statutory B E AT F S
resenves - - 1,626 - - - (1,626) - - -
- - 1,626 - - - (1,626) - - -
Balance at 31 December 2023 W=ZE-=%+=H
and 1 January 2024 =t-BR=-B-mE
-B-B&H 12,255 1,090,355 44,109 360 12,994 4,187 (316,155) 848,105 3308 851,413
Comprehensive income 2EUE
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - - (24418 (24418  (16510)  (40,928)
Other comprehensive income £ {62 B i - - - - (2,492) - - (2,492) - (2,492)
Total comprehensive income 2 T W # 4 8 - - - - (2,492) - (24,418 (26910)  (16,510)  (43,420)
Appropriation to statutory ~ B EE T H
reserves - - 1,612 - - - (1,612 - - -
= = 1,612 = = = (1,612) = = =
Balance at 31 December 204 R=Z=M#f+=f
St-REH 12,255 1,090,355 45,721 360 10,502 4,187 (342,185) 821,195  (13,202) 807,993
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE—Z &+ - A=+—HILFE

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations
Interest received

Income tax refunded

Net cash generated from
operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for property, plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant

and equipment
Repayment of loans by third parties
(Injection of)/release of restricted cash
Placement of time deposits with
original maturity over three months
Dividend received from an associate

Net cash (used in)/generated from
investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of borrowings

Interest paid

Principal elements of lease payments
Funds received from related parties
Repayment of funds to related parties

Net cash used in financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of year

Exchange gains on cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents
at the end of year

RETHFBRETRE
REMBRE

Y BR AILE

R EIFFEH

RETHFEBREFE

REFBFBETRE
RE - BE MR A
KA

HEME  BER&RE
PIT 15 7R IR
FE=ZFEEER
CEN)/BBREZRERS
FHRRIMER=EA
VA b HTE BRI SR

S — R E QR RS

REED (A FERE

BE

METHFAERERE
BEEE

SAHLE
HEMNRES D
BEBETEBRNES
BEEBBHINER

METHATAREFE

RERREEEY
(Rl 4), /48 i % 88

REPHRE MRS
HEY
RehReFEWER
W s

RERHNRERAS
ZEY
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Notes

B &£

35(a)
12

29

35(b)

30

2024
—
RMB’000
ARBTR

25,786
3,823
285

29,894

(195)

8,621
(1,847)

(177,934)

(171,355)

(26,900)
(9,376)
(3,599)

(2,914)

(42,789)

(184,250)

227,705

(1,806)

41,649

2023
e
RMB’000
AREET T

13,818
3,304
995

18,117

(1,272)
208

929
7,779

30,520

38,164

(25,800)
(9,884)
(729)
661
(1,172)

(36,924)

19,357

205,381

2,967

227,705



For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z =T —NWF+-_A=+—HIEFE

Xinda Investment Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands on 4 January 2011 as an exempted company
with limited liability under the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3
of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The
address of its registered office is Windward 3, Regatta Office Park,
PO Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, the Cayman Islands. The
Company’s shares were listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 12 January 2012.

The Company and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are
principally engaged in smart energy business and public infrastructure
construction business. For this reporting period, two major
shareholders of the Company are Harvest Oak Holdings Limited and
Lightway Power Holdings Limited. The ultimate beneficial owner of
the Company is Mr. Wei Shaojun (the “Controlling Shareholder”).

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with all International Financial Reporting
Standards and International Accounting Standards as issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and
Interpretations (collectively “IFRS Accounting Standards”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
historical cost basis.

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”).
As the Group’s operations are principally conducted in the PRC,
the consolidated financial statements have been presented in the
Chinese Renminbi (‘RMB”) rather than its functional currency of HK$.

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS
Accounting Standards requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The
areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements are disclosed in Note 5.

EEREAERAERAAITARAD R
E-—F-AHBEREBERA=HEQRAE
(BRE)(—NAN—FEIRED - &4
ek EREHETMKRIAERE
B R A A e 5Tt 9 = 5 H# 4k A Windward
3, Regatta Office Park, PO Box 1350, Grand
Cayman KY1-1108, the Cayman lIslands ° ZX
RARHBEZE—ZZF—AT_BERER
BEAEXGMBERAAER Lo

ARRAREWBAR(EBIAER] *
xfiﬁ%*”é RREBRAEEREK-
REABEEMS  ARAAMBEERR
AHarvest Oak Holdings Limited X Lightway
Power Holdings Limited ° KR Bl M) R L E &=
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2.1 New standards, interpretations and
amendments adopted by the Group

The Group has adopted all the new amendments which are effective
for the Group’s accounting period beginning on or after 1 January
2024 throughout the year ended 31 December 2024.

Amendments to IAS 7 & Supplier Finance Arrangements
IFRS 7
Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current
Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

None of these new amendments have a material impact on the
Group’s results and financial position for the current or prior period
except as described below.

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current and Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(Amendments to IAS 1)

The IASB issued amendments to IAS 1 in January 2020 Classification
of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and subsequently, in October
2022 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants.

The amendments clarify the following:

o An entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability for at least
twelve months after the reporting period must have substance
and must exist at the end of the reporting period.

o If an entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability is subject to
covenants, such covenants affect whether that right exists at
the end of the reporting period only if the entity is required to
comply with the covenant on or before the end of the reporting
period.

° The classification of a liability as current or non-current is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right
to defer settlement.

o In case of a liability that can be settled, at the option of
the counterparty, by the transfer of the entity’s own equity
instruments, such settlement terms do not affect the
classification of the liability as current or non-current only if the
option is classified as an equity instrument.
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2.1 New standards, interpretations and
amendments adopted by the Group
(Continued)

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
Current and Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(Amendments to IAS 1) (Continued)

As a result of the adoption of the amendments to IAS 1, the
amendments have no effect on the measurement of any items in
the consolidated financial statements of the Group. However, the
classification of the liability for the bank borrowings amounting to
RMB17,900,000 has been changed from non-current to current as
at 31 December 2024. Refer to Note 32(e) for further details. No
retrospective adjustment is necessary as a result of adopting the
amendments to IAS 1.

2.2 New standards, interpretations and
amendments not yet effective

The following published new standards and amendments to
standards are not mandatory for 31 December 2024 reporting
periods and have not been early adopted by the Group:

Amendments to IAS 21 and  Lack of Exchangeability'
IFRS 1

Amendments to IFRS 9
and IFRS 7

Amendments to the Classification
and Measurement of Financial
Instruments®

Amendments to IFRS 9 and  Contracts Referencing Nature-

IFRS 7 dependent Electricity?

Amendments to IFRS
Accounting Standards

Annual Improvements to IFRS
Accounting Standards — Volume
112

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in

Financial Statements®

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027

Except for the adoption of IFRS 18 stated below, these amendments
to standards are not expected to have a material impact on the
Group in the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable
future transactions.
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2.2 New standards, interpretations and
amendments not yet effective (Continued)

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements, which
was issued in April 2024 supersedes IAS 1 and will result in major
consequential amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards including
IAS 8 Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements (renamed from
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors).
Even though IFRS 18 will not have any effect on the recognition
and measurement of items in the consolidated financial statements,
it is expected to have a significant effect on the presentation and
disclosure of certain items. These changes include categorisation
and sub-totals in the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
aggregation/disaggregation and labelling of information, and
disclosure of management-defined performance measures.

3.1 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting

3.1.1 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity where the Group is exposed to, or has
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the
relevant activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated
from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on
transactions between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting policies
of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are
shown separately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity
and statement of financial position, respectively.
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3.1 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)

3.1.2 Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant
influence but not control or joint control. This is generally the case
where the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method
of accounting (Note 3.1.3), after initially being recognised at cost.

3.1.3 Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially
recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s
share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in profit
or loss, and the Group’s share of movements in other comprehensive
income of the investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends
received or receivable from associates are recognised as a reduction
in the carrying amount of the investment.

Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted
investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity, including
any other unsecured long-term receivables, the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the other entity.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is tested for
impairment in accordance with the policy described in Note 3.7.

3.2 Foreign currency translation

3.2.1 Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at year-end exchange
rates are generally recognised in profit or loss.

All foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss on a net basis within other
gains/(losses).
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3.2 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

3.2.2 Group companies

The results and financial position of a group entity that have a
functional currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

o assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position
presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that
statement of financial position,

o income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss and
statement of comprehensive income are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable approximation
of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which
case income and expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions), and

° all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

3.3 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, if any. Cost includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during
the reporting period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their cost, net of their residual values, over their estimated useful lives
as follows:

Buildings 20 years
Plant and machinery 5-25 years
Motor vehicles 5-10 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3-5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with carrying amount and included in profit or loss.
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3.4 Intangible assets
3.4.1 Goodwill

Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible
assets. Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment
losses.

3.4.2 Software

Acquired computer software is stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses, if any. Cost includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Costs
associated with maintaining software programmes are recognised as
an expense as incurred.

3.4.3 Service concession agreement

The Group has entered into contractual service arrangement with
local government authorities for its participation in the construction,
operation and management of heat supply services in the
People Republic of China (the “PRC”). The Group carries out the
construction of pipeline connection for the granting authorities and
receives in exchange for the right to operate the heat supply services
concerned and the entitlement to provision of heat service fees
collected from users of the concession infrastructure.

The Group recognises an intangible asset arising from a service
concession arrangement when it has a right to charge for use of
the concession infrastructure. The concession grantor has not
provided any contractual guarantee in respect of the amounts of
construction costs incurred to be recoverable. Intangible assets
received as consideration for providing construction work and project
management services in a service concession arrangement are
measured at fair value upon initial recognition with reference to the
fair value of the services provide. Subsequent to initial recognition,
the intangible asset is measured at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses (see Note 3.7).
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3.4 Intangible assets (Continued)

3.4.3 Service concession agreement (Continued)
Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost of the intangible asset
arising from a service concession arrangement on a unit of usage
basis over the estimated useful life, which is the period when it is
available for use to the end of the concession period.

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed annually.

3.4.4 Amortisation methods and periods
The Group amortises intangible assets with a limited useful life using
the straight-line method over the following periods:

Software 5 years
Service concession agreement 25 years

3.5 Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises revenue
before being unconditionally entitled to the consideration under the
payment terms set out in the contract. Contract assets are assessed
for ECL in accordance with the policy set out in Note 3.9 and are
reclassified to receivables when the right to the consideration has
become unconditional.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue.
A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised. For a single contract with
the customer, either a net contract asset or a net contract liability
is presented. For multiple contracts, contract assets and contract
liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.
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3.6 Investment properties

Investment property is accounted for using the cost model and is
carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment loss. (see
Note 3.7)

Investment property is depreciated using the straight-line method
over its estimated useful life of 28 to 40 years, after taking into
account its estimated residual value.

3.7 Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill are tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be
impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent
of the cash inflows from other assets or cash-generating units (CGUs).
Specially, goodwill is allocated to CGUs for impairment testing.
The allocation is made to those CGUs or groups of CGUs that are
expected to benefit from the business combination in which the
goodwill arose. The CGUs or groups of CGUs are identified at the
lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes, being the operating segments. Non-financial assets other
than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting period.
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3.8 Financial assets

Trade receivable without a significant financing component is initially
measured at transaction price. All other financial asset including other
receivables is initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs.

Trade receivable and other financing assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. The gross carrying amount is reduced
by impairment loss. Interest income on financial assets is calculated
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset when the asset is not credit-impaired. For credit-
impaired financial assets, the effective interest rate is applied to the
net carrying amount of the financial asset (i.e. after deduction of
the loss allowance). Interest income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the effective interest method.

3.9 Impairment of financial and contract
assets

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit
losses associated with its financial assets measured at amortised
cost and contract assets. The impairment methodology applied
depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk.

The Group has three types of financial assets that are subject to the
expected credit loss model:

o trade and other receivables,

° contract assets relating to public infrastructure construction
business, and

° other financial assets measured at amortised cost
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3.9 Impairment on financial and contract
assets (continued)

While cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and time deposits
with original maturity over three months are also subject to the
impairment requirements of IFRS 9, the identified impairment loss
was immaterial.

Impairment losses on financial assets and contract assets are
presented as net impairment losses within operating profit.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited
against the same line item. Financial assets are written off where
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there
is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others,
the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group.

() Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring
expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance
for trade receivables and contract assets. The contract assets relate
to unbilled work in progress. To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables and contract assets have been grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics and ageing, assessed collectively or
individually for likelihood of recovery.

(i) Other financial assets measured at amortised
cost and other receivables

Impairment on the Group’s other financial assets measured at

amortised cost and other receivable is measured as either 12

months’ expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit losses,

depending on whether there has been a significant increase in credit

risk since initial recognition.
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3.9 Impairment on financial and contract
assets (continued)

(i) Other financial assets measured at amortised
cost and other receivables (Continued)

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition and when measuring
ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This
includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis,
but not limited to external ratings, audited financial statements,
management accounts and cash flow projections and available press
information about customers, and based on the Group’s historical
experience and informed credit assessment, that includes forward-
looking information. In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit
risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.
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3.9 Impairment on financial and contract
assets (continued)

(i) Other financial assets measured at amortised
cost and other receivables (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly if it is more than 180 days past due. Financial assets
are considered to be low credit risk where they have a low risk of
default and the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flows obligations in the near term. The Group rebutted the
presumption of increase in credit risk under ECL model for certain
other financial assets measured at amortised cost over 30 days
past due as the Group consider the repayment schedule is highly
correlated to the progress of the investment projects rather than the
past due date. The Group rebutted the presumption of increase in
credit risk under ECL model for these other receivables over 30 days
past due based on the continuous business relationship with those
debtors.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when the
debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full,
without recourse by the Group to actions such as realising security
(if any is held); or the financial asset is more than 365 days past due.
A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes (j) significant financial difficulty of the debtor; (ii)
a breach of contract such as a default or being more than 365 days
past due; (i) the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on
terms that the Group would not consider otherwise; (iv) it is probable
that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
or the disappearance of an active market for a security because of
financial difficulties. The Group rebutted the presumption of default
under ECL model for certain other financial assets measured at
amortised cost over 90 days past due as the Group consider the
repayment schedule is highly correlated to the progress of the
investment projects rather than the past due date. The Group
rebutted the presumption of default under ECL model for these other
receivables over 90 days past due based on the continuous business
relationship with those debtors.
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3.9 Impairment on financial and contract
assets (continued)

(i) Other financial assets measured at amortised
cost and other receivables (Continued)

Quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s loss allowance

for contract assets, trade and other receivables and other financial

assets measured at amortised cost as at 31 December 2024 are

disclosed in Notes 20, 27 and 24, respectively.

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is
no realistic prospect of recovery. Financial assets written off may
still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. Any
recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

3.10 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Costs of purchased inventory are determined after deducting rebates
and discounts. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs necessary
to make the sale.

3.11 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity
as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

3.12 Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities, including trade and other payables and borrowings
are recognised initially at their fair value net of transaction cost
incurred and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. Interest expense (unless they are eligible
for capitalisation) is included in finance expenses using the effective
interest method.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in
the contract is discharged.
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3.13 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable
on the current period’s taxable income based on the applicable
income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred
tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to
unused tax losses. Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is
also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

3.13.1 Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax
laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period in the countries where the entity operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax
returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate
on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a
legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

3.132 Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those
temporary differences and losses. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially
enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply
when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred
income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally
enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and where
the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.
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3.14 Employee benefits

3.14.1 Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits
and accumulating sick leave that are expected to be settled wholly
within 12 months after the end of the reporting period in which the
employees render the related service are recognised in respect of
employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period and are
measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities
are settled. The liabilities are presented as current employee benefit
obligations in the statement of financial position.

3.142 Post-employment obligations
The Group’s post-employment scheme are defined contribution
pension plan.

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes and
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered service entiting them to the
contributions. The Group has no further payment obligations once
the contributions have been paid.

3.15 Revenue recognition

Sales of electricity

Revenue arising from the sale of electricity generated from solar
power plants is recognised when the electricity is generated and
transmitted to the battery banks of the customer, being at the point
that the control was transferred. Invoices are issued on a monthly
basis and are usually payable within one month. The Group has
elected to apply the practical expedient not to adjust the transaction
price for the existence of any significant financing component given
the period between when the transfer of control of services to
customers and the payment date is one year or less.
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3.15 Revenue recognition (Continued)

Sales of household solar power generation systems
and rendering of smart energy services

For sales of household solar power generation systems, an upfront
fee of the consideration are issued when entering into a contract
with remaining balance to be issued when the systems have been
delivered to and accepted by the customer and are usually payable
within 180 days since the respective invoice date. The Group has
elected to apply the practical expedient not to adjust the transaction
price for the existence of any significant financing component given
the period between when the transfer of control of systems to
customers and the payment date is one year or less.

No discounts are provided to the customers, but some contracts
come with standard warranty terms of not more than 10 vyears,
under which customers are able to return and replace any defective
products if the systems fail to comply with agreed-upon specifications
but not for cash refunds. For such warranties provided, because they
cannot be purchased separately but serve as an assurance that the
systems sold comply with agreed-upon specifications, the Group
accounts for warranty in accordance with IAS 37. Such warranties
are not accounted for as separate performance obligations and
hence no consideration is allocated to them. As historically there was
no replacement or liability claim, the Group does not recognise the
provision for warranty.

Revenue from sales of household solar power generation systems
is generally recognised when the systems are delivered to the
customers, has been properly installed in order for them to become
functional; and have been accepted by customers. After this point,
the Group no longer has physical possession but have a present
right to payment, whilst the customer has full discretion over the
manner of use, bears the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation to
the systems. Shipping and installation before control has passed to
the customer is considered a fulfilment activity rather than a separate
performance obligation.
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3.15 Revenue recognition (Continued)

Sales of household solar power generation systems
and rendering of smart energy services (Continued)
For rendering of smart energy services, invoices are issued on
a monthly basis and are usually payable within one year. The
Group has elected to apply the practical expedient not to adjust
the transaction price for the existence of any significant financing
component given the period between when the transfer of control
of services to customers and the payment date is one year or
less. In most instance, promised services in a contract are not
considered distinct and represent a series of distinct services that
are substantially the same with the same pattern of transfer to the
customer and, as such, are accounted for as a single performance
obligation. Revenue from rendering of smart energy services is
recognised over time as the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits from the Group’s performance as the Group
performs and is recognised based on the amount to which the
Group has a right to invoice as the amount corresponds directly with
the value to the customer of the Group’s performance completed to
date.

When the contracts contain both (i) the sales of household solar
power generation systems and (i) the rendering of smart energy
services, the Group allocates the transaction price to each of these
performance obligation on a relative stand-alone selling price basis,
except for variable consideration where the terms of the variable
payment relate specifically to the Group’s efforts in satisfying the
performance obligation; and allocating the variable amount of
consideration entirely to that performance obligation depicts the
amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled
in exchange for transferring that promised goods or services to the
customer.
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3.15 Revenue recognition (Continued)

Public infrastructure construction

Under the terms of contract, invoices are issued according to
contractual terms and are usually payable within 30 days. The
Group also agrees at a fixed profit margin of the total contract
sum as retention money, of which half will generally be released
after the issue of the certificate of practical completion and the
remaining portion will be released after the issue of the final
certificate. Uninvoiced amounts are presented as contract assets,
representing the Group’s right to consideration for the services
performed and not billed because the rights are conditioned on the
Group’s future performance accepted by the customer. Contract
assets are transferred to trade receivables when the rights become
unconditional. The Group typically transfers its contract assets to
trade receivables when progress certificate is issued.

Revenue from the provision of public infrastructure construction
is recognised over time as the Group’s performance creates and
enhances the assets which the customer controls during the course
of work performed by the Group. Revenue is recognised based on
the stage of completion of contract using input method. The stage of
completion is assessed by reference to the contract costs incurred
for work performed to date relative to the estimated total contract
costs. The related costs are recognised in profit or loss when they
are incurred.

When claims and incentive payment are involved, the Group
estimates the amount of consideration to which it will be entitled
using the most likely amount, as this is the method that better
predicts the amount of consideration to which the Group will be
entitled. The estimate amount of variable consideration is included in
the transactions price only to the extent that it is highly probable that
such an inclusion will not result in significant revenue reversal in the
future when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration
is subsequently resolved. At the end of each reporting period, the
Group updates the estimated transaction price (including updating
its assessments of whether an estimate of variable consideration is
constrained) to represent faithfully the circumstances present at the
end of the reporting period and the changes in circumstances during
the reporting period.
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3.16 Leases

Leases (except for short-term leases and leases of low value assets)
are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at
the date at which the leased asset is available for use by the Group.
Payments associated with short-term leases and all leases of low-
value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in
profit or loss. The Group allocates the consideration in the contract
to each lease and non-lease components based on their relative
stand-alone prices.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a
present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of
lease payments, which generally include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in
the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is generally
the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing
rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value
to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with
similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

o where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by
the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect
changes in financing conditions since third party financing was
received,

° uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest
rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by the Group, which
does not have recent third party financing, and

o makes adjustments specific to the lease, for example, term,
country, currency and security.
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3.16 Leases (Continued)

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost.
The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so
as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are initially measured at cost and generally
comprising the following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability, and

° any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently depreciated over the shorter of
the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.

3.17 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised where there is a
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and the Group
will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in
profit or loss over the period necessary to match them with the costs
that they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to the purchase of property, plant
and equipment are included in non-current liabilities as deferred
government grants and are credited to profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the expected lives of the related assets.
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3.18 Related parties

(@ A person or a close member of that person’s family is related
to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of key management personnel of the Group
or the Group’s parent.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v} The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of the employees of the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).
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3.18 Related parties (Continued)

(vi) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over
the entity or is @ member of key management personnel
of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(vii)  The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity and include (j) that person’s children
and spouse or domestic partner; (i) children of that person’s spouse
or domestic partner; and (i) dependents of that person or that
person’s spouse or domestic partner.

This note explains the Group’s exposure to financial risks and how
these risks could affect the Group’s future financial performance.

4.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market
risk (including foreign exchange risk, cash flow and fair value interest
rate risk), credit risk, concentration risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s
overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects
on the Group’s financial performance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERAR MR

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea) 4. 51 7 & b2 B I @)

4.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 41 MEEREZ@®
4.1.1 Market risk 4.1.17h 35 B B
(a)  Foreign exchange risk () IME =Bz
The Group’s foreign exchange risk is primarily with respect to the US AEETERHRBEET(ERT]) BINE
dollar (“US$”). Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial [B B o SMNEE BB SR B R R ¥ X 5 R I
transactions and recognised assets and liabilities denominated in LA EEN D ERTENEBREE
a currency that is not the functional currency of the relevant entity. MaE RBAEBHRAENETETN
The risk is measured through a forecast of highly probable US$ RPETE °
transactions.
The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk as at 31 December AEBR-_ZT-_NEFE-_ZT_=F+=A
2024 and 2023, expressed in RMB, is as follows: T+—HEHMINIERR(UAREZ7))
UNNE
2024 2023
—E-mEF TEC=4F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBTTT

Denominated in US$ L ZETTEE
Cash and cash equivalents ReELBREEED - 17,184
Time deposits with original maturity over REIHI B BB =AM T HEFEXR
three months 17,934 —
17,934 17,184
The following foreign-exchange related amounts were recognised in REBEEZTE-_NFERZZT=_=F+=ZA=
profit or loss for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023: +T—BILEFEREB=BERANIINERBSRE
T
2024 2023
—E-NF —E-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BT T ARBTT
Net foreign exchange gains/(losses) BIER E AW 5 F BRI E X W s
included in other gains — net (F51B) %8 688 (2,549
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4.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

4.1.1 Market risk (Continued)

(@)  Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

As most of the Group’s US$ denominated financial instruments are
held by the Group’s entity whose functional currency is Hong Kong
dollar (“HK$"), the Group is primarily exposed to changes in US$/
HK$ exchange rates. The sensitivity of profit or loss to changes in
the exchange rates arising mainly from US$ denominated financial
instruments is as follows:

US$/HK$ exchange rate — increase 5% <704 B TLHIE R — B HN5%
US$/HK$ exchange rate — decrease 5% 3= 7T 4,/ TTHIE R — i 5%

(b) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s main interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings.
Borrowings with variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk which is offset by cash held at variable rates. Borrowings
with fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.
During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group’s
borrowings were all denominated in RMB. The interest rates and
the terms of repayments of the Group’s borrowings are disclosed in
Note 32.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s borrowings amounting to
RMB133,600,000 (2023: RMB160,500,000) were at variable interest
rates. As at 31 December 2024, if the interest rates on the Group’s
borrowings had been 100 basis points higher/lower with all other
variables held constant, loss before income tax would have been
RMB1,336,000 higher/lower (2023: RMB1,605,000), as a result of
higher/lower interest expense.
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HARAEMALD UETHENESRIL
MAEENEEEAET(BT)NES
BE AEEIEERETHETINER
HE o BARTEREUNETHENSR
TEERSHHEBENTHE

2024 2023
—E-gF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
897 859

(897) (859)

(b) B 7mERK-FEFEER
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4.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
4.1.2 Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, contractual cash
flows of other financial assets measured at amortised cost, as well as
credit exposures to customers, including outstanding receivables.

In respect of deposit with banks, the Group mitigates its exposure
to credit risk by placing deposits with banks with established credit
rating. Given the high credit ratings of the banks, management does
not expect any counterparty to fail to meet its obligations.

In respect of trade receivables, credit evaluations are performed
on all customers. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past
history of making payments when due and current ability to pay,
taking into account the information specific to the customer as well
as relating to the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Normally, the Group does not obtain any security from its
customers. Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in
Note 27.

The Group’s other financial assets measured at amortised cost
are regularly monitored for credit deterioration by management.
Quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit
risk arising from these assets are disclosed in Note 24.

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk as at 31 December
2024 is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset in
the consolidated statement of financial position after deducting any
impairment allowances.

The Group does not provide any financial guarantees which would
expose the Group to credit risk.

4.1.3 Concentration risk

For the year ended 31 December 2024, 25% (2023: 16%) of the
Group’s revenue was derived from one customer (2023: one
customer).
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4.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
4.1.4 Liquidity risk

Local managements in the operating entities of the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including short-term
investments of cash surpluses and raising loans to cover expected
in accordance with practice and limits set by
the Group. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and compliance with the loan covenants, to ensure that
it maintains sufficient cash and adequate committed credit facilities
to meet obligations in the short and longer term.

cash demands,

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant
maturity groupings based on their contractual maturities as at 31
December 2024 and 2023, disclosed in undiscounted cash flows
(including interest payments calculated using contractual rates or, if
variable, based on current rates at the end of the respective reporting
period):

Within
1 yearor Between
ondemand 1 and 2 years
—FRY
EEX -—-FZWF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT AR¥Txn
As at 31 December R-ZEZ@m fF +=A
2024 =t-
Borrowings B8 50,507 29,284
Trade and other payables & 5 & H i i 5 3% 58,070 —
Lease liabilities HERRE 902 685
109,479 29,969
As at 31 December R-ZB-=Zf5+=A
2023 =+—-H
Borrowings B8 34,376 34,283
Trade and other payables ‘& 5 & H i & {4 718 52,705 —
Lease liabilities HEAE 3,022 902
90,108 35,185

e NS ERE )

4.1.47 B 1 [ Bex

AEEZEERBNEHE
PR LENH

E§$E’<TF$&I
RERGEBEEENRE

2 ’\i%ﬁ@@ﬁ%ﬁ’ﬂ%ﬂﬂﬂ&é%&%%%

FTARNIERHBREFK -

AEEREBE

EHEERDESTFREERG O EST
ER - NEFTRREET R ERAEEER
B-BIRAEBREHANES -

TRAAEEAR T _NFR_T_=F

TZAZ+T—BERBENINHBRD EN

SREBESN FHAERERTRRS
=

REBBEERAAQH

MMEHENERERR
(ERRFB) st EaF B

B IR 17 &

PO HREE
Between 5 years Carrying
2 and 5 years above Total amount
MEERFE  HENE Mgt fREE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR AR®TR AR%®TR
63,737 5,400 148,928 133,600
- - 58,070 58,070
2,080 16,757 20,424 12,799
65,817 22,157 227,422 204,469
92,302 22,344 183,305 160,500
— - 52,705 52,705
2,066 17,455 23,445 13,253
94,368 39,799 259,455 226,458
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4.2 Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
its ability to continue as a going concern, to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group monitors its capital on the basis of gearing ratio,
calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated
as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash
and time deposits with original maturity over three months. Total
capital is calculated as total equity plus net debt.

The Group’s strategy is to maintain its gearing ratio at a healthy
level to support its business activities. The main strategies adopted
by the Group include but not limited to reviewing future cash flow
requirements and monitoring the ability to meet debt repayment
schedules, maintaining an adequate amount of committed credit
facilities and adjusting investment and financing plans, if necessary,
to ensure that the Group has a reasonable level of capital. The
gearing ratios as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

42 EXEE

AEEEREANBNRREAZELESRN
BEAFBEEET RIREREMRD RN
RREMESFHA NGRS - W B &
BREEAREBUARLSESKAE -

AEBFBNBBELEREZRER L XDHRIE
BERFEGRABRERASHE - BEHFEER
REERASLREEEY XRWEL
RRBHABAE=ZEANERER &
RENES BRI EERFERE -

AEENXEBEERFHABLEEERENK
U REBEY c AKERINES
REBEFEETRABEHRARRERER K
RERINEBEBNEN #RHEH
EHAREEEERFAREEMME TS
(TS UBRRASEEESSEKED
BERX RZE_NERZFT=Z=F+=AH
=+—HMAGELHEAT :

Borrowings BE
Lease liabilities HEAE
Amounts due to related parties JE - BB 5 5 1E
Less: Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Time deposits with original maturity

SRR &

over three months EH 7 R
Net cash e FHE
Total equity S BRE
Total capital AR
Gearing ratio BELE

4.3 Fair value measurement of financial
instruments

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments measured
at amortised cost are not materially different from their fair values
as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 since either the instruments are
short-term in nature or the interest receivable/payable is close to the

current market rates.
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2024 2023
—E-mF —F=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTT
133,600 160,500
12,799 13,253
- 2,914
B9 (41,649) (227,705)
(1,885) (38)
=EAK
(177,934) -
(75,069) (51,076)
807,993 851,413
732,924 800,337
TiE A T iE R
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The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires the
use of accounting estimates which, by definition, will seldom equal
the actual results. Management also needs to exercise judgement in
applying the Group’s accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of
future events that may have a financial impact on the Group and that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

(a)

Impairment losses on trade receivables
and other financial assets measured at
amortised cost

The loss allowances for trade receivables and other financial
assets measured at amortised cost are based on assumptions
about risk of default and expected loss rates. The Group uses
judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the
inputs to the impairment assessment, based on the Group’s
past history, existing market conditions as well as forward
looking information at the end of each reporting period. In
assessing forward-looking information, the Group considers
factors including economic condition, macroeconomic
information, industry risks and changes in debtors’ conditions.
The changes in the basis of estimation or economic conditions
could lead to a change in the level of credit loss allowance
recorded and consequently on the charge or credit to profit or
loss.

Useful life of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets

Management determines the estimated useful life and related
depreciation and amortisation charges for property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets with reference to the
estimated periods during which future economic benefits are
derived from the use of these assets. Management revises
the depreciation and amortisation charges if the useful life is
different from previous estimates, or writes off or writes down
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned or sold.

mRGEAVMBREAEA A WHE
EE - EHEAARIGENBERS
RER -EREREAAKRE ST BRRE
JRZAE I B -

FEERBBERRRE AR (B
MEERTISFENBEEARAS
KR E TS BET GRS EHR
1B -

(a)

&3 K10
uﬂﬁéw

\

fE U
By

ERENF

BHRWRIBRIZEHEKX AT ER

HtemMEENBEBRELDEREA
%L%H e M FREE IR R R o AN
SEBRBEAEEBEESE - ZATTS
RRAREREHRROAMELER
ETHE  EHZEBRRLEERE
FEE B A BUE - IR ATRE 1B R
HTiI ! ZISE.%J’EZ«(/EHK/R f%ﬁ%«i/ﬁ
AR TERBRRERARRDE
I%Dﬁﬁ%ﬁi@ﬁ#ﬁwﬁT
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()

Impairment losses on non-financial
assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether non-financial assets suffered any impairment in
accordance with accounting policy stated in Note 3.7. The
non-financial assets are reviewed for the impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of the assets exceeds its recoverable amount. The
determination of recoverable amount requires an estimation of
future cash flows, the selection of appropriate discount rates
and other key assumptions. Changes in these estimates could
have a significant impact on the carrying amount of the assets
and could result in additional impairment charge or reversal of
impairment in future periods, where applicable.

Impairment losses on goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the CGU to which
goodwill has been allocated. For the purposes of impairment
testing, goodwill is allocated to its respective CGUs.
Management judgement is required in the area of goodwill
impairment particularly in assessing: () whether the carrying
amount of an CGU can be supported by the recoverable
amount, being the higher of fair value less cost of disposal
or value in use; and (i) the appropriate key assumptions
to be applied in preparing cash flow projections including
whether these cash flow projections are discounted using an
appropriate rate.
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(e) Income taxes

There are certain transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will be reflected in the income tax
expense in the period in which such determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences are recognised as management considers it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised. In case
where the actual future taxable profit generated are less than
expected, or changes in facts and circumstances which result
in revision of future taxable profit estimation, a material reversal
or further recognition of deferred tax assets may arise, which
will be recognised in profit or loss in the period in which such a
reversal or further recognition takes place.

(@) Revenue

(e) M

BEEEXBBREPEFES T THETE
RRBENZZMAE - WHEEEE
MERARBEEERB RN AKRD
S# - RABEREMNELRENH
RIRRAEEBMASHRAX -

EEETRALRETEY AR AR
?EKJEE%T\R@?'JE’J\ AT eERE
ETERZHEEENEEMSHE
BE o il B A B B IR R 2R JE SR A v M)
RIEH HEFERBEALREHME
BUE BT AR R B R TR M e ik &F - RIS
EEARCHEEENE NED
R HENBEEDE—
FTHREENHMBERNIER

(@) Yz

2024 2023
—SE-E —EC-=4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
Sales of electricity HESE 61,899 69,261

Sales of household solar power generation HEPRXKES
systems and rendering smart energy services 1R 2 Z 4L R Hﬁi‘% 23,607 26,022
Public infrastructure construction NEEHR 28,725 18,747
114,231 114,030

Timing of revenue recognition e 18 R BT

At a point in time R — R B 73,465 80,988
Over time £ — BB [ 40,766 33,042
114,231 114,030

sepanrraRan £504 109



()

(b)

Revenue (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2024, revenue of
approximately RMB28,725,000 (2023: RMB18,747,000) was
derived from a single external customer, which exceeded 10%
of the Group’s total revenue. Such revenue was attributed to
the public infrastructure construction business segment.

Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which
are organised by business lines (products and services).
In a manner consistent with the way in which information
is reported internally to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment, the Group presents the following
two reportable segments:

° Smart energy business, and
° Public infrastructure construction business.
No geographical information is presented as substantially all of

the Group’s business activities were in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P BHRRME

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 6. Wk pIBER @
INFORMATION (continued)
(c) Reportable segment profit or loss, assets c) T2HoHER BEER
and liabilities =R
Public
Smart infrastructure
energy  construction Intersegment
business business  Unallocated  eliminations Total
g8 7
HREE QEBEREK AOE 45 88 Mgt

RMB'000 RMB'O0O  RMB'000 RMB'O0O  RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTT AREBTT ARETR ARETE

Year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_Z-_ME+=A=+-8H
LEE

Revenue from extermal customers ER -l € 85,506 28,725 = = 114,231
Impairment losses on financial assets SREENRERE (18,653) - - - (18,653)
Impairment losses on property, plantand  #1% - BiE k& EHOREFE

equipment (30,474) - - - (30,474)
Impairment losses on right-of-use assets {5 A& & & KR (E 5 18 (2,848) - - - (2,848)
Loss on written-off on property, plantand  #i$5%1% - BERZENESE

equipment (31) - - - (31)
Finance income AmEWRA 2,541 8 1,274 — 3,823
Finance expenses AMERY (9,376) - - - (9,376)
Income tax credit EHES 1,383 - - = 1,383
Loss for the year FANER (37,704) (279) (2,945) - (40,928)
Other information HihEH
Depreciation and amortisation TEREH (31,131) - @) - (31,134)
Additions to non-current assets (Note) R E JEREN L E (i &) (3,342) = — - (3,342)
As at 31 December 2024 RZB-mE+=ZA=+-H
Reportable segment assets A2RAHEE 919,052 211,305 366,745 (428,454) 1,068,648
Reportable segment liabilities 2R BAE 514,467 173,014 1,628 (428,454) 260,655
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE-E-_=f+-A=+-H

L5E

Revenue from external customers TP W& 95,283 18,747 - - 114,030
Reversal of Impairment losses on financial & B2 E M EF B D

assets 5,012 — — — 5,012
Impairment losses on property, plant and ~ #1% ~ i o 3R 5 H0 R E 5 18

equipment (50,960) — — — (50,960)
Impairment losses on goodwill BENREEE (7,298) - - - (7,298)
Impairment losses on right-of-use assets 1 A& & & KR (B &5 18 (536) - - - (536)
Finance income BEHA 3,250 4 13 - 3,304
Finance expenses BERY (9,884) - - - (9,884)
Share of net profit of associates REEZEANENEEDRNLE

accounted for using the equity method ~ F{7 %8 30,520 - - - 30,520
Income tax credit mEHER 3,672 286 - - 3,958
Loss for the year FANER (348) (15,727) (4,326) - (20,401)
Other information HiEH
Depreciation and amortisation HEREH (35,038) - (45) - (35,083)
Additions to non-current assets (Note) R E JEii 81 & & (Ki5E) 7,721 - - - 7,721
As at 31 December 2023 R-ZB-=f(+-A=1+-H
Reportable segment assets AE2RDBEE 991,680 204,199 369,166 (428,454) 1,136,591
Reportable segment liabilties AEHAHAE 546,167 165,630 1,835 (428,454) 285,178

Note: Additions to non-current assets exclude financial assets and deferred M : ABIFRDEETEECREERE
tax assets. EFRTHEE

sERErRaRAE £5024 117



Cost of sales, seling and distribution expenses, administrative HeBEaxPHEHEXKAEA HEKEKD HFA

expenses and impairment losses on non-financial assets in the X THRAXEIERMEENREEER
consolidated statement of profit or loss are listed by nature as MEEHINAT
follows:
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETT

Changes in inventories of finished goods XM TFEZH (MiE26)

(Note 26) 1,853 1,478
Subcontract costs o B A 26,317 31,883
Heat supply costs fHER AR 11,140 11,468
Employee benefit expense (Note 8) EEBREMAZ (M) 12,802 13,707
Depreciation and amortisation e R EH

(Notes 15,16,17 and 18) (fftsFE15 16~ 17 }218) 31,134 35,083
Consulting and legal fees B EREER 3,800 1,811
Repair and maintenance expenses HIEMRERAX 7,068 6,732
Transportation and travelling expenses EHREKRAX 318 419
Short term lease expenses and low-value EHHERIREEEEE

assets lease expenses (Note 16(b)) HE = (MsE16() 1,120 1,658
Impairment losses on non-financial assets e BMEEMRERIE 33,322 58,794

— property, plant and equipment (Note 15) — W% WEREE

(Mt&E15) 30,474 50,960

— right-of-use assets (Note 16(p)) — FREEE (M5 16(00) 2,848 536

— goodwill (Note 17) — & (fFE17) — 7,298
Utilities NHEEFE 2,712 3,433
Auditor’s remuneration 1% 85 B B

— Audit services — BZR® 1,285 1,500

— Non-audit services — EEZRT 180 200
Others H 903 960
Total cost of sales, selling and distribution HEMA HERDHAZ -

expenses, administrative expenses and BRI RIIFEEREENR

impairment losses on non-financial assets BEELTE 133,954 169,126
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Wages, salaries and allowances
Post-employment benefit and other welfare

expenses (a)
Equity-settled share-based payment (b)
(0)

(@) Post-employment benefit

Pursuant to the relevant labor rules and regulations in the PRC,
the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC participate in the defined
contribution retirement benefit schemes (the “Schemes”)
organised by the PRC municipal government authorities
whereby the Group is required to make contributions to the
Schemes at certain proportions of eligible employees’ salaries,
ranging from 16% to 20%. The local government authorities
are responsible for the entire pension obligations payable
to the retired employees. The Group has no other material
obligations for the payment of pension benefits in connection
with the Schemes beyond the annual contributions described
above.

The Group’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong participate in the
Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) Scheme for its employees.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held in the funds controlled
by an independent trustee. The contributions arising from the
MPF Scheme charged to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss represent contributions payable to the funds at the
rates specified in the rules of the MPF Scheme.

TE& #HelEi
BER IR AR A M E ALt F I S (2)

BREEEUNENXHNRAX

2024 2023
—E-mE —EC-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE T ARETF T

10,230 11,154
2,572 2,553
12,802 13,707

(a) BERIEREA

RETFEEBESSDERIER A&
EHPEREAMBARAESMA S
B 3 77 AT A BB AR A8 0 RE RR M FUR
KA a8 - Bt AEE
BRAEREBEFHFEETHLENT
16% E20%) [A) 5t & fE H 50 - 75
BF#Ea B AERRKES XN
ERRARENEL FAEBLER £
2t 4R 2 RSN B AT 81 AE B M IR K AR
MNROEMEREE -

AEBRBEENNBERARAREESR
sEBHEAES ((RES DS -
BETFENEERABLEEAE
HNESRHE EREGBRERAIIX
BSRTE D ET B R IR E S
RAMRENLLRRABERESEIE
HE R -

sEREnrRERAT £52024 113



(b) Equity settled share-based payment

On 26 January, 11 May and 14 September 2018, the
Company announced to grant 36,441,291, 10,140,000 and
66,645,000 share options (the “Options”), respectively, under
its share option scheme adopted on 22 November 2011. The
Options entitled the eligible participants to subscribe for up to
a total of 113,226,291 new shares with par value of HK$0.01
each in the share capital of the Company. The vesting of share
options is based on the servicing period of the employee up
to 3 years from the date of grant and the fulfiment of certain
performance targets of the Group, including but not limited to
the financial performance of the Group as well as the grantee’s
individual performance. The maximum term of the options
granted is 10 years from the date of the offer. The weighted
average exercise price is set as HK$1.8 per share. The
Options are deemed as equity settled share-based payment.
As at 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024, the number of
share options outstanding and exercisable was 718,800 and
718,800 (2023: 718,800 and 718,800) respectively. No share
option is granted, exercised or forfeited during the year (2023:
nil). During the year ended 31 December 2024, no share
options was lapsed (2023: nil). As at 31 December 2024, the
weighted average exercise price of options outstanding is
HK$1.8 (2023: HK$1.8) and the weighted average remaining
contractual life was 3.1 years (2023: 4.1 years).

For the year ended 31 December 2024, no expense arised
from share-based payment transactions previously granted as
part of employee benefit expense (2023: nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I ERAR MR

8. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (continues) 8. EEEFIB X @)

(c) Five highest paid individuals (c) EluEEHF AL
The 5 individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the BHE-_Z-_HNF+-A=+—HL
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 include two FE AEENAUZSHFALTHE
Directors (2023: one) whose emoluments are reflected in the BERUES(ZE-_=F: —f) &
analysis in Note 39. The emoluments payable to the remaining FeBERM AN DT Heg =1L
three (2023: four) individuals during the year are as follows: (ZEZ=F W) ALTFRHHIS
Dy UENE
The emoluments fell within the following bands: FIAR TS
2024 2023
—E-EF —F-=

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

AE N

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000 7T 2 3

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7% 7t & 1,500,000 7% 7T = —

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 /% 7t & 2,000,000 7T 1 1

9. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES/(REVERSAL OF 9. TREEMBEEE OF
IMPAIRMENT LOSSES) ON FINANCIAL EBEEAZD)
ASSETS
2024 2023
—E-E —E =4
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBTTT

Reversal of impairment losses on other financial 1% # #45k AN 51 2 09 H b £ &t
assets measured at amortised cost (Note 24) & /& H) )5 & /&5 1B £ [@

(Mi3E24) (8,621) (929)

Provision for/(reversal of) impairment losses on & 5 2 E b & U 5% 78 &9 5l (B /&5
trade and other receivables (Note 27) BREE(BE) (M sE27) 27,274 (4,083)
18,653 (5,012)

SEREERERAT #5204 11D



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B BRI T
10. OTHER INCOME 0. Hfttlx A
2024 2023
—E-F —TE=%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT AR T T
Government grants (Note) BT 8 B (B 5E) 107 131
Note: The government grants recognised during the years ended 31 December e : RBEE_T_NFER-_T_=F+=-A=+

2024 and 2023 was related to the subsidy on purchasing of property, plant
and equipment. The Group presents this government grants as deferred
government grants since 2014 and recognised in profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the expected lives of the related assets. The Group did not
have any unfulfilled obligations relating to the government grant.

—HULEFERBNRTHEEEBADE K
FERBEER AEER_-_F-MFLER
BF M R ERRTME  YREREED
Tt FHANBERER RS RER - BT
Bhif S - AEBE Y EERMAKETHORE

11. OTHER GAINS — NET 1. Hib & F 58
2024 2023
—E-E —E=-=
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETT

Net foreign exchange gains/(losses) PEH U ss/(E18) 38 688 (2,549)
Net losses on written-off on property, plant and 5 ¥ % - BE LR E N

equipment E B F R (31) —
Net losses on disposal of property, plantand HE W%  WELRERED

equipment [E5 18 F 5 - (15)
Gain on derecognition for portion of other RIERURENEEER

financial assets measured at amortised cost Bz BN AR EMNEM S H

settled by investment properties (Note 24) BEE D FTS Y (K sEed) - 5,369
Others Hih 854 (1,151)

1,511 1,654
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRME
12. FINANCE EXPENSES — NET 12. BUE B F &
2024 2023
—E-NF —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBTTT

Finance income FE KA
Interest income from bank deposits RITHE A B WA 3,823 3,304
Total finance income EhE W A BEE 3,823 3,304
Finance expenses BEHZ
Interest expense on lease liabilities (Note 16(b)) & & 1& #2557 (Fft 5= 16(b)) (358) (718)
Interest expense on bank borrowings ROTBEMNBHX (9,018) (9,166)
Total interest expense FEHXZ B (9,376) (9,884)
Finance expenses — net BB FRE (5,553) (6,580)
13. INCOME TAX CREDIT 13. REHME L
2024 2023
—E-NEF —ZE-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Current income tax BN HR T 1S 4 267 1,177
Deferred income tax (Note 19) IEFEFT A5 R (BT 5E19) 1,116 2,781

1,383 3,958

BEREERERAT FH024 117



(@)

The reconciliation of income tax credit to the theoretical (@)
amount that would arise using the statutory tax rates
applicable to the consolidated entities are as follows:

Loss before income tax & BT 15 B AT B 18

Tax calculated at applicable statutory tax rates 1% i Fi A & B R s E Y

I8
Tax effect of: ATEEBENHRBGTE -
Preferential tax rates BEERX
Expenses not deductible for tax purpose A IR X
Income not taxable BARBKA
Tax losses for which no deferred tax assets 7 # 32 1 %1 18 & & HY
has been recognised I8 s 1B

Origination of temporary differences for which 4 R R IEEF B E &
no deferred tax assets has been recognised ) & B 2= &8

Reversal of temporary differences for which 13 [8] 7k g 3238 & 1 18 & &
no deferred tax assets has been recognised ~ HJ % ff 2= 48

Previously unrecognised tax losses recouped 5 18 JA 1 & i 32 £ T8 &5 18

to reduce current tax expense (LA A BV ER B T B =2)
Under provision in respect of prior years BEFERETR
Income tax credit FrigfiE e

1 /] 8 XINDA INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2024

FEREAeRRBEANKAER
MZEEREAERENIERRED

SRR

2024
=k

RMB’000
ARBT R

(42,311)

10,327
2,149
(3,075)
4,772

(2,832)

(14,639)

2,608
2,072

1,383

2023
—E-=%F
RMB’000
ARETF T

(24,359)

5,723
3,637
(3,971)
7,675
(2,198)
(15,387)

1,774

2,885
3,820

3,958



As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not recognise
deferred tax assets in respect of accumulated tax losses
arising from the Group’s entities in the PRC amounting to
RMB69,335,000 (2023: RMB64,186,000), as management
believed it is not probable that such tax losses would be
utilised before their expiry.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the expiry dates of tax
losses arising from the Group’s entities in the PRC with no
deferred tax assets recognised are as follows:

Year of expiry 2 A (7
2024 —E-HF
2025 —E R
2026 —EZRF
2027 i
2028 ZEZN\F
2029 —EZRF

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the British Virgin Islands (“the BVI”), the Group is not
subject to any income taxes in these jurisdictions.

The Group did not make any provisions for Hong Kong profits
tax as there were no assessable profits arising in Hong Kong
during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil). As at
31 December 2024, the Group did not recognise deferred tax
assets in respect of accumulated tax losses arising from the
Group’s entities in Hong Kong amounting to RMB56,597,000 (2023:
RMB53,652,000).

For the year end 31 December 2024, the statutory income tax
rate of entities within the Group registered in the PRC is 25% (2023:
25%), except for certain entities entitled to tax exemption or
preferential rates at 5% (2023: 5%) for small and low-profit
enterprises in the PRC.

R-ZTE_M&E+_A=+—H8 4%
B ERAEERPEEEN KT
HIEE 1B A R#69,33500L (=%
— =4 : AR #¥64,186,0007T ) & R
BEEFEEE RERBTEERAZ
RIBE BB AT KATeEER -

RZE-—NER_ZFE-_=F+=A
=t+— B AEERTHREE(KE
RELERBEE) R IAEERHA
R

2024 2023
—E-gF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBT R ARBTT
— 1,290

3,374 6,300
11,586 14,064
33,621 33,621
8,911 8,911
11,843 —
69,335 64,186

RERSHEREABRLES (&
BREZESDEARRAR AEEH
BEMZE AR T RTEH -

HRAEEREBEEZE-_T_WF+=
A=+ RALEFEVYERBTEEL
FERR B A - B A B A RS B AE
HEMBBE(ZEZ=F &) - R=
EZ-_MF+=—A=+—H8 AEEL
ERAEEREEERNRAHE
BB A R#56597,000L (=T = =
F: AR #53,652,0007T ) R iE I
HIBEEE -

HE-_ZT-_WNF+-A=+—HI
FE - AERERTPEFMOEENE
THBHRHER AL (T =F
25%)  HE T EEE 2Bk E/N
A EERBERES%(ZE =
=F:5%)°

BERBEERARDT FH2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e RRMIEE
14. LOSS PER SHARE 14. BREE
(@) Basic loss per share (@ BREXREIE
Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss BEABEBZEAQRES AEMA
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted EERANFEAL BITEBRAINE
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year: FHEEE -
2024 2023
—E-MME —F-=
Loss attributable to owners of the Company ~ ANQ Fl#E A A fE(L 18
(RMB’000) (ARETT (24,418) (18,179)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares & %% 77 & 38 A% i 4 F 5 8
in issue (thousands) (F A 1,484,604 1,484,604
Basic loss per share (RMB) BREXREBR(ARET) (0.0164) (0.0122)
(b) Diluted loss per share b) EREEEIE
Diluted loss per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted R EEEEZARSERMEE
average number of ordinary shares outstanding assuming T ELBARMAREHTEBR
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. For the years RNEFLEE -BE S NF
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, diluted loss per share is RZB-=%+-R=+—HBILF
the same as basic loss per share because the exercise price E SRBEEFEERGREXNEER
of the Company’s share options was higher than the average [ REASARAERENTEES
market price per share. RERRMDEFEHMIGERS -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B BmRME

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. ¥ BENRKE

Furniture,
Plant and Motor fixtures and Construction
Buildings  machinery vehicles equipment  in progress Total
BE KE
BT BER#EW RE kFEE ERIR Bt

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTL ARBTL ARBTL ARBTLI ARBTT ARETT

Cost A

At 1 January 2023 R-Z-=%—-HA—8 16,922 557,941 347 20,427 31 595,668
Transfers #i% - 383 - - - 383
Additions RE - 1,272 - - - 1,272
Disposals e - (264) - - - (264)

At 31 December 2023and R-_E-=%+-A=+—H

1 January 2024 r=ZF-_mFE—HA—H 16,922 559,332 347 20,427 31 597,059
Additions NE — 195 — — — 195
Written-off M - - - - (1) (1)
At 31 December 2024 RZZE-_ME+=-A=+—H 16,922 559,527 347 20,427 — 597,223

Accumulated depreciation Rt & KRB E
and impairment

At 1 January 2023 R-E-=4%—-F—H 12,394 147,038 38 13,943 - 173,413
Charge for the year (Note 7) 4 A1 71| 5z (M 5£7) 451 30,205 - 530 - 31,186
Eliminated on disposals & B 5 - (41) - - - (41)
Impairment (Note 7) R (M EE7) - 50,960 - - - 50,960
At 31 December 2023and R-_ET=-=%+-A=+—H

1 January 2024 k-—ZT-mE-—A—H 12,845 228,162 38 14,473 - 255,518
Charge for the year (Note 7) F %13 (Hi5£7) 81 26,120 - 338 - 26,539
Impairment (Note 7) R E (i EE7) - 30,474 - - - 30,474
At 31 December 2024 RZFZWE+=-A=+—H 12,926 284,756 38 14,811 — 312,531
Net book amount REFE
At 31 December 2024 RZZ-_MF+=-A=+—H 3,996 274,771 309 5,616 - 284,692
At 31 December 2023 R-ZE-=ZF+-A=+—H 4,077 331,170 309 5,954 31 341,541

sERERRERAT £50024 1271



As at 31 December 2024, certain machineries of solar power
plants of the Group with carrying amount of RMB209,228,000 (2023:
RMB227,927,000) were pledged as security for the Group’s
borrowings (Note 32).

Included in the plant and machinery is a transformer station
and right-of-use assets in Hoboksar Mongol Autonomous
Country Hefeng Industrial Park (“Hefeng Industrial Park”)
with gross amount of approximately RMB50,960,000 and
RMB536,000 (2023: RMB50,960,000 and RMB536,000).
Because the management considered that there is a significant
uncertainty on revenue and hence cash flows to be generated
by the transformer station in Hefeng Industrial Park in the
foreseeable future, an impairment provision of approximately
RMB50,960,000 and RMB536,000(2023: RMB50,960,000
and RMB536,000) was recognised on the Group’s property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets in Hefeng
Industrial Park under the smart energy business segment as at
31 December 2024.

The significant uncertainty arises because in the second half
of 2023, the local government of Hefeng County, without
any legal procedures, unilaterally suspended and revoked
the franchise rights for the incremental distribution business
previously granted to Xinjiang Saier Distribution and Sales
Co., Ltd. (“Saier Company”), a non-wholly owned subsidiary
of the Group, in Hefeng Industrial Park where the transformed
station were used in carried out in the aforesaid business.
For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has filed
an administrative reconsideration on the above-mentioned
suspension and revocation with the local government of the
HeFeng County, and will take measures, depending on the
situation, including but not limited to legal measures to protect
the legitimate rights and interests of the Group.
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RZFE-ZWMF+=-_A=+—H0 k@A
EA AR209,228000L (=T ==
F o AR #227,927,0007T) K AN £ EF
HREUMETHMOERERLE
EEERERFES2) -

W B & e 1E AL ﬂﬁﬁ%@
SHAAEMETXRERE(TME
¥EE] K ﬁ*ﬁ&ﬁ%%é?
#1EH AR ¥50,9060,000T & AR
536000 (Z T - =ZF: AR
50,960,000 7t & A & #5386, ooofz)
HREEBRAMESTIXERNE
BURAERRRBEEENRAT
EEjﬁTﬁE LEE‘.IHZ}—Ei/miT
EERATHEEE R_ZT_WEFE+
ZA=ZT—H HEZBRERELESD
HETHRMETXERENARAEEYD
¥ BMERLEBERFEAREERR
BB B 4 A R #50,960,0007T & A
R¥536,000TC(ZTEZ=F: AR¥
50,960,0007T & A K ¥ 536,0007T) °

EEEATHELTARE-_ZT =
ZFETHF NEHEEHBFERE
ERDEERFHBERT  EFEEL
BELARTHEEALEEEAR

AR(EB2RD(FEENELRE
MEAR)EMETXENEERE

XEBHETEERE MzE2EW K
AREMETEZRRARAMES - R
BHE_Z-_=F+ZA=+—HLt
FE - AEBEHLATEEREERA
ME ZEHBTRETREZ LR
B R BB IR RN BR R A2 i
ERBERERNEENEG EER -



(Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the local
government of Hefeng County revoked the business license
of Saier Company on another reason and Saier Company
filed a lawsuit against Hefeng County on the revocation of its
business license. The court of Hefeng County ruled against
Saier Company in the first instance in March 2025. At the time
these consolidation financial statements are authorised for
issue, Saier Company is in process of the second instance
litigation regarding the revocation of its business litigation.

As a result of such an event, management had assessed the
recoverable amount of the transformer plant based on a fair
value less cost of disposal, which is determined to be higher
than its value in use. The fair value of the transformer plant is
determined by using the current replacement cost approach.
Key assumptions include quoted price in the market, which
reflects cost to acquire or construct a substitute asset of
comparable utility, which is adjusted for age, condition,
economic or functional obsolescence and environmental
factor existing at the end of the reporting date. The fair value is
categorised within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

After comparing the assessed recoverable amount and the
net carrying amount, an impairment loss approximately of
RMB50,960,000 and RMB536,000 was recognised for the
Group’s property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
(Note 16) located in Hefeng Industrial Park as at 31 December
2024 and 2023.

Included in the plant and machinery assets is a solar power
station and right-of-use assets located in Shijiazhuang,
held by Hebei Jiegao Electric Power Engineering Co., Ltd.
(“Hebei Jiegao”), with a carrying amount of approximately
RMB30,474,000 and RMB2,848,000 respectively as at 31
December 2024 (2023: RMB33,218,000 and RMB3,082,000).
Due to significant uncertainties regarding government
subsidies and future cash flows from the solar power station,
an impairment provision of approximately RMB30,474,000
and RMB2,848,000 (2023: RMBnil and RMBnil) has been
recognised for the Group’s property, plant, and equipment
and right-of-use assets, respectively, within the smart energy
business segment.

(&)

HE-Z_NE+-A=+—HL
FE MY KBTS 2B
HERAAMNEENR MEHAA
EMBEEE XN REYMEZ A
BIFIREFA - MEF AR T
AFFE=ZAN—FBHRFHEBQA
MF - RUHERAERRERET
BE BRARLETEEBEEE
EHBH B ERHFNA -

HREEENH EEERBEATER
HERAREZEEUA AT IRE S REE
TEE TEEeRAFERAER #
BN ATEXRABEREEENKANZE
Er TEBIBEMHERE EK
BRI ER A AT MENERE
EMKRA  WARKFER - AR &
I B PR E LA R R ﬁiﬂﬁﬁﬁ
BTFEMNREERELAE - 2FE
BEALATEERNEBE=H-

7 e 8 B Rl A W (B & BB A AR T
BE RZE_MFEFR_T-=F+
“A=+—H AEEBEHRMLAMET
¥EMYE BERREREAES
E(MF16) BRABEEBEBOARE
50,960,000t K& A IR % 536,000 7T ©

BMELEWREERERTILESSE
HWIRER2E(DTEERDIFSE
B AL A R R K5 B 8 B b
BHEE RN-ZT-_MNF+=-A=
+—BENEEEINOABARYE
30,474,000 & A R % 2,848,000 T
(ZZ =% : AR %¥33218,0007T
B A R #:3,082,0007T) ° B 7 B AT ##
B R B AR BEWHNARKES
//ILETEEKTEE;E‘E C REBE R
BERREGSBANYE  BE KR
BEAREAEEED B ERRBE
B AR30,474,000T R AR
2,848,000 (ZE=Z=F: ARKEE
TTRAREEZIT) -
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(Continued)

Concerns were raised on the compliance with a regulation
issued in 2014, which prohibits speculative investments
in entities owns solar power stations after Hebei Jiegao
underwent a government-led verification on eligibility for
renewable energy subsidies. The Group clarified that the share
transfer in October 2014 occurred before the regulation was
announced and was driven by construction funding needs, but
not speculation.

The Company did not receive any official documents explicitly
requiring the revocation of the government subsidies and
recovering of past subsidy amounts for the project upon at the
time these consolidation financial statements are authorised
for issue, and Hebei Jiegao still continues to deliver consistent
and reliable service after the verification.

However, the management took a prudent approach and
excluded the government subsidy from the cash flow forecast
during the year ended 31 December 2024, considering the
probability of collection is low.

Consequently, an impairment loss provision of approximately
RM20,702,000 (Note 27(a)ffor outstanding tariff adjustment
receivables has also been established. The management of the
Group conducted an impairment test on the property, plant,
and equipment, and right-of-use assets related to the solar
power plant in Shijiazhuang.

As a result of such an event, management has assessed the
recoverable amount of the property, plant, and equipment,
and right-of-use assets related to the solar power plant in
Shijiazhuang based on a fair value less cost of disposal, which
is determined to be higher than its value in use. The fair value
of the property, plant, and equipment is determined by using
the current replacement cost approach. Key assumptions
include quoted price in the market, which reflects cost to
acquire or construct a substitute asset of comparable utility,
which is adjusted for age, condition, economic or functional
obsolescence and environmental factor existing at the end of
the reporting date. The fair value is categorised within level 3 of
the fair value hierarchy.

After comparing the assessed recoverable amounts with the
net carrying amounts, impairment losses of approximately
RMB30,474,000 and RMB2,848,000 were recognised for
the Group’s property, plant, and equipment and right-of-use
assets (Note 16), respectively, for the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: RMBnil and RMBnil)
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IERRBR-—BER_FT-—OFMR
i ZIEHEA KRB ERETT
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ERSHREMBHRREETEE A
AEAEBENERME DX AER
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MR RTEESNEERE
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SR - & B B Uk B B AT R B &9 AT AR
MHE SEBEHENEERE B
HE_Z2_-_HWF+-_A=+—H1L
EFEMNBRESAENTRIIBRZERF
fAh -

At - FHPIIN A AR RER A EE A
FEWHBIERBREBEEREOAR
#20,702,000 7T (Ft £ 27(a)) ° A 5 &
EEEORARTEAGRE TN
BOWE BERXBEBARERREE
EETRERNR -

ZEH BEEEESREATFERREE
7S BT 1 B A R K B BE 3 E R AR
MOME BELRRBAREREER
ENAKRESE BEEERREER
BE WX BELKREBEHAFER
EREERALEE - TEBRE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MK
16. LEASES 16. HE
This note provides information for leases where the Group is a R EREAEEERABRANEE
lessee: AR
(@ Amounts recognised in the consolidated (a) REZEMERRKRER
statement of financial position S8
2024 2023
—E-EF —F-=
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETT

Right-of-use assets EHERE

Leasehold land and land use rights HELH ML FE AR 10,500 11,502

Properties IS 2,064 2,617

Equipment B 2 2
12,566 14,121

Lease liabilities HEAE

Current mE 886 2,768

Non-current ERE 11,913 10,485
12,799 13,253

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year ended
31 December 2024 amounted to RMB3,147,000 (2023:
RMB1,080,000).

HE_ZET_WH&F+_-_A=+—H1t
FE - AENTRAEEEABARYE
3147000 (ZTE-=ZF: ARK
1,080,0007T) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e mRMEE
16. LEASES (continued) 16. *H %E (&)
(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated b) REEBEERERNEHE
statement of profit or loss
2024 2023
—EC-MF —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBTTT

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets EHELEEMNITEER

Leasehold land and land use rights FAE £ 4 N £ 30 5 A 1,301 840
Properties /S 553 375
1,854 1,215
Impairment loss of right-of-use assets 17 FH 1 & R (B 15
Leasehold land and land use rights (Note 15) 8 & =+ i [ 4 b & F 4
(KT7E15) 2,848 536
Interest expense (included in finance FERZGIARERX)
expenses) (Note 12) (FF3E12) 358 718
Expense relating to short-term leases (included %2 HA78 € #0759 2 (5t A 77
in administrative expenses) (Note 7) BHEZA) (ME7) 1,120 1,658
During the year ended 31 December 2024 the total cash HEZZ-_WF+=-A=+—HLt
outflow for leases was RMB5,077,000 (2023: RMB3,105,000). FE HERSRLLBAARYE

507700t (ZE=_=ZF: AR¥
3,105,0007¢) °
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At 1 January 2023

Cost

Accumulated amortisation and
impairment

Net book amount

Year ended 31 December
2023

Opening net book amount

Impairment (Note 7)

Amortisation charge (Note 7)

Closing net book amount

At 31 December 2023 and
1 January 2024

Cost

Accumulated amortisation and
impairment

Net book amount

Year ended 31 December
2024

Opening net book amount

Amortisation charge (Note 7)

Closing net book amount

At 31 December 2024

Cost

Accumulated amortisation and
impairment

Net book amount

R-B-=%-A-H
BEN
Rt B R E

REFE

BE-_B-=%+=AH
=+—HLFE

HUEEFE

BE (i EE7)

B (ET)

EREHFE

RZZ-=f+=-A=t-~H
ER-Z-_mF-A-H

A

KAt BRI

REFE

B2-Z-_Mm&E+=A
=+—-HLEE

ENREFE

B (EET)

FRREFE
R-B-NmF¥+-A=t+-H

XA
Rt BB RRE

REFE

Goodwill (b)

R
RMB'000
AREFTT

19,462

(2,347)

17,115

17,115
(7,298)

9,817

19,462

(9,645)

9,817

9,817

9,817

19,462

(9,645)

9,817

Software

B
RMB'000
ARBTT

17,630

(17,543)

87

87

(87

17,630

(17,630)

17,630

(17,630)

Patent
=X

RMB'000
ARBTT

1,647

(1,547)

1,647

(1,547)

1,647

(1,547)

BERERRERAT £5024 12/

Service
concession
arrangement
BRI 45 7T
2
RMB’000
AREF T

60,850

(645)

60,205

60,205

(2,581)

57,624

60,850

(3,226)

57,624

57,624
(2,580)

55,044

60,850

(5,806)

55,044

Total

Mgt
RMB'000
ARBTT

99,489

(22,082)

77,407

77,407
(7,298)
(2,668)

67,441

99,489

(32,048)

67,441

67,441
2,580)

64,861

99,489

(34,628)

64,861



(@  For the year ended 31 December 2024, amortisation
amounting to RMBnil (2023: RMB87,000) was charged
to administrative expenses and RMB2,580,000 (2023:
RMB2,581,000) to cost of sales.

(b)  The following table presents the changes in goodwill for the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

As at

1 January
2023 Additions

R-ZBZ=F
—RA—BH »E

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETT AR¥TRT

Cost AR
Gao Bei Dian City = B R TR AT
Guangshuo New EREEABR
Energy Group Co., ~al([¥xE])
Ltd. (“Guangshuo”) 686 —
Hebei Fakai Energy A #EaE IR
Development Co., HEBREML
Ltd. (“Fakai”) NCIIE 3 0)) 2,209 —
Shandong Shengfeng 1L 5 5% & 24
Heating Co., BEREERTA
Ltd (“Shengfeng (Meznl)
Heating”) (c) (c) 16,567 —
19,462 —
Accumulated B4
Impairment
Guangshuo HIE (138) -
Fakai ) (2,209) -
Shengfeng BEHR ()
Heating (c) — (7,298)
(2,347) (7,298)
17,115 (7,298)
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@ #H=EZZE-_MmOF+-_A=+—H1
FE-ARBEL(ZE-=F: A
R #87,0007T ) &) # 85 5T A 1T LA
¥ A R#2580,000T( ==
F: AR ¥2581,0007T ) 5t A 4 &
B o
by TERHIHEZFT-_MOMFR_ZT=
=F+ A=+ HLEFENBZE
29 :
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2023 Additions 2024
R-ZBZ=ZF W-ZT-mE
+=B=+-—H "B +T=ZA=+-H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARBEFIT ARBFT
686 — 686
2,209 — 2,209
16,567 — 16,567
19,462 — 19,462
(138) — (138)
(2,209) — (2,209)
(7,298) — (7,298)
(9,645) — (9,645)
9,817 — 9,817



The goodwill recognised by the Group arose from the
acquisition of Shengfeng Heating in 2022. The goodwill has a
carrying amount of approximately RMB16,567,000 since the
acquisition date of 30 September 2022.

The business stream of Shengfeng Heating is expected to
benefit from the service concession agreement and such
intangible assets as a whole are important ingredient on
fulfiling its obligation to provide heat to the end users, and
there are no other units within the Company that the goodwill
can be appropriately allocated to. Accordingly, Shengfeng
Heating is identified as the cash-generating unit (*CGU”")
containing the goodwill for the purpose of impairment
evaluation of the goodwill.

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based on
value-in-use calculations which is assessed to be higher than
its fair value less cost of disposal. The value-in-use is based
on cash flows projection which covered a 5-year period,
based on financial budgets approved by the management.
The management determines the budgeted revenue, cost
and overhead based on historical experience and forecasts
of market developments and uses a pre-tax discount rate of
14% (2023: 11%) that reflects the specific risks of the relevant
asset group and portfolio of asset groups as the discount
rate; in addition, those expected cash flows beyond 5-year
period contain 0-5% (2023: 0-3%) growth rate. The above
assumptions are used to analyse the recoverable amount in
which the CGU operates.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2024, the Group tested for
impairment on goodwill on annual basis and determined the
recoverable amount with the assistant of an external valuer.
In the impairment assessment, the Group prepared a cash
flow projection for Shengfeng Heating, in which the future
net cash inflows to be generated is lower than the amount
previously budgeted. Such changes were due to the delay
in development plan in the community area by the local
government and lead to a decrease in the number of end users
to be stationed in the financial year.

AEBEANBERENR_T_—
FhRERERN - ARBAR-_F=
“HEAA=THRE BENREED
AR #16,567,0007T °

FHBREANNEBRHX DR R
BERHSE MRSEVEEFR—
BEREREEETRLRBPREMARN
MEEMNEEZAKRILD - BEXARQA
NEEEMBAEEROEERENE
- Fut - s BREGmE » &
ERNEINREEHENRESE
EBE((ReEEEEM]) -

REEESEMHNAIE S ETIRE
FTREATEET  EEFERSR
HAFTERLEKRKARN - FEREMEBTD
BEBEEEEMHENTBEE - K
ESFHEMNBESRERAABER-
EREEREMSERNEBELLER K
FEAETEERS KAMKBER
X UFERARMEBAEEMHENIREE
4548 & A2 E B A B B AT AL IR K
14% (2023: 11%)1E & Bh 3 =K 5 thob -
SFHZEMIEHEESRERF0-5%
(2023: 0-3%)M3IZ K & o Ll R&
ROMREELEEMNEENEB I
[B] & & o

REEHE-_T-_NF+_-_A=+
—BLFENGZREVBERRE A&
B % F T ERER S R INEE
HEMNB TEEATRESEE R
AR ER AEEREKREH TN
ReneRB ERBEERRKIR
SRAFHEERCATEESE -FH
BE AR ERFERERZEE
B EEEREREEIREN KK
BEHERD -
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©)  (Continued) ©

The recoverable amount of the CGU of the Shengfeng
Heating is determined to be approximately RMB49,600,000
and RMB48,400,000 as at 31 December 2024 and 2023,
respectively. The Group compared the recoverable amount
of the CGU with the adjusted carrying amount of the CGU
that included goodwill attributable to the NCI, and hence no
impairment loss on goodwill attributable to the Group was
recognised (2023: impairment loss of RMB7,298,000) based
on the cash flow projection for Shengfeng Heating.

RZEZNERZZT_=F+=A
=t H BRE2ANNBELELE
Ak EcEIREEANAR
% 49,600,000 7T & A R # 48,400,000
T AEEAS IR E A B AR Al Y[
© R B IR IR R J‘ﬁﬁ?ﬁ%ﬁa’]
ReEEBEUMKCHAZERREE
mﬁ*l%ﬁﬁﬁgﬂﬁMEéﬁi
TR WEERASEEREGEENR
BEER(CE_=F: BEBEAR
#7,298,0007T) °

RMB’000
ARETF T
Cost R A
As at 1 January 2023 RZEZ=%—H—H -
Additions NE 5,369
As at 31 December 2023, 1 January 2024and WM-_Z-_=F+_-_A=+—H —ZT N4
31 December 2024 —A—ARZFTZNFE+=ZA=+—H 5,369
Accumulated depreciation ZFWE
As at 1 January 2023 RZFE—=F—H—H -
Charge for the year FANF X (14)
As at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 HR-E-=F+_-_A=+—HRERZZE_WWF— A
—H (14)
Charge for the year FANI XL (161)
As at 31 December 2024 RZZE-_ME+_-_A=+—H (175)
Net book amount REFE
At 31 December 2024 RZZBE_ME+—_A=+—H 5,194
At 31 December 2023 RZTE_=F+=-HA=+—8H 5,355
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, several loans to third
parties were partially settled by transfer of investment properties of
approximately of RMB5,369,000.

The investment properties are held under medium lease term in the
PRC.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, rental income of
RMB108,000 was derived from the investment properties (2023:
RMB14,000).

The fair value of the investment properties situated in the PRC at 31
December 2024 was RMB5,212,000 (2023: RMB5,369,000). The
fair value was determined by management or an independent valuer
on direct comparison method assuming the sales of each property
interests in their existing state and making references to comparable
market observable transactions of similar properties in the same
locations and conditions as available in the relevant market.

ai_;:_¢+—H:+—E¢¢E’
ETREFEZITNERCEBEZHA
R #5,369,000 T K& E Y B S ©

BREMERTEZPHBEERAREE -

HE-_ZE-_WNF+_-_A=+—HLEFE"
e WA AREE108,000TT K B R & ) 2
(ZZE=—=F: AR¥14,0007T) °

MNARFRENEEMER S _OF+=A
:+*EMA$@ﬁAEMmeﬁﬁ
(ZE=—=F: AR¥5,369,0007C) - & F
BEVHEEREEXBLGAEMNEE  BRS
MERRRKHEERS  T2EFBMEHEA
ERMERMCE RIGENEUMENT]E
LBRTSIBERS -
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Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities

BIETRIEE E
EXEBBERR

Movements in deferred tax assets are as follows:

As at 1 January 2023
Charge to profit or loss (Note 13)

As at 31 December 2023 and
1 January 2024

Credit to profit or loss (Note 13)

As at 31 December 2024
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R=-—Z=-=
+ZA=+-8BR
—E-_NE-A—H

RIB2E AR (i 3E13)

R-B-MF
+=A=t-H

Loss
allowance
for trade and
other
receivables
B RHAM
Rt
BERE
RMB’000
ARBTF T

3,154
(282)

2,872
348

3,220

2024

—EoME
RMB’000
AR%F R

3,593

(15,015)

BEREBREENESHOT :

Impairment of

property, plant
and equipment

ME - BER
RERE
RMB’000

ARET T

339

339

339

Impairment
of intangible
assets

BVEE
L E
RMB’000
ARBETT

34

34

34

2023
—E=F
RMB’000
ARET T

3,245
(15,783)

Total

£
RMB’000
ARBTT

3,527
(282)

3,245
348

3,593



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I ERAR MR
19. DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued) 19. IEE RSB @

Movements in deferred tax liabilities are as follows:

BEERBAENESHNT

Fair value
adjustments in

business

combinations

E 3Ry

AEERAE

RMB’000

AREET T

As at 1 January 2023 R==ZE=-=%—-H—H 18,846

Credit to profit or loss (Note 13) REZEARMIFE13) (3,063)
As at 31 December 2023 and R-EBE-_=F+=-A=+-HK

1 January 2024 —E-WFE-HA—H 15,783

Credit to profit or loss (Note 13) REZEARPIFE13) (768)

As at 31 December 2024 R-ZE-_ME+=-A=+—H 15,015

20. CONTRACT BALANCES 20. &K 4 BR
Contract assets EHREE

2024 2023

—E-NE —E =4

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETT

Unbilled revenue of public infrastructure

NEABRFREANARRE

construction contracts e 2 171,215 184,360
During the year ended 31 December 2024, approximately of REBEE-ZZT-_MEF+=-_A=+—HIF
RMB41,580,000 (2023: RMB25,000,000) was transferred from B #HARE41,580,000T(ZF = =4

contract assets to trade receivables.

AR¥25000,0000) HAENEEEREZ
5 EWFRIE o
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Contract liabilities

Contract liabilities represented rendering smart energy service
of approximately RMB6,969,000 (2023: RMB7,939,000) and
pipeline connection and maintenance services under service
concession agreement of approximately RMB20,707,000 (2023:
RMB21,414,000).

Movement in the contract liabilities is as follows:

As at 1 January Hn—A—H

Amounts included in contract liabilities that was 5+ A FE RNER A 4

recognised during the year

BHNEE

AHABERERESEERRBEOAR
#6,969,0007t( — B - = F: AR ¥
7,939,00070) A R BRISH A IHBE B THE
BEEEMEERSE N AR 20,707,000
(ZZT =4 : AR¥21,414,0007T) °

BHRBENEFHNT

MBEZFA

Cash received in advance of performance and 5t 7% 28 78 U & 1A G A I R FE R

R AR E

not recognised as revenue during the year

As at 31 December

The performance obligation of rendering smart energy service is part
of a contract that has an original expected duration within the next
12 months.

The following table shows the amount of transaction price allocated
to unsatisfied performance obligations relating to pipeline connection
and maintenance services that will be recognised as revenue in future

periods:
Less than 1 year R—FR
Between 1-2 years —FEMF
Between 2-3 years MEE=4F
Over 3 years =FHE
Total 45T
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R+-—A=+—8

2024 2023
—E_NEF —EZ=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T T
29,353 24,381
(7,734) (8,666)
6,057 13,638
27,676 29,353
REREESERERGOBANEFTRBENH
— 2o EHMRATEEHR AR K12(E
AR
TRITHETHEEEE REEREAE
BN RABAHEENRZBKERE  HBER
RARBEER AW ¢
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AR T T
975 963
975 963
975 963
17,782 18,525
20,707 21,414



The Group’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024 and
2023 are set out below. The place of incorporation is also their

principal place of business.

Name of entity

BREEHE

Beijing Longguang Energy Technology
Co., Ltd (“Beijing Longguang”)
I REXERREBERAR (L RE,])

Beijing LongjiTaihe Energy Technology
Co., Ltd
It REERMERHRERAT

Hebei Longitech Cloud Energy Technology
Co., Ltd.
AILEERMELRMEERAA

Gao Bei Dian City Guangshuo New Energy
Group Co., Ltd.
BEETRENEREEFRAA

Zhongneng Hexin Longhua County Solar
Power Generation Co., Ltd.

hRENEREEAGREEEFREELA

Hebei Yuedu City Construction Investment
Co., Ltd.
AILREH M RRIREER AT

Baoding Qiantai Investment Co., Ltd.

RELFHEBRAA

Shengfeng Heating

WRBEERANEREEAT

Notes:

Place of incorporation
and kind of legal entity

oM A ST 4t B R
EEREER

the PRC,
limited liability company

FEEREELA

the PRC,
limited liability company

FEEREELA

the PRC,
limited liability company
HTEBEREEAA

the PRC,
limited liability company

FEEREEILA

the PRC,
limited liability company

FEAREELA

the PRC,
limited liability company
HTEBEREEAA

the PRC,
limited liability company

FEEREELA

the PRC,
limited liability company

FEEREELA

TRINFAEER _F_MFER_FT_=
FT-_A=+—HBWETEME QA - M

BB MR E T EEEME -

Ownership
interest direct
held by  Principal
Registered capital the Company activities
rEEEE
BENFRA
HMER ERE TEER
RMB90,000,000 100% Smart energy service
A R 90,000,000 7T BERRS
RMB50,000,000 100% Smart energy service
AR #50,000,0007 BB RRY
RMB300,000,000 100% Smart energy service
A R 300,000,000 7T BEERRY
RMB125,708,800 100%  Operation of solar
power plant
A R #125,708,800 7T HEHREL
RMB10,000,000 100%  Operation of solar
power plant
A E#10,000,0007T BEKR KB
RMB120,000,000 100% Public infrastructure
construction
AR #120,000,0007T NERF
RMB120,000,000 100%  Public infrastructure
construction
AR #120,000,0007T NERF
RMB30,185,065 90%  Smart energy service
A R #30,185,065 7T BEERRE
B 5

(i)

The principal place of operation of each subsidiary is the same as its place (i)

of incorporation.

The English names of certain subsidiaries represent the best effort by (ii)

the Group’s management to translate their Chinese names, as these

subsidiaries do not have official English names.

BB A 2 R4S I B B E G K St B
EIET

MRETHEAALES FRXARE KX
XEBNAEBERBERRASNHEAX
2 BB -
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The table below provides the reconciliation of the Group’s aggregate TREHAEBABE AR ERER
carrying amounts of investments in associates from opening to B E R A R R ¥R -
closing balances:

2024 2023
s —E=HF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBTTT

Opening balance RT3 - -
Share of net profit of associates accounted for % FA # 5 A A Bk RO B 4 A &)
using the equity method 4 10 &8 — 30,520
Dividend received 2R B — (30,520)
Closing balance B R 45 4 - -
Set out below are the associates of the Group as at 31 December NTEHNWASER - -_MFR T ==
2024 and 2023. The entities listed below have share capital F+-_A=+—HHEEQR - N5 EH
consisting solely of ordinary shares, which are held indirectly by the MEAERZTEREX BARAMER
Company. The place of incorporation is also their principal place of BeRAlFEMA MBI AEEEE i
business, and the proportion of ownership interest is the same as the BB ERENLMEEENRERL
proportion of voting rights held. BIAE R -
% of ownership interest Carrying amount
As at 31 December As at 31 December
FrE&EREELLH REE
R+=A=+—~H R+=B=+—H
Place of Measurement
Name of entity incorporation 2024 2023 method 2024 2023
ERER MK —T-NFE —_T-=F FTEHE —E-_NF ZTZ=F
Longyao (Beijing) Clean the PRC N/A 45% Equity method - —
Energy Technology Co.,
Ltd. (“Longyao Beijing”) (a)
R OER)EREREE FEH TEA &= 0%

BR2A([FEEIER]E)

Gao Bei Dian City Longchuang the PRC 40% 40% Equity method - —
Central Heating Co., Ltd.
(“Longchuang Heating”) (b)

SRETRAEFHAE FE %
R 2R (TFE R D(b)
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(a)

(b)

On 4 June 2018, Baoding Yize New Energy Technology Co.,
Ltd. (“Baoding Yize"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, and Beijing Yaohui Hengchang Technology
Partnership Enterprise (Limited Partnership) (“Beijing
Yaohui”), an independent third party, agreed to make capital
contribution to Longyao Beijing, which is principally engaged
in heat supply business. As a result, Baoding Yize obtained
45% equity interest in Longyao Beijing and shall contribute
RMB135,000,000 to Longyao Beijing before 31 December
2021. During the year ended 31 December 2021, Baoding Yize
and Beijing Yaohui had entered into supplemental agreement
that the unpaid amount to be paid before 31 December 2025.
Upon to 31 December 2023, RMB33,400,000 has been paid
by Baoding Yize.

On 5 January 2024, Longyao Beijing had been deregistered
and such commitment of capital contribution (Note 22(d)) had
been lapsed.

On 21 May 2019, Beijing Longguang, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a capital
increase agreement with Hebei Julin Chuanghe Cultural
Communication Co., Ltd. (“‘Hebei Julin”), a company owned
by the Controlling Shareholder, Mr. Wei Shaojun, pursuant to
which Beijing Longquang agreed to make capital contribution
to Longchuang Heating, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hebei
Julin. As a result, Beijing Longguang obtained 40% equity
interest of Longchuang Heating by making capital contribution
of RMB245,000,000. According to the valuation report issued
by an independent third-party valuer, the Group’s share of
the fair value of Longchuang Heating's identifiable assets and
liabilities on the acquisition date was RMB263,000,000. The
excess of the Group'’s share of the fair value of Longchuang
Heating's identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of
investment amounting to RMB18,000,000 was included as
share of net profit of associates accounted for using the equity
method for the year ended 31 December 2019.

()

RZZE—NFAAEA AQ A M
BE2EWBRARRERZEFER
BMEBRAR(TRE R E]) BB
FEZHFLLRRBREEEREAED
¥(EREB) (LB EDRER
Rt R (EFEREHBER) ET
HE B (RE R ZISERI
RAS%BHEBER T -_—F+=
A=Z+— B mBRIETHEAR
#135,000,0007t e REE =T = —
F+-_A=+—BLEE BREH
BRI ERBI A ERE BR
2 _AF+ZRAR=Z+—HAEIX
NEANR BE-_ZE-_=%+=-A8
T+ B REHRBEIMTARY
33,400,0007T °

R-ZE-_ME—AFRA BRIERE
WS mHEEF(HiE22d) B
R o

R-ZZE—hAhERBE=-+—H &ARQda
ME2EWE QR RE X EHE
BERR B E kA A R I BB
BlIA b EEAR AR (AL BH])
HREREWE  LRBENRE AL
BHMzE2EMERREAERNET
BE-F bt REXEHEEAR
# 245,000,000 7t BY 15 [& &I 2 77 40%
BRiE-REBYE=HEHEEMEEDN
HERE ~AEERGERAZNR
KWEBMAZNEERABBENRTE
B & A R #263,000,0007C ° A~ & &
BIERABNTZNEERBEN
AFEBEEERANIT D ARE
18,000,000 TEt ABE =T —NF+
At BLEEFEEFRAESEA
BRAVESE & N R AL FI D 58 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR MR

22. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR 22 AR EARNEKE @

USING THE EQUITY METHOD (continued)

(b) (Continued)

According to the capital increase agreement, Hebei Julin has
a profit guarantee for Longchuang Heating, which will be
assessed by Beijing Longguang and Hebei Julin every three
years from 1 January 2020. The profit compensation will be
calculated at the end of each three-year term and settled by
Hebei Julin on or before 31 March of the year immediately
following the relevant three-year term. The first three-year term
ending 31 December 2022 had been assessed on 31 March
20283. According to the assessment result, Hebei Julin should
pay compensation of RMB21,600,000 to Beijing Longguang.
For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 31 March 2023. As at the date of this annual report,
Beijing Longguang has not received any compensation.

(C) The Group has discontinued recognition of its share of losses
of its associates. The amount of unrecognised share of losses
the associates for the year and cumulatively are as follows:

(b) @0

(c)

BRI EHE WL BRMEERIE D
FERIRE ZRBEH-ZZ_ZF
— A — B A4 & A 4L B
ME=—FEZ— K - HABELES
= FHEREFTE - WAL BME
REREEH=-"FHEZ2FEZ=A
=+ B AR BHEZZT ==
E+-_AZ+ - BNE—BEZFH
REE_ZTZ-_=—F=-_A=+—H#
TEZ - BEEZER  TLBHE
M4k R BE 3k 3 A R # 21,600,000 7T
Zﬁﬁ%°%%%%ﬁ$ TE%#
—EZ=F=RA=+—HzRa%-
EARERE AL FE AR B E AT
HER-

AEBERIEEREREZ QAN
BRMNE - FARE QB R ARHER
BEMEMAT

2024 2023
—E-NE —F-=
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETT

Unrecognised share of losses of associates 7% 4 € B & A 5] B R T 3R

for the year EEHNTE
— Longyao Beijing — BB
— Longchuang Heating — Ealz A

associates EE MR
— Longchuang Heating — [ERIZ A

Cumulative unrecognised share of losses of & 5t & R H B 2 A 7

N/ATIE A (1,861)
48,400 27,317
387,977 339,577

(d) Commitments in respect of an associate

(d) Bk B AR BAAIE

2024 2023
—E-NF —ZT—=
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETT

Investment in Longyao Beijing RERIERRE

N/ATE A 101,600
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23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

CATEGORY

The Group holds the following financial instruments:

(a) Financial assets

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I ERAR MR

23. SR T E®ERA

AEEFAETIERIA:

(@ EMEE

Financial assets at
amortised cost

RBERATENSREE
2024 2023
—E-_ME —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETT

Trade and other receivables

g5 REMEYR(TE

(excluding non-financial assets) FEFEemEE) 291,631 277,556
Restricted cash PR HIIR & 1,885 38
Time deposits with original maturity REEAAHEB=EAH

over three months TE B R 177,934 —
Cash and cash equivalents RehBeEEY 41,649 207,705

513,099 505,299

(b) Financial liabilities

b) EREE

Financial liabilities at
amortised cost

RBERATENSREE
2024 2023

—E-NEF —ET-=
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETT

Trade and other payables
(excluding non-financial liabilities)

Borrowings

Lease liabilities

B 5 N E A B RIA

(TREFEemEE) 58,070 52,705
BE 133,600 160,500
HEAE 12,799 13,253

204,469 226,458
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Loans to third parties REEERTFE=H

Less: loss allowance B R E

Interests from loans to related parties and third parties charged at
commercial rates are included in finance income.

For debt investments at amortised cost showing a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, a total allowance of lifetime
expected credit losses amounting to approximately RMB24,030,000
was recognised as at 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB49,385,000).

Movement in the loss allowance of other financial assets measured
at amortised cost is as follows:

2024 2023
—EMEF —E-=F

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE TR AR T T

24,030 49,385
(24,030) (49,385)

REHEERTEB O RE=TTHNMNEEBE
A EYE - SEAREWARA

HYBYVHREREBEERKREZEMNOIR
BERATENBERRE RZTMF
T AT HERNFERBEHEEES
BRBEBELY B ARE24,030,0007T (=
T =% : AR®49,385,0007T) °

2 54 P R O L A S R E O 9B
EEDWT

Loans to third parties

RHERTFE=FR

RMB’000

ARBTFT

As at 1 January 2023 R=-ZB-=f—-—8A—H 55,683

Decrease in loss allowance &5 18 BB R (929)

Derecognition for portion settled by investment properties 4% IFFER AR E M ELEE LD (5,369)
As at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 R-B-=%+=-A=+—H

kK-—Z2-_mWE&E—A—H 49,385

Written-off 1 58 (16,734)

Decrease in loss allowance &5 1B B R (8,621)

As at 31 December 2024 R=FB-M&+=-A=+—H 24,030
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Note: The Group’s loans to third parties mainly include various loans provided to

target companies in accordance with the payment arrangement of potential
acquisition transactions. The Group recovered part of the loans during the
year ended 31 December 2024, a total allowance for expected credit losses
amounting to approximately RMB24,030,000 was recognised as at 31
December 2024 (2023: RMB49,385,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2024, RMB8,621,000 was recovered
by cash settlement (2023: RMB5,369,000 was recovered by transfer of
investment properties (note 18), and the remaining RMB929,000 were
recovered by cash settlement).

The security of loans to third parties is as follows:

Principal amount as
at 31 December 2024
R-B-mE+=8

Pledged assets

= el = N:p N EEHREE
RMB’000
AR¥TR
2,000 Borrower’s assets
EBERANEE
22,030 Borrower’s assets and equity interest in a third-

party company
BRAEREE-—HEE =7 QR0 KRE

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group’s other financial assets
measured at amortised cost were all denominated in RMB.

Since the other financial assets measured at amortised cost were short-term
in nature and the interest rates were close to the market rates, the carrying
amounts of other financial assets measured at amortised cost were not
materially different from their fair values as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

e AEERAE=FRENERIERESER
B TE U BE X 5 B 1+ 3K ﬁmﬁaﬁﬂﬁk 3:0)
B -RBE-_T-_mME&+-_A=1+—H81
FE - ALEERBTHIER MR =FT=
ME+-—_A=+—HAnBEHEEBERER
HREH AR 24,030,000 (Z T = =4F:
A R #49,385,0007T) °

REBEE-FE-_NF+=_A=+—HLFE"
/\E%&aznooofnﬁ;@ﬁ@m T E (=T
=4 : AR¥5,369,0007TiE BEEREY
¥ (MF5E18) Ya e - ifn gk T~ A R #5 929,000 7T Al
ERBASEEWRME) -

RAE=ZTRENERERNOT :

Guarantees

BRA

By the borrower’s controlling shareholder and an
independent third party
ERAERBRRRE -—2BULE=F

By one of the shareholders of the borrower and
independent third parties
ERAN—EBRERBIE=H

R —_NFR=ZFE_=F+=_A=+—
A AEEREBENAFTENEMEREE
2EAARBEE -

MR IZ AR AR B E A S B E B G
HERMEEMZHERE AR =_F=-N
FRZIFIZFFTRA=+HEREHERA
RAEMEGEREENREERL A FEM
ETK

BERBEERARDT FH2024
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e M ERAR MR

25. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

25 HittEREBEE

2024 2023

—E-NF —E=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMET T AREET T

Recoverable value-added tax to be utilised after 7 — 4 1% (& 3 #9 £ 5 FN 14 (B 73
one year EIBR © 9,058 9,063
26. INVENTORIES 26. 78

2024 2023

—E-NE —E-=4F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARET T

Finished goods SURK an 2,955 4,865
Less: write-downs of inventories W TFERE 1) (@)
2,954 4,864

Cost of inventories amounting to RMB1,853,000 were recognised
as cost of sales during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
RMB1,478,000).

Write-downs of inventories to net realisable value amounting to
RMBnil (2023: RMBnil) were recognised in cost of sales during the
year ended 31 December 2024.

BEZZT-_NMFE+-A=+—HLFE"

FEKAKNAREK18530007T(=-Z =

F: ANR¥1,478,0007T) B R HE KA °

HE-_Z-_M&E+-_A=+—HIFE "
FERZAZRFENKEARBST T
(ZZEZ=F: ARBZT)BERRNIBEK

A o
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27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 27.

e I ERAR MR

BEZREMEWRRKIER

2024 2023
—E_WF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBTTT

Trade receivables (a) 2 5 FEUFRIA (a) 306,131 287,572
Tariff adjustment receivables (o) B B A BB U FIE (b) 166,765 149,113
472,896 436,685
Less: loss allowance o BB ERE (252,466) (225,192)
Total trade receivables B 5 EWFRIAEEEE 220,430 211,493
Prepayments FEAT IR 460 1,302
Deposits and other receivables e RE M ERFKIA 72,714 66,620
Less: loss allowance o BB RS (557) (857)
Total trade and other receivables B 5 Kk HEAhFEWRIBE B TS 293,047 278,858
Non-current portion JEmEE D (23,570) (23,570)
Current portion mENER 269,477 255,288

As at 31 December 2024, the collection rights of trade receivables
derived from certain solar power plants with carrying amount of
RMB144,274,000 (2023: RMB148,612,000) were pledged as
security for the Group’s borrowings (Note 32).

Ageing analysis of trade receivables on gross basis, based on the
invoice date is as follows:

R-ZEBE-_WMEFE+-_A=Z+—RH kBET
FARBUBREE A K 144,274,000 (=
T =4F: AR¥148,612,0007T) & 5
JEUR R B ERIEIFIEAREBEED
R (FF3E32) -

ERERAHNE ZEUGKEEEDREK
DT

2024 2023
—ENF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBTTT

Within 1 year R—FR 58,592 53,209
1 year to 2 years —FEMF 38,367 57,378
2 years to 3 years MEE=F 56,003 47,721
Over 3 years =FAE 319,934 278,377

472,896 436,685
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(@ Trade receivables from sales of household solar power
generation systems are due within 180 days from the date
of biling. Trade receivables from rendering smart energy
services are due within one year from the date of billing.
Trade receivables from sales of electricity are due within one
month from the date of biling. To measure the expected
credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics and ageing. The allowance
for trade receivables as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 was
determined as follows:

As at 31 December 2024

Sales of household solar Past due
power generation Not yet within
systems HEFRAXRESR pastdue 6 months

B
HMABHE e6@AR

Indlividually assessed: 18 5l 54 -
Gross carrying amount REAE

(RMB'000) (ARBFT) 1 -
Loss allowance (RMB’000) E51E# & (AR T L) - -

Collectively assessed: AT
Expected loss rate EHEEE 0.00% 0.00%
Gross carrying amount R

(RMB’000) (ARETFT) - 16,748

Loss allowance (RMB’000) E5#E#E (AREFT) - -

Total loss allowance BERELE
(RMB’000) (ARETFT)
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RABEFAXKRESZENE S EK
FBEERMEBHHLIS0OKX A EH - 3k
BERUESEERRENE S EWRK
BEEMERHE—FRNEH - 2REH
EENMEBESRKRFBEERELS
B—EARIH - AFEEHEES
B BRURZERBEARESEERK
BEERERTUDE RZT_WF
;rE=EZ=%+=-RA=+—H B%
W FREHBEETNOT

R-ZB-_NE+=A=+—H

Past due

Past due between

between 18 months Past due

6 months to to over
18 months 30 months 30 months Total

B B

BEe@A 18R ZE 3018 A
Z18f@ A 3018 A HE st

= = 186,303 186,304
= —  (178,390)  (178,390)

4.28% 8.42% 12.20%
5,119 10,958 7,421 40,246
219) (923) (906) (2,048)

(180,438)
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II"_\élﬁ\jﬁiﬁﬁ B{q-E;I
27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 27. EZ RE M EWRKE@®
(Continued)
(@)  (Continued) @ (&)
As at 31 December 2023 R-ZE-_=%+=-A=+—H
Past due
Sales of household solar Past due between Past due Past due
power generation Not yet within - 6 months to over over
systems HEFRAXRASK pastdue  6months 18months 18 months 30 months Total

BH  eEAZE 1818 A 3018 A

WABE 6EAR 1818 A Ak A @t

Individually assessed: 1E BT 1 -
Gross carrying amount R4

(RMB’000) (ANRETFT) — — - — 191,203 191,203
Loss allowance (RMB’000) E51BEE (AREFT) - - - —  (179,868)  (179,868)
Collectively assessed: HE T
Expected loss rate HHEEX 0.00% 0.00% 4.64% 8.99% 0.00%
Gross carrying amount FRE 4

(RMB'000) (AREFT) 7,028 5,007 10,958 8,033 - 31,246
Loss allowance (RMB’000) &1 & & (AREFT) - - (509) (723) — (1,232)
Total loss allowance BERELSS

(RMB’000) (AR®FT) (181,100)
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e M ERAR MR

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

(@  (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024

27. E 5 & H {tb FE L FX3E )

@ (&)

R=-Z-_M&E+=-A=+—H

Past due Past due
Past due between between Past due
Rendering smart Not yet within 1 year 2 years over
energy services R EZRERRH past due 1year and2years and 3 years 3 years Total
gt gt gt
HABE BEIFR 1FZE26 25Z3F 3FEN L st
Indlividually assessed: 8] 5 7F 12
Gross carrying amount B il 42 58
(RMB’000) (AR®FT) 12 - - 3,900 32,701 36,613
Loss allowance EEEE
(RMB'000) (ARETFT) = -~ - (3900)  (32,701)  (36,601)
Collectively assessed: A5 ¥ 17 -
Expected loss rate BHEEE 0.00% 4.28% 8.42% 12.20% 15.53%
Gross carrying amount B [l #2 28
(RMB’000) (ARETFT) 10,781 131 114 - - 11,026
Loss allowance EEEE
(RMB’000) (AREFT) = (6) (10) = = (16)
Total loss allowance 5B E45 5
(RMB’000) (AREBTT) (36,617)
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e I ERAR MR

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 27. E 5 & H {th FE W FXIE ()

(Continued)

(@  (Continued) @ (&)
As at 31 December 2023 R-ZE-_=%+=-A=+—H
Past due Past due
Past due between between Past due

Rendering smart Not yet within 1 year 2 years over

energy services REEZERRRE past due 1year and2vyears and 3 years 3 years Total

HWABH BEIFA  1£EE22F  25E23F 3FNLE st

Indlividually assessed: 8] 5 7F 12
Gross carrying amount B il 42 58

(RMB’000) (AR®FT) - — — 1,908 27,693 29,601
Loss allowance BRERE

(RMB’000) (AR¥ETFIT) - - - (1,908)  (27,693)  (29,601)
Collectively assessed: A5 ¥ 17 -
Expected loss rate BHEEE 0.00% 4.64% 8.99% 12.99% 16.48%
Gross carrying amount B [l #2 28

(RMB’000) (ARETFT) - 343 4,289 3,100 — 7,732
Loss allowance BiERE

(RMB’000) (AR®T) - - (199) (279) - (478)
Total loss allowance ~ E5iEE H @

(RMB’000) (AR FT) (30,079)
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(@  (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024

Sales of electricity Past due
(non-government HEED Not yet within
entities) (EBFEE) pastdue 11 months

ol
HAAHE 11EAR

Individually assessed: B BIFF 1

Gross carrying amount  BRE 4858
(RMB’000) (AREBFT) - -

Loss allowance BEEE
(RMB'000) (AR®T) - -

Collectively assessed: AT -

Expected loss rate EHERE 0.00% 0.00%

Gross carrying amount  ff 7 44 58
(RMB’000) (ARBFT) 2,444 6,004

Loss allowance BEEE
(RMB’000) (AREFT) - -

Total loss allowance BEREEE
(RMB’000) (ANRBFT)
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Past due
between
11 months
and

23 months

BE11EA
2238 A

4.28%

5,211

(223)

(#8)

R-ZE-_MNE+=-A=+—H

Past due
between
23 months
and

35 months

BHI2318 A
Z35f8 A

649

(649)

8.42%

4,207

(354)

Past due
between
35 months  Past due
and over
47 months 47 months Total
B
BHE351E A 4718 A
Z4718 A Mt @t
857 11,778 13,284
(857) (11,778) (13,284)
12.20% 15.53%
204 588 18,658
(25) (91) (693)
(13,977)
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GAMERENE
27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 27. EZ R H Mt B R IE )
(Continued)
(@)  (Continued) @ (&)
As at 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+=-A=+—H
Past due Past due Past due
between between between
Sales of electricity Past due 11 months 23 months 35months  Past due
(non-government HEED Not yet within and and and over
entities) (EHFEE) pastdue 1imonths  23months  35months 47 months 47 months  Total

wy BH1EAR AHs@EA  AHSSEA 4718 A
WABE 11EAR Z23{8 A 235(8 A 24718 A BA £ BEr

Individually assessed: B BIFF 1
Gross carrying amount  BE 7 48 %8

(RMB’000) (ANRBFT) - - 649 857 4,278 7,500 13,284
Loss allowance BB EE
(RMB’000) (ANREBFT) - - (649) (857) (4,278) (7,500) (13,284)

Collectively assessed: ~ HA VI -

Expected loss rate EHBEE 0.00% 0.00% 4.64% 8.99% 12.99% 16.48%
Gross carrying amount  BRTE #858

(RMB'000) (NE®F ) 1,550 7,207 4,671 469 194 395 14,506
Loss allowance BEEE

(RMB000) (ARBFL) - - (217) 42) (25) 65 (349
Total loss allowance BEEBLE

(RMB'000) (ARBTFT) (13,633)
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(@)

(Continued)

As at 31 December 2024

Sales of electricity
(tariff adjustment
receivables)

Indlividually assessed:

Gross carrying amount
(RMB’000)

Loss allowance
(RMB’000)

Collectively assessed:

Expected loss rate

Gross carrying amount
(RMB’000)

Loss allowance
(RMB'000)

Total loss allowance
(RMB’000)

HEESD
(EERE
Y RIR)

Not yet
past due

SRS E

18 5 &¥ 12 -
EHBE

(AREBTT) =
BERE

(ARBTT) =

AR
BHEREE
REER
(ARETT)
EiREE
(ARBTT) -

0%

14,877

ERBERE
(ARETT)

As at 31 December 2023

Sales of electricity
(tariff adjustment
receivables)

Collectively assessed:

Expected loss rate

Gross carrying amount
(RMB’000)

Loss allowance
(RMB’000)

Total loss allowance
(RMB’000)

HEEN
(EERE
EYRIE)

Not yet
past due

EES

AR
EHBEAEX
EHEAE
(ARETT)
ERRE
(ARETT) -

0.00%

1,939

BRAGRR
(ARETT)

Past due
within
11 months

B
11EAR

0%

7,725

Past due
within
11 months

i 5
MEAR

0.00%

29,896
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@)

Past due
between
11 months
and

23 months

#1116 A
Z2318 A

1,324

(1,324)

0.17%
26,582

(44)

Past due
between
11 months
and

23 months

BE11EA
Z2318 A

0.13%
36,811

(48)

(&)
R-ZE-_MNE+=-A=+—H
Past due Past due
between between
23 months 35 months  Past due
and and over
35 months 47 months 47 months Total
g
BH3EA AEH3BMEA 4718 A
Z35f8 A 24718 A BE @3
4,361 4,353 10,664 20,702
(4,361) (4,353) (10,664) (20,702)
0.39% 0.67% 1.01%
31,815 27,579 37,485 146,063
(125) (185) (378) (732)
(21,434)
RZFZ=F+=RA=+—H
Past due Past due
between between
23 months 35months  Past due
and and over
35 months 47 months 47 months Total
& 5
BE2BMEA BHI3BEA 4718 A
=351 A Z4718 A Pk @
0.25% 0.43% 0.64%
33,354 25,841 21,272 149,113
(84) (112 (136) (380)
(380)



(b) As at 31 December 2024, RMB144,163,000 (2023: by RZZTEZ@EF+=ZA=+—H" 25@
RMB117,278,000) of tariff adjustment receivables, derived HEE DB E B A EEKK
from the subsidies in respect of sales of electricity were AR #144,163,00070 (Z & = = ¢
past due for more than 11 months and above. Applying AR #117,278,0007T) B %1 Bf B 8 11
the expected credit risk model result in recognition of loss ERAE -FERBEHEERMREKERS
allowance amounted to RMB732,000 as at 31 December ﬁl RZEBE_MNE+ZA=+—B#®
2024 (2023: RMB380,000). In addition, loss allowance Jééﬁ BEEARET73200T(ZE
resulting from the individual assessment of tariff adjustment — =% : AR¥380,0007T) ° o -
receivables amounting to approximately RMB20,702,000 was EER T EERAERBKKRIBESE
recoginsed during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: r B EEE N AR20,702,0007T E
RMB nil). Refer to Note 15(c) for further details. REBEE-ZZT-_NF+=_A=+—8H
iﬁzrﬁﬁwu(— = _ = E'E /\Emi
TC) o 2B EE15(C) A T BRFEIS -
() Movement in the loss allowance for trade and other receivables © EBEZkEMERFEBEEERENZ
is as follows: B
2024 2023
—E-MF B4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT R ARETT
Opening balance HR A 45 4 225,749 229,832
Increase/(decrease) in loss allowance E BRI O )
— Trade receivables — B 5 EIRGIE 27,274 (4,083)
— Other receivables — Hfh pE Y R IE — -
Written-off as uncollectible 455 W 3] 1 8
— Trade receivables — B S REWFIE - —
— Other receivables — H b pE W FR A — -
Closing balance B R 45 &4 253,023 225,749
(d)  The Group’s trade and other receivables were denominated in 0 AEEZHKHMERKIENL T
the following currencies: BEH¥EHE -
2024 2023
—E-ME B =F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT AREBTT
HKS BT 316 118
RMB AR # 292,731 278,740
293,047 278,858

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the carrying amounts of RZ-ZTZ @ FRZZEZ=F+=A

trade and other receivables approximated their fair values. =+t—H B RHEAMERFIENR
FEREEQNFEES -
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B BRRME

28. RESTRICTED CASH 28. ¥RFIRE
As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s restricted cash amounted to RZBE-_WNF+=—A=Z+—8 AEEH
RMB1,885,000 (2023: RMB38,000), is mainly used for settlement AR R e ARK1,885000m(=ZF =
on the development of designated public infrastructure construction =% : AR¥38,0007) EZ B
business. RIEEAEERER-
29. TIME DEPOSITS WITH ORIGINAL 20. REZHAEB=AN
MATURITY OVER THREE MONTHS EHF M
As at 31 December 2024, time deposits with original maturity over RZE-_MFF+_A=+—H THRAX
three months in banks of the Group amounted to RMB177,934,000 EEERTRIBABB=EANTHTR
(2023: RMBnil) with fixed interest rates ranging from 1.55% to 4.85% BAREE177,934000(ZE=Z=F : AR
per annum (2023: nil), which were not reported as cash and cash BT BEFFENF1.55%F4.85%(=
equivalents. TZ=F:F5n) WEEHWAEESREAS
30. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 0. RERAEEZEEY
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%FT ARBETF T
Cash at bank |ITFX 41,649 227,705

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents were denominated in the
following currencies:

AEENReRBASFEMWUATIE

5HE

2024 2023

—E-NEF —E=-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBET T
us$ ETT 2 17,184
HK$ BT 20,470 23,867
RMB AR 21,177 186,654
41,649 227,705
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e R R M
31. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 3. RA R f#E
(@) Share capital (@) B
Authorised and issued share capital: EERBBITRA
2024 2023
—E-ME —EZ=F
No. of No. of
shares Amount shares Amount
BB S8 BSLEgE! |
000 HK$’000 ‘000 HK$'000
R FER T FHET
Authorised: ETE
Ordinary shares of SREECOETT
HK$0.01 each R B 2,000,000 20,000 2,000,000 20,000

Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid:

TRl BERTADAER

2024 2023
—E-ME —To=F

No. of RMB No. of RmMB

shares Amount equivalent shares Amount equivalent

BRHEE ¢¥ ZHEARE B BB £ FEARE

’000 HK$’000 RMB’000 000 HK$'000 RMB’000

TRk THEr AR®ETR F FHEL ARETT

At1Januaryand BR—H—H R
31 December +-A=+—H 1,484,604 14,846 12,255 1,484,604 14,846 12,255
(b) Reserves (b) =
() Share premium (i) BRE

The excess of the issued price net of any issuance MBEMETE % B17E
expenses over the par value of the shares issued has BREETRMEENSLS

been credited to share premium of the Company.

FEAR QAR B AD 5 (B

Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman BHEHEHES QA ZEKE
Islands, the funds in share premium are distributable ) BMDEREFNESA DK
to the shareholders of the Company provided that FARE KR FEZRERE E
immediately following the date on which the dividend EEREE  AABAEER
is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in —MEBBERINANES -

a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the

ordinary course of business.
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(b) Reserves (Continued)

(i) Statutory reserve
The PRC statutory reserve were established in
accordance with the relevant rules and regulations of the
PRC and the articles of association of the companies
within the Group. The companies in the PRC are
required to transfer certain proportion of their net profit (after
offsetting prior-year losses) to general statutory reserve.
For the year ended 31 December 2024, RMB1,612,000
was credited to statutory reserve (2023: RMB1,626,000).

General statutory reserve can be used to reduce prior-
year losses, if any, and may be converted into paid-
in/share capital by issuing new shares to shareholders
proportionate to their existing percentage of equity
interests provided that the balance after such issue is not
less than 25% of the registered capital. General statutory
reserve is non-distributable other than in liquidation.

Secured bank finance BERRITHE
Pledged and guaranteed borrowings (a) BERLEREEQ
Current B

Pledged and guaranteed borrowings FEHEEREER
Non-current FERN A

Pledged and guaranteed borrowings EEREEREE
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(b) & & )

(i)

EERE
AEEEREFBRBEEER
ERUARAEBET AR A
BERMAEZY P LT
H-PREBENARERE T
PIE A (KERTEFEES
BI)EE—MATERHE RER
—E-_ME+=-_A=+—H1t
FE - ARA1,612,0007T 5T A
TEEHB(CE =% AR
#1,626,0007T) °

—REERBAUARRDBE
FEBR(WMEB) XAEBR
BRESAITRAED B D
PR REFETHRDE S
ES/BRA - ZEBRITEM
REBRTBEREMEARD
25% ° BR B BN —ROEE
BRI AR DK °

2024 2023
—E_NEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR ARETT

133,600 160,500
43,000 26,900
90,600 133,600



As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group’s borrowings were
repayable as follows:

Within 1 year \—F R
Between 1 and 2 years —FEMF
Between 2 and 5 years MEERF
Over 5 years AFLE

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s borrowings amounting
to RMB133,600,000 (2023: RMB160,500,000), with interest
rates ranging from 5.04% to 5.28% (2023: 5.04% to 5.28%)
per annum, were jointly guaranteed by the Controlling
Shareholder, his spouse and a company controlled by the
Controlling Shareholder. Property, plant and equipment
of solar power plants of the Group with carrying amount
of RMB209,228,000 (2023: RMB227,927,000) and the
collection rights of trade receivables with carrying amount of
RMB164,768,000 (2023: RMB148,612,000) derived from
the solar power plants were pledged as security for these
borrowings (Note 15(a) and 27).

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group’s borrowings
were all denominated in RMB.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the carrying amounts of
the Group’s bank borrowings were not materially different from
their fair values as the interest rates were close to the market
rates.

2024 2023
—E-mEF —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%EF R ARETF T
43,000 26,900
25,500 28,300
59,700 83,500
5,400 21,800
133,600 160,500

RZFE-_MFE+=—A=+—8" 4%
B &8 A R ¥133,600,000C (=% =
=% : AR ¥160,500,0007T) & N T
5.04%%E5.28% (= F = = F : 5.04%
E528%) M EF R BE - ZEBEE
BRI AR SR - EL AR A R 4% AR AR SR 4%
FlH—EAFTXRARHEER - RE
BEA AR209,228000T(—FE ==
F o ARM227,927,0007T) AN £ EF
HARBIHYE BERLERER
BEA ANR#164,768,000C(— T~ =
£ AR #¥148,612,0007T) B IR E
IR B 5 e UK TE W R B R E
BZEBEEMER K E15E) &27)

R-F-MER-F-=%+-7
=t+—B AREEE2BUARE
SHE -

R-B_NER_F_=F+_A
=t+—B BRMERZETHEHE
AEBRITEENREAIEEL QT
BEYEERER -
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Under the terms of the bank borrowings, which has
a total carrying amount of RMB133,600,000 (2023:
RMB160,500,000), the Group is required to comply with the
following financial covenants at the end of April, July and
quarterly of each year:

(1) the debt-to-asset ratio must not higher than 80%;

(2)  the debt coverage ratio must not less than 110%; and

(8)  to provide additional guarantee with in the time limit if
the guarantor’s capacity declines or the value of the
collateral decreases.

The Group has complied with these covenants throughout the
reporting period. There are no indications that the Group would
have difficulties complying with the covenants when they will
be next tested at the above-mentioned timing of testing except
for the event mentioned in Note 32(e).

As at 31 December 2024, a bank borrowing with carrying
amount at RMB17,900,000 is repayable on 13 February
2030 (2023: RMB20,900,000) was being pledged as security
by property, plant and equipment of solar power plants of
the Group with carrying amount of RMB30,025,000 (2023:
RMB32,864,000).

The contract includes a covenant that requires the Group
to provide additional guarantee within the time limit if the
guarantor’s guarantee capacity declines or the value of the
collateral decreases. The loan will be repayable on demand if
the covenant is not met.

No evidence shows the value of the collateral was being
impaired and the covenant requirement was complied with as
on 31 December 2023, the loan is not repayable on demand
and is classified as non-current.

Due to significant uncertainties regarding government subsidies
and future cash flows from the solar power station, the value
of collateral have declined to RMB nil as at 31 December 2024
(Note 15(c)) which does not meet the covenant requirement at
any time throughout the loan term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

32. BORROWINGS (Continued)

(e)  (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the bank has no response on
whether a waiver or a period of grace is granted and the loan
has become repayable on demand and the carrying amount
of RMB17,900,000 is classified as current liabilities as at 31
December 2024.

33. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

e I ERAR MR

32. B 8w
e (&)

R-ZEBE-_mWE+_A=+—8" 4R
TV ELEIREHATHRERNER
H BREERAREREE F@
B AR #17,900,000 R —F - M4
+—A=+—BoBARBAE-

3B.EFZREMENRKIE

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBTTT

Trade payables 2 Z N RIE 16,086 15,845
Accruals and other payables FEEH B A I H b B 58 41,984 36,860
58,070 52,705

Ageing analysis of trade payables based on invoice date is as follows:

ENBRAHNEZENRENRE DN

m
2024 2023
—E-_NEF —ET-=
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARETT

Within 1 year —FHUA 241 357
Over 1 year —F L E 15,845 15,488
16,086 15,845

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group’s trade and other
payables were all denominated in RMB and the carrying amounts
approximated their fair values.

34. DIVIDENDS

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Company
did not declare any dividends to the shareholders of the Company.

RZE—_NER T -_=ZF+-_A=+—
B A&SERNESMNEMEMZKRELHUA
REHE BEEREOEREQAFERS -

34. k2

HE-_ZT-_NMFER-_ZTE-_=F+=/F=1+
—BHUIEFE ARATERARGREE
IRAERIBE S ©

BEREERERAT FH024 1D/



(a) Cash generated from operations () RKEMBRE

2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

B &£ AR®T R AREBETT

Loss before income tax BTSRRI E 1 (42,311) (24,359)
Adjustments for: KAELNTIER:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment %1% « B E kR &I E 15 26,539 31,186
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 16 1,854 1,215
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEHHE 17 2,580 2,668
Depreciation of investment properties REMETNE 18 161 14
Impairment losses on property, plant and ME BEREERE

equipment B8 15 30,474 50,960
Impairment losses on right-of-use assets FREEEREEBR 16 2,848 536
Impairment losses on goodwil EEREEE 17 - 7,298
Net loss on written-off on property, plantand ~ # $51 % « = R R & &

equipment BiEFE 11 31 —
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment B 5 I H At & W SR IE HY R,

losses) on trade and other receivables EBE/(REEBERE) 27 27,274 (4,083)
Reversal of impairment losses on other REHEK AT ENEMS

financial assets measured at amortised cost ~ BEEHREEBERD 24 (8,621) (929)

Gain on derecognition for portion of other BIFRRAREMEEER
financial assets measured at amortised cost IR A EHE M S

settled by investment properties BEESDETERE 11 - (5,369)
Net losses on disposal of property, plantand &Y ¥ - BiE kR EH

equipment BiEEE 11 15
Deferred income from government grants R B BT R B B IR T A (107) (131)
Finance expenses, net MEFRLFE 12 5,553 6,580
Share of net profit of associates accounted for £ FA %55 A BRH9 B 2 A

using the equity method a8 A8 R0 58 - (30,520)
Net foreign exchange (gains)/losses [E X (Yas), B8 (688) 2,549
Changes in working capital: BEEXREE:
Decrease in inventories FERD 1,910 1,419
Decrease in contract assets EHEERD 13,145 6,232
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 & i FE W R I E N (38,544) (32,347)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other B REMERNRIE

payables /() 5,365 (4,088)
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities EHBERD) /LM (1,677) 4,972
Cash generated from operations KEMBRE 25,786 13,818
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(b)

Balance as at 1 January 2023
Cash flows
Funds paid
Funds received
Interest paid
Non-cash changes
Interest expense
Other non-cash movements

Balance as at 31 December
2023 and 1 January 2024
Cash flows
Funds paid
Interest paid
Non-cash changes
Interest expense
Other non-cash movements

Balance as at 31 December
2024

Net debt reconciliation

R-ZB-Z=ZFf-A-H&H
RERE
&2
kHES2
XHE
FRERY
MERX
Hip kR e #

RZBZ=f+-A=1-H
R-Z-NE-A-HER
RERE
&g
IFE
FRERH
FERX
HipkRe#

R-ZB-_mF+-A=1+-H
£

(b) EHFHEY K

Liabilities from financing activities

Borrowings
due within
1 year

- FRIH
HEE
RMB’000
AR¥ETFTT

(25,800)
25,800

9,166

9,166)
(26,900)

(26,900)

26,900
9,018

(9,018)
(43,000)

(43,000)

REBETHNER
Amounts
Borrowings due to
due after related Lease
1 year parties liabilities Total
—FHRIH 35
WEE BELIYE HEEE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTT ARB®TRT AR®TR
(160,500) (3,391) (13,162) (202,853)
- 1,172 729 27,701
- (661) - (661)
- - 718 9,884
— — (718) (9,884)
26,900 (34) (820) (854)
(133,600) (2,914) (13,253) (176,667)
— 2,914 3,599 33,413
- — 358 9,376
- - (358) (9,376)
43,000 - (3,145) (3,145)
(90,600) - (12,799) (146,399)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERAR MR

36. COMMITMENTS

Investment commitments

Commitments in respect of associates are disclosed in Note 22(d).

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@) Transactions with related parties

36. EiE

REERE
S 4 7% 0 AR A 0 7R B 1A Y 22(0) 1R

2024 2023
—ENF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBTTT

Funds received from companies controlled HEBEOHRFRIERBEIE
by the Controlling Shareholder arising from ~ #|#)A & E{S & &

trade transactions 3,345 7,252
Funds received from companies controlled ~ LB 5 X SR AR T — 4

by an executive Director of the Company HMITEREHA 2R

arising from trade transactions wE® 10 102
Funds repaid to companies controlled by an FLE X FEEEE TR

executive Director of the Company arising NAl—BHRITESES

from trade transactions SONE]

(376) (1,172)

Sales of goods or rendering services to: HEEmMRIBHER
Companies controlled by the Controlling PERR AR R AE HI A 2 7

Shareholder 7,371 7,616
Purchases of goods or receiving services BEEMIEZRE

from:
Companies controlled by an executive KANB —BRITESIES

Director of the Company EO/NE] 156 661

Sales and purchases of goods and services were made on
normal commercial terms, conditions and market rates.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s borrowings amounting
to RMB133,600,000 (2023: RMB160,500,000) were jointly
guaranteed by the Controlling Shareholder, his spouse and
a company controlled by the Controlling Shareholder (Note
32(a)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(b) Key management personnel
compensation

B P ERRM

=
N

37. BB AR5

b) TEEEREBAEHH

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, AEEFTEZEEEBAENTFM(2E
including amounts paid to Directors, is as follows: XN TEEHRE) AT :
2024 2023
—E-ME T =%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARBTT
Wages, salaries and allowances TE&- %<& k=ER 4,037 4,043
Post-employment benefit and other welfare R K48 F| K2 H 18 F1| 5 52
expenses 483 482
4,520 4,525
(c) Outstanding balances with related parties (c) HBBMEMAKREES
2024 2023
—E-MF —E-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T ARBTT
Amounts due from: EWRERA :
Companies controlled by the Controlling HEHRZEERRKR
Shareholder arising from trade transactions 7= 5 B R A 14,381 10,455
Amounts due to: FEARERA :
Companies controlled by the Controlling MBI HEERRE
Shareholder arising from non-trading 2 I H) A &)
transactions — 914
Companies controlled by an executive HIFEZEHXHEARAR
Director of the Company arising from non- —BPITESRZEHN
trading transactions ~A] — 2,000
- 2,914
Note: B 5
(i) Other amounts due from and due to related parties were interest- 0] FEWRENEE O EMRIER S - EIER
free, unsecured and with no fixed terms of repayments. R [E F 8RR o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERAR MR

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  38. A AR 2 I MR R K K

AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE HEEE

COMPANY

(@) Statement of financial position of the (@) &7\ ZMBMRRFK

Company
2024 2023
—E-mF ZTZ=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%EFT R ARBET T
Assets EE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y BB MR 13 17
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE — 119
Investments in subsidiaries R B A FREE 346 346
Loans to subsidiaries REEXRTFHEARR 802,737 832,795
803,096 833,277
Current assets REEE
Other receivables Hofth E W SRR 315 118
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEED 726 95
1,041 213
Total assets EEHTE 804,137 833,490
Equity and liabilities EERAE
Equity attributable to owners of the KATEEAELESR
Company

Share capital N 12,255 12,255
Reserves (b) R =L() 1,200,646 1,175,933
Accumulated losses (b) ZETEBED) (409,027) (355,075)
Total equity A 803,874 833,113
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I ERAR MR

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  38. A AR 2 I MR R K K
AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE HEEEm
COMPANY (Continued)
(@) Statement of financial position of the (@) &2 7z BT @
Company (Continued)

2024 2023

—EC-NE —EC-=4F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ TR ARETT

Current liabilities REEE
Other payables Hfth &~ 5K IAR 263 257
Lease liabilities HEAE - 120
Total current liabilities RBAEAR 263 377
Total liabilities EEHAE 263 377
Total equity and liabilities EzREEAE 804,137 833,490
The statement of financial position of the Company was KRB ZHBRARRZE_RAF=A=
approved by the Board of Directors on 27 March 2025 and +TrHEESSHE YA TINEERE
was signed on its behalf =E
Wei Qiang Zou Yanhong
A WAL
Director Director
EE B
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

(b) Reserve movement of the Company

38. & 7]
rr

|

g

—\F

I\

ZHBIRRERR
()

]

(b) AAFHERE

Share-based

Share compensation Exchange Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses
U4 2T
B 5 RE W R A ERREE ZitE#R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREEF T AR T T ARET T
At 1 January 2023 WH-ZT-_=F—F—H 1,090,355 360 68,979 (350,895)
Loss for the year FAREE - - - (4,180)
Other comprehensive £ b 2 T WA
Income — — 16,239 —
At 31 December RZEZ=4F
20283 and +=—A=+—8xk
1 January 2024 —E-mE—H—H 1,090,355 360 85,218 (355,075)
Loss for the year FREIE — — — (53,952)
Other comprehensive H & & 4 A
Income — — 24,713 —
At 31 December R-ZZE-_mF
2024 +=—A=+—H 1,090,355 360 109,931 (409,027)
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The remuneration of Directors of the Company for the years ended BE-T-WNERZZT=F+=ZRA=+
31 December 2024 and 2023 is set out as follows: —BIFEARDEEHNFHOT

Year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-NE+-A=+-HLEE

Other

emoluments paid

or receivable

in respect of

Director’s other

services in

connection with

the management

Employer's  of the affairs of

contributionto  the Company or

a retirement its subsidiary
Name ®E Fees Salary  benefit scheme  undertaking (a) Total
RESRM
EHEELXAR
REHMEATF
EBNEMLRB
BARERGGEZ MENREKH
He e EEHU Hit M £ (a) @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTR ARETR AR TR ARBTR

Chairman TE

Mr. Wei Qiang Mgk - 1,800 16 - 1,816
Executive Director BTES

Ms. Zou Yanhong (b) AL 221 (0) - 46 - - 46

Independent non-executive BYFHITES

Directors
Mr. Wong Yk Chung, John — EE B4 228 - - - 228
Dr. Han Qinchun BRERL 228 - - - 228
Mr. Feng Zhidong BERKE 228 - - - 228
684 1,846 16 - 2,546
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GAMBREME
39. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF V.EET2EMNRER@®
DIRECTORS (Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2023
BE-Z-_=F+-A=+t—-HILFE

Other

emoluments paid

or receivable

in respect of

Director’s other

services in

connection with

the management

Employer’s of the affairs of

contributionto  the Company or

a retirement its subsidiary
Name 4 Fees Salary benefit scheme undertaking (a) Total

HEERME

BHERALRA

FEME R A

EBOEMBRY

RANEMGE 2 MEMNHERES
e #e EEHX HitEl & (a) @it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®FT ARBFT ARBTT ARBTL ARBFT

Chairman IE

Mr. Wei Qiang M iA - 1,762 16 - 1,778

Independent non-executive BIFHITES

Directors
Mr. Wong Yk Chung, John & HE L4 225 - - - 225
Dr. Han Qinchun BREBL 225 - - - 225
Mr. Feng Zhidong BERTAE 225 - - - 225

675 1,762 16 — 2,453
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Note:

(@) These represent the fair value of share options granted to the Directors
under the Company’s share option scheme and recognised as equity-
settled share-based payment expense for the respective years. The value
of these share options was measured according to the Group’s accounting
policies for share-based payment transactions, including adjustments to
reverse accrued in previous periods where grants of equity instruments are
forfeited prior to the vesting date. The principal terms and the number of
options granted are disclosed in Note 8(b).

(b) Ms. Zou Yanhong was appointed on 1 December 2024.

No Directors of the Company waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the current and previous financial years. During
the current and previous financial years, there were also no amounts
paid or payable by the Group to the Directors or any of the five
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

Certain comparative figures in the consolidated financial statements
have been re-presented to conform with current year presentation.

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of Directors on 27 March 2025.

B

@ EFEEBBEARANBREAERTES
BRENAABERRSBFENERRIRE
BEFABRND AR - ZEBERENE
BERBEAKEABEUBROD NN Z N &
BRRFAE BREERZTAREE AR
W B O S BT METROSENTE - =
BRI BE RE BOR W FE B R AT RE8()
R

b) BHHRAXKLTWR-_Z_MNMFE+_F-—HELE

ZfE-

RAFBFERLE-—MBFE  ARAAE
ERENRARABEREEAHH - XA
BEERE-—MBRFEAN NEETEME
MAREEFIAURHATEMNT—A
XNHENEAKE FRMAXKEK
MAREEENFE  KIE/KREBLA
i

HAMBRRPNETARBFCENZ
5 M EARFREN25 T e

BAKBRENRN - _RAF=A_-++H
KEESHERRETE-
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Financial Summary

MEHER

A summary of consolidated results and assets, liabilities and equity of the A EBBE A BT K EENEE ZEURE

Group for the last five financial years is set out below: E-BEEREBEIHIOT
CONSOLIDATED RESULTS e ¥E
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
—EB-TE - —T-— —E-=fF —EBE-@mE

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTIT ARBTT ARBTET AREBTIT AR¥TR

Revenue U 2% 396,413 462,642 195,209 114,030 114,231
Income tax (expense)/credit Fr 15 (5 %),/ K % (2,240) (38,873 (31,875) 3,958 1,383
Profit/(loss) for the year FRNEHM,(EE) (1,257) (30,038) (306,148) (20,401) (40,928)
Attributable to: AT FEAh -

Owners of the Company AR &I#HEA A 1,064 (28,221) (306,368) (18,179) (24,418)
Non-controlling interests ~ JF4% & 1 25 (2,321) (1,817) 220 (2,222) (16,510)

N

CONSOLIDATED ASSETS, LIABILITIESAND #ZE¥E BGBREER

EQUITY

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
—E-TF —T-—F T —E-= —E-ME
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTITT AREFTT AREFTRT AREBTT AR®TR

ASSETS BE
Non-current assets IRBEE 810,420 770,991 550,628 464,336 403,534
Current assets REAE 743,960 728,627 629,170 672,255 665,114
Total assets BEMB 1,554,380 1,499,618 1,179,798 1,136,591 1,068,648

LIABILITIES 8&
Non-current liabilities ERBAEE 233,876 211,330 209,478 182,171 139,005
Current liabilities mEAE 118,588 116,697 104,022 103,007 121,650
Total liabilities BEBRE 352,464 328,027 313,500 285,178 260,655

EQUITY e

Equity attributable to KABHEE A

owners of the Company  FE{G 2 1,194,930 1,166,499 860,768 848,105 821,195
Non-controlling interests ~ JE4% B 1 25 6,986 5,092 5,530 3,308 (13,202
Total equity SR 1,201,916 1,171,591 866,298 851,413 807,993
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